This page is intentionally left blank.

The research for this thesis was conducted at the Fakultät für Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften of the Bergische Universität Wuppertal. This thesis is part of the work conducted for Research Unit FOR2316 "Correlations in Integrable Quantum Many Body Systems" funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).



Typesetting & layout design by Eyzo Stouten.

From Bäcklund Transforms to Finite Sets of Non-Linear Integral Equations

Study and application of new techniques in Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften Fachbereich C - Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften (Fachgruppe Physik) der Bergischen Universität Wuppertal

vorgelegt von

Eyzo Stouten



30th June 2024

Contents

Introduction

1	Qua	ntum transfer matrix	13
	1.1	Row-to-row transfer matrix and fundamental relations	13
	1.2	Quantum Transfer Matrix & partition function	17
	1.3	Explicit expressions for the QTM	20
		1.3.1 Algebraic Bethe ansatz, $U_a[SU(2)]$	21
		1.3.2 Nested algebraic Bethe ansatz, $U_q[SU(3)]$	23
	1.4	Properties of the QTM	27
		1.4.1 Partial eigenvalues, higher rank solutions and nesting paths	27
		1.4.2 Solution to the OTM Bethe equations and resulting analyticity	
		properties of the eigenvalue	28
		1.4.3 QTM automorphism	30
2	Fusi	ion	33
	2.1	Fusion hierarchy	34
	2.2	Normalization	38
	2.3	Asymptotic value of $T^a_c(u)$, connection to Schur character formula	42
	2.4	Pictorial method for fusion equations	43
	2.5	Analyticity conditions of fused QTM eigenvalues	46
3	From	m functional relations to non-linear integral equations	47
	3.1	Non-linear integral equations	47
	3.2	Constraints on auxiliary functions	51
4	Bäc	klund Formalism	55
	4.1	Hirota equation in classical and quantum integrability	55
	4.2	Bäcklund transform and ALP	59
		4.2.1 Fundamental ALP for $U_a[SU(2)]$ symmetric problems	62
		4.2.2 Application to $U_q[SU(3)]$ case, part 1	63
	4.3	Conjugate set of ALP for QTM	65
	4.4	Combined formulation of the boundary conditions	66
	4.5	Eigenvalues of the Bäcklund functions for $U_a[SU(3)]$	68
	4.6	Pictorial method for Bäcklund equations	68

3

5	Res	ults for $SU(3)$ symmetric QTM	73		
	5.1	The Auxiliary functions $U_q[SU(3)]$	73		
	5.2	Derivation of the NLIE	76		
	5.3	QTM eigenvalue & asymptotic behavior	81		
	5.4	Numerical evaluation	83		
		5.4.1 Integrability, particle/hole transform	83		
		5.4.2 Numerical evaluation	86		
	5.5	Low temperature asymptotics	87		
6	Bäc	klund formalism for $U_a[SU(n)]$ symmetric models	93		
	6.1	The $U_a[SU(4)]$ case	94		
		6.1.1 Adjacent flows and boundary conditions	94		
		6.1.2 Explicit auxiliary linear problems	99		
	6.2	Auxiliary linear problems and boundary conditions for $U_a[SU(n)]$	102		
	6.3	Pictorial approach for $U_a[SU(4)]$	105		
		6.3.1 Unknown functions in the pictorial approach	105		
		6.3.2 Pictorial approach solution for $SU(4)$ and comparison to known			
		solution	108		
	6.4	Conclusion	112		
List of publications 11					
\mathbf{A}	Fusi	on	117		
A 1' 11					
Appendices 117					
в	Nes	ted Bethe ansatz for the QTM in $U_q[SU(3)]$	121		
	B.1	First embedding scheme $\mathbb{B}(u) = (B_1(u), B_2(u))^T$.	121		
	B.2	Second embedding scheme $\mathbb{B}(u) = (B_1(u), B_2(u))^T$	126		
	B.3	Yang-Baxter Algebra and Bethe vectors of different embeddings	128		
С	Aux	iliary functions in previous works	133		
	C.1	$U_{z}[SU(2)]$ case	133		
	C.2	$U_{z}[SU(3)]$ case	134		
	C.3	$U_q[SU(4)]$ case	134		
D	Det	ails of the NLIE derivation for $SU(3)$	137		
_	D.1	Driving term for the y and Y -functions	137		
	D.2	Derivation of the limiting behavior of $y_j^{a \pm}(-\infty)$	138		
Ac	Acknowledgments				

Introduction

The field of condensed matter physics attempts to describe the large scale properties of solid-state materials such as metals, insulators, semi-conductors and glasses and the way these properties emerge from their microscopic constituents. Central in this description is the notion of phases that can be identified by the distinct thermal and electromagnetic properties of the system and the transitions between them. Different phases are characterized by the capacity of a system to absorb energy, become magnetized, conduct electricity and heat et cetera. This capacity can be quantified trough thermodynamic properties such as the free energy, magnetization, compressibility and susceptibility to changes in magnetic field and temperature. The description of these thermodynamic quantities and their emergence from the microscopic constituents of the system is achieved through the machinery of statistical physics where the statistical operator can be identified as a generating function for these quantities. In the textbook interpretation, the statistical operator assigns weighted probabilities to each of the possible microscopic configurations (or microstates) of the model as a function of the energy of each state. The thermodynamic potential is retrieved by taking the logarithm of this operator, from which further thermodynamic quantities can be retrieved by taking derivatives of this potential with respect to temperature, magnetic field and so on. Furthermore, taking the weighted average of the statistical operator with an operator representing an observable, correlation functions of the model can be retrieved. The exponential growth of the number of micro-states spanning the eigenspace in interacting systems generally makes direct expression of the statistical operator and thermodynamic quantities unfeasible, making it necessary to apply approximate methods. Generally, these approximations reduce the eigenspace by considering only that part of (excitation) spectrum that captures the dominant behavior in a particular phase. Many of the celebrated results within condensed matter theory make use of this reduction of complexity and restrict the problem of interacting systems to the study of free (quasi-) particles (ideal gasses, Fermi-liquids, density fluctuations) from which the interacting regimes can be accessed through perturbative methods such as Hartree-Fock, mean field theory and many others.

With the exception of behavior near phase transitions which is accessible through the renormalization group method, the approximation or perturbative treatment of free (quasi-particle) problems is the only handle on a true phenomenological understanding of the behavior of solid state systems. However, there are many situations where these reductions of complexity fail and knowledge of a large part of the eigenspace is necessary. For example when studying interacting systems in evolution at finite times, finite temperatures, in the crossover region between phases or in cases where the system is driven [15, 28].

The perturbative treatment of free particles also fails in the description of magnetic phenomena in transition metals, which is most relevant to this thesis. Due to the interpretation of the Coulomb interaction between electrons as an effective potential acing on a single particle, the free and independent electron approximations (which are very effective at describing conventional conduction phenomena in band theory) do not capture many of the interesting effects such as anti-ferromagnetism, spontaneous magnetization and the superconductive phase transition. Description of these phenomena requires the consideration of the full multiple-particle picture in the tight binding approximation, which comes at the cost of increasing the space of relevant microstates drastically [4, 44]. The simplest example of truly interacting quantum multi-particle lattice models are those where electrons are associated to be localized on ions in the lattice and only intra-orbital interactions between electrons on the same or neighboring ions are considered. Most famous among these are the nearest-neighbor interacting models such as the Heisenberg model and its generalization the Hubbard model [44, 54]. Many magneto-electric phenomena are described successfully within these models by again rewriting the interacting problem as a free model of composite or quasi-particles and using mean field theory, examples being the BCS-description of superconductors and charge density waves. However, the effects in the crossover region between phases due to finite temperatures, coupling to magnetic fields or driving remain an impressively difficult problem to solve because of the lack of a unifying description of the increasing number relevant states.

Many of the properties of the excitation spectrum and therefore thermodynamic properties and correlation phenomena of tight binding models are still unknown and remain an active field of research. Development in probing these difficult regions have been made either in numerical analysis by reducing the complexity of the eigenspace by relevance sampling, retaining only the relevant microstates or correlations [48, 67, 99, 107, 149], or by the development of exact methods in cases where the model is known to be exactly solvable [11, 29, 138]. The latter will be the subject of this work which presents a new way to derive sets of finite non-linear integral equations (NLIE) that play a central role in the calculation thermodynamic properties of integrable interacting quantum models at finite temperatures, magnetic fields and chemical potential and their scaling behavior at low temperatures. The derivation of these equations involves the solution of a more fundamental factorization problem of functional equations known as the fusion hierarchy and the related Hirota finite difference equation. Factorization of the fusion hierarchy also features in other related integrable problems such as finite size calculations in planar quantum field theories [22, 40] and ADS/CFT [42], scaling behavior of two dimensional vertex models [79, 80, 83 and play a prominent role in the recent developments in correlation phenomena of interacting integrable quantum models at finite times and temperatures [27, 37, 139].

Integrability

The study of integrable quantum models originates with Bethe's solution of the one dimensional Heisenberg model describing the magnetic moments of a chain of immobile electrons interacting trough the Couloumb interaction and the Pauli exclusion principle [11]. The solution for the multi-particle wave function that carries his name as the Bethe ansatz (BA) allows for the formal expression of the full spectrum and eigenstates of the Heisenberg chain [11, 34, 138]. These solutions are known in the sense that they are parameterized by rapidities which are constrained by a set of coupled algebraic equations known as the Bethe equations that can be solved for relatively large system size, but are not directly applicable for the description of thermodynamic properties. It took another forty years from the introduction of the Bethe ansatz before the free energy and related properties of the Heisenberg chain were described in the thermodynamic limit through the formulation of linear integral equations for density distribution functions of these rapidities. Using the string hypothesis which clusters rapidities of bound states into complex conjugate sets, Yang, Yang, Gaudin and Takahashi [34, 138, 151] parameterized the low lying excitations of the Heisenberg chain and expressed its finite temperature properties in the thermodynamic limit in terms of NLIE for ratios of particle and hole density functions. These NLIE are referred to as the Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz (TBA) equations following the thermodynamic description of another BA integrable model, the Lieb-Liniger model describing a Bose gas in one dimension with contact interaction [100, 151]. Generalization of BA and TBA in subsequent works enabled the calculation of the thermodynamic properties of more complicated systems such as the fully anisotropic Heisenberg model, the Babujan-Takhtajan spin-1 chain with bi-quadratic interaction, the Hubbard model in one dimension and many more [6, 7, 29, 101, 136–138].

Despite the solvability of many interacting quantum models by BA a formal definition of quantum integrability complimentary to the Liouville-Arnold theorem in classical mechanics does not exist. Although sets of local conserved charges and currents that are in involution among themselves can be derived in the quantum mechanical case, these conditions are not sufficient to separate integrable and non-integrable models and are currently still an active field of discussion [16] that lead to the recent discovery of relevant quasi-local conserved charges that are absent in the classical picture¹ [56]. Nevertheless, the presence of conserved charges are still a relevant constraint in the more widely applied definition of quantum integrability in the sense of the quantum inverse scattering method (QISM) and the related algebraic Bethe ansatz (ABA) which shall be the definition considered in this work [30, 58].

The ABA method was developed as a generalization to the classical inverse scattering method and played an essential role in the understanding of integrability in nonlinear differential equations [31, 57, 98, 110, 125]. Both methods by construction allow for the derivation of an infinite set of conserved charges which are in involution from a family of generating functions known as the transfer matrices, provided that the latter commute (or Poisson brackets vanish). The utility of the ABA and inverse scattering method stems from the ability to introduction of several clear restrictions

¹The discovery of quasi-local conserved charges was prompted by the absence of thermalization in the theoretical description of out of equilibrium processes in BA integrable models in absence of these charges. They have been central in the recent description of transport properties and the Drude weight at finite temperature [14, 55, 106, 148]. In these out of equilibrium studies the role of BA integrable models is crucial due to their accessibility by a wide variety of mathematical methods and modern developments in their experimental realization allowing for real world verification [12, 17, 41, 47, 53, 68, 69, 97, 140].

under which a model is integrable such as the existence of a Lax operator and the vanishing of the commutator (or Poisson brackets) between transfer matrices. In fact, these restrictions imply the existence of the celebrated Yang-Baxter equation (see 1.12) and its solution the *R*-matrix which can be used to generate integrable models from scratch. Each of the solutions to the Yang-Baxter equation gives rise to a family of integrable models provided one is able to find the Lax operator corresponding to the correct conserved charges and thus the desired model.

In the quantum case the Lax operator is a matrix containing operators acting on the local, single site Hilbert space of the quantum model. The action on the full Hilbert space is retrieved by considering the product of Lax operators acting on all different sites, this matrix of operators relates to the transfer matrix by taking the trace over the matrix dimension or auxiliary space. Finding the proper representation for the Lax operator for a given model might be difficult or not even possible in the cases where a unique reference state does not exist [9, 134]. Nevertheless, a fundamental representation for the Lax operator where it is chosen equal to the Rmatrix itself always exists, which will be the case for all models considered in this work. Once the R-matrix, Lax operator and reference state are known the ABA can be applied directly to retrieve transfer matrix, its eigenvalue, the eigenstates of the Bethe wave function, their norm and the conserved charges. This ABA description of integrable models still depends on the solutions to the BA equations (known as Bethe roots) and thus other methods are still required to extract the thermodynamic properties of these models.

Both the BA and Yang-Baxter equation play a prominent role in the wider field of integrable models which includes (quantum) field theories [150, 158] and 2D vertex models [8, 9, 111] where its solutions parameterize the two particle scattering processes and Boltzmann weights of configurations at the vertex respectively. In the continuum case it has a clear interpretation as the factorization of multi-particle scattering processes into two particle events indicating the absence of particle creation which serves as a hallmark of integrability. The wide applicability and possibility to generate integrable models from the Yang-Baxter relation has lead to the exhaustive study into the representation of Hopf algebras which describe its solutions and far reaching results even in the field of mathematics with the development of quantum groups by Drinfeld and Jimbo [26, 61].

Quantum classical correspondence & the quantum transfer matrix

The two decades after the formulation of the original TBA saw the development of various new types of integral equations for the study of scaling behavior and thermodynamic properties of integrable vertex models, quantum field theories and quantum spin chains [22–24, 75, 79, 82, 129, 132]. Both the quantum and classical cases followed from the presence of gapped spectra in transfer matrices of vertex models, which through the connection between partition functions and transfer matrices in statistical physics allowed for the calculation of the free energy and related thermodynamic properties directly from the largest transfer matrix eigenvalue and its derivatives in the thermodynamic limit [133]. The applicability of this technique to quantum models results from the Suzuki-Trotter mapping on transfer matrices, which states that the partition function of a d dimensional quantum system can be obtained through the study of the transfer matrix of an equivalent d+1 dimensional classical vertex model [130, 131]. In this picture the auxiliary space running along the additional dimension is used to introduce discrete parameters such as temperature and imaginary time by means of a staggered vertex model. The continuous parameters and quantum model are then retrieved by taking a Trotter limit where the number of sites in the auxiliary dimension is taken to infinity.

The 2D staggered vertex models relating to the Hubbard model and its reductions such as the Heisenberg chain and tJ-model are the Perk-Schultz and its super symmetric analogue the Uimin-Sutherland model [32, 80]. Transfer matrices containing these staggered vertex models can be constructed using ABA and its generalization to higher rank algebras, the nested algebraic Bethe ansatz (NABA). Introduction of the discrete *Trotterized* time and temperature in this formulation is not unique. Resulting in several different definitions of staggered transfer matrices, such as the quantum transfer matrix (QTM) and diagonal-to-diagonal transfer matrices. The defining property of this approach is that although the spectrum of the quantum models may be critical, the spectrum of the staggered transfer matrices containing the previously mentioned vertex models is always gapped. As a result the thermodynamic properties of the quantum models can be expressed in terms of the largest transfer matrix eigenvalue analytically, even in the case of infinite particle and Trotter limit². Although the calculation of the eigenvalue is still a formidable task due to the more complicated distribution of Bethe roots of the staggered model, it completely replaces the necessity of studying the (low lying) excitation spectrum as one encounters in the original TBA. The problem of finding the eigenvalues of staggered transfer matrices can however still be approached in a similar way by use of a combinatorial counting function for its poles, leading to a convenient method for obtaining high temperature expansions of thermodynamic properties at finite fields and temperatures [21, 138, 144]. This work will focus on a more versatile approach which extracts the eigenvalue directly by the integration of various functional equations between transfer matrices such as the fusion hierarchy and the related Y-system [29, 80, 95, 115, 129].

Fusion hierarchy

The fusion hierarchy is a set of relations between transfer matrices that appeared in the study of vertex models with Boltzmann weights represented by non-fundamental solutions to the Yang-Baxter equation [10, 75]. In the case of quantum spin chains these solutions correspond to models with non-fundamental representations in the quantum and auxiliary space, leading to higher spin models with more complex interactions such as the spin-1 Babujan-Takhtajan model with bi-quadratic interaction in the SU(2) symmetric case [6]. Higher representation solutions can be constructed by the fusion procedure which is a direct generalization of the Clebsch-Gordon

²With the exception of the case of correlation functions where knowledge of the largest eigenvalues and overlaps between different states is necessary. For the validity of the QTM approach in the thermodynamic limit certain properties like the interchangeability of the Trotter limit $\lim_{N\to\infty}$ and infinite size limit $\lim_{L\to\infty}$ have to be established. Although it remains an open problem for the higher rank realizations a proof for the case of fundamental representations in $U_q[SU(2)]$ was obtained recently in [37]. In the other cases a number of numerical checks have been done and the method has been well established for many years, for an oversight of these checks see the introduction [39] and the references therein.

procedure applied to the quantum and auxiliary spaces of R-matrices, Lax operators and monodormy operators. Because the auxiliary space is traced out in the definition of the transfer matrix, fusion in this space results in nontrivial functional relations among fused transfer matrices and consequently their eigenvalues. These functional relations can be combined into a hierarchy that holds at all levels of fusion and are known in the literature as recurrence formula, Hirota equations, fusion relations, the fusion hierarchy and T-system [10, 70, 75, 88]. For clarity only the latter two will be used from now on.

NLIE of Klümper type

By means of a Fourier transform the fusion hierarchy for the highest weight eigenvalues of the staggered transfer matrices can be directly rewritten into an infinite set of NLIE. Several methods for truncation of this hierarchy exist, resulting in different finite sets of NLIE that serve different purposes in the study of thermodynamic properties of many quantum models [29, 80, 95, 115, 129, 135, 144]. This work will focus on the method of [24, 78, 83] based on the QTM formulation and the introduction of a finite set of auxiliary NLIE that truncate the fusion hierarchy by construction. The auxiliary NLIE combined with the truncated NLIE of the fusion hierarchy form a closed set of equations for the highest weight eigenvalue in the thermodynamic limit, from which derivatives can be taken analytically to obtain expressions for thermodynamic properties and are especially convenient for numerical evaluation at arbitrary temperatures and external potentials, as well as obtaining analytic expression of their scaling behavior (from here onward NLIE will be used to refer to these finite sets only). The NLIE follow from a set of auxiliary functions constructed from certain quotients of partial sums of the eigenvalue expressions appearing in the (N)ABA treatment of the QTM. Finding the finite sets of auxiliary functions traditionally has been a process of trial and error [20, 32, 77]. The main purpose of this work is to present a new systematic approach for the derivation of these auxiliary functions based on the Bäcklund formalism. In fact part of the the auxiliary functions appear directly as auxiliary linear problems (ALP) in the Bäcklund formalism and most of this work will be dedicated to a description on how to extract the other equations from those same ALP.

Bäcklund formalism & relation to NLIE

The Bäcklund formalism and transform originated as a method for solving one differential equation by relating it to another differential equation for which the solutions are known. The first equation is then solved by applying the inverse (Bäcklund) transform on the known solutions of the transformed equation. This method is remarkable because even when the solutions to the first equation might be *trivial*, the transformed solutions need not to be. This process is not restricted to transforms between different equations. Transforms between the same equation are known as auto-Bäcklund transforms. Because auto-Bäcklund transforms refer the same differential equation to itself but serve as mappings between different solutions, the auto-Bäcklund equations can be interpreted as an auxiliary set of equations between (subsets of) the solutions to the original equation. For this reason these families will also be referred to as the ALP. The auto-Bäcklund transform appeared as a central tool around which Hirota's direct method for the solution of integrable nonlinear differential equations was built. The direct method serves as an alternative approach to the classical inverse scattering method and has been applied to many integrable models described by nonlinear differential and discrete-difference equations [51, 52]. Remarkably, these models can be unified into a single algebraic differential-difference relation known as the Hirota equation, which (similar to the Yang-Baxter equation) can be used to generate new integrable models with a specific type of solution [45].

It was shown by Zabrodin et al. [85, 152] that the Hirota equation not only greatly resembles the fusion hierarchy but could be considered equivalent to it [157]. By extension they showed that the Bäcklund formalism and auto-Bäcklund transform, which follow from Hirota's direct method, could be applied to the transfer matrix solutions of the fusion equation. They applied the Bäcklund formalism to the regular (non-staggered) transfer matrix and showed it served as an alternative to the NABA, retrieving the transfer matrix eigenvalues and nested Bethe equations from certain *functional* boundary solutions to the fusion hierarchy and the Bäcklund equations³. The solutions of the auto-Bäcklund transform (from now on called Bäcklund functions) also obey the fusion hierarchy because the are just different solutions to the original "differential-difference equation": the fusion hierarchy, albeit with different boundary solutions. Shortly after these discoveries it was shown by Pronko and Stroganov [119] that these Bäcklund functions are equal to the solutions of the nested problem or nested transfer matrices appearing in NABA.

Results that will be presented: ALP & NLIE

In this work the application of the Bäcklund formalism to the $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric models QTM will be presented. It will be shown not only how the resulting Bäcklund functions relate to the partial sums of eigenvalues appearing in the auxiliary functions and NLIE but how the whole family of ALP can be used to derive all NLIE needed to truncate the fusion hierarchy for several cases[20, 24, 32, 63, 78, 127]. To obtain the full set of NLIE for the higher rank models, the solution of the transfer matrices and Bäcklund hierarchies for different nesting paths or embeddings in the context of NABA need to be considered. Because different embeddings lead to equivalent results on the level of transfer matrices they are generally not studied collectively [126]. However, different embeddings do lead to a difference in the nested transfer matrices which due to their relation to the Bäcklund functions give rise to a larger set of ALP.

It will be shown that the larger set of ALP is necessary for the derivation of the complete set of NLIE in the higher rank cases. The different embeddings from which they follow can be formulated on the level of the Bäcklund formalism by the introduction of different boundary conditions for the fusion hierarchy and Bäcklund functions. These boundary conditions will be introduced for the case of QTM with fused representations of $U_q[SU(n)]$ in both the quantum and auxiliary space. Some results for the higher representations for regular transfer matrices were already presented in [65], but these broke the Hirota structure of the fusion hierarchy and makes application of

³The Bethe states have not yet been obtained via this method.

the Bäcklund formalism complicated, this shall not be the case for the formulation given in the present work. The new formulation of the boundary conditions will be applied to the Bäcklund formalism for the case of $U_q[SU(2)]$ and $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric fundamental models, i.e. where the Lax matrix is chosen equal to the *R*-matrix.

For the case of $U_q[SU(2)]$ symmetric models it will be shown that the Bäcklund method retrieves the set of auxiliary functions used to define the finite set of NLIE found by Suzuki in [127] which comprises the spin-1 Babujan-Takhtajan model and its higher spin generalizations. For the case of $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric models, the NLIE will be solved numerically for calculation of the thermodynamic properties at finite temperature in the rational limit. The asymptotic behavior for the free energy at $T \to 0$ will be presented and it will be shown that as for the SU(2) case, the scaling behavior is proportional to the central charge of the Wess-Zumino-Novikov-Witten (WZWN) model [73]. For $U_q[SU(4)]$ and higher rank models the direct deviation of the NLIE from the ALP was however unsuccessful. This is due to the requirements to combine the ALP from different nesting paths manually for these cases to construct auxiliary functions that give closed sets of NLIE.

Pictorial approach

The study of the Bäcklund formalism presented below also lead to the formulation of a pictorial approach which allowed for the formulation of new NLIE different from those presented in [20]. Whereas for the low rank cases in the fundamental representation this approach is quite intuitive and does retrieve the established results of [24, 32, 63, 78, 127], the higher rank case results in an over-determined set of equations. Because of the novelty of this over-determined set and the utility of the pictorial approach as an exploratory tool for understanding of the relation between nesting and the Bäcklund equations it will be introduced in this work. It will also be useful in further developments of this research, for example in the generalization transfer matrices for octet representations in SU(3) (which are not captured by the fusion hierarchy) and generalization to higher rank algebras, their super-symmetric realizations and algebras of different Dynkin classes [93, 102]. Because no known Bäcklund formalism for these algebras is known to the author at present, they might also be of aid in their formulation on a more fundamental level.

Disclaimer about models & motivation

It is important to stress at this point that even when the Lax operator is known, the NLIE are found and the QTM eigenvalues and its derivatives are calculated for arbitrary temperatures and external fields, these calculations are done for the formally applied Hamiltonian of the underlying vertex model in the thermodynamic limit. Finding a representation of this Hamiltonian as a quantum model may still have multiple solutions or not be possible at all. Especially in the case of non-fundamental representations [127] and higher rank models, where the eigenspace is of ever increasing dimension, the Hamiltonian may be identified to represent different spin models with ever more complicated interactions. An example of this is the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric Uimin-Sutherland vertex model which can be realized as a generalization of the spin-1/2 Heisenberg chain spin-orbital model and a two leg spin ladder [20]. Finding a relevant representation for the non-fundamental solutions presented in this work as an integrable spin model shall not be addressed in this work and will remain an open problem.

The study of the factorization problem of the fusion hierarchy in the QTM formulation for the higher rank models and by extension the NLIE approach is warranted for the following reasons. First there has not been a constructive way to find the finite sets of auxiliary functions for these models and a more systematic derivation like the Bäcklund approach is highly welcome. The resulting new functional relations could lead to a deeper understanding of the auxiliary functions and integral equations and aid in the development of further applications by opening up a greater set of tools related to the direct method in the context of the QTM approach. Exemplary are the recent developments presented in [19, 104] where proofs for completeness and a method to derive the complete sets of Bethe roots is presented by use of determinant relations that appear naturally in the direct method interpretation of quantum integrable models. The new equations and the possibility to find proofs like these might serve a central role in further development of finite temperature and time calculations of correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit, which still depend on the overlaps between states. A formulation for the calculation of correlation functions using the QTM and NLIE approach already exists for small separations between local operators [27, 36, 38, 117, 139]. Furthermore, the application of the QTM approach to higher rank models is not restricted to the case of spin models and can also be used for the calculation of thermodynamic properties of 1D multi-component continuum models such as the spinor Bose gas and Bose-Fermi mixtures [43, 59, 112, 113, 115]. Finally, these new equations also generalize the proof of the connection between higher rank spin chains and the WZWN description of massless quantum spin chains as presented in [7, 127]

Chapter 1

Quantum transfer matrix

The QTM formalism arises due to the equivalence of specific 1D quantum systems to 2D vertex models and the integrability of the latter. The QTM is one among many ways to construct a transfer matrix for a quantum system such that some of the techniques appearing in the transfer matrix approach of statistical physics in classical systems can be extended to the quantum case [75, 129, 131, 134]. More specifically, it allows for the partition function of the quantum problem to be expressed directly in terms of the largest eigenvalue of the QTM in the thermodynamic limit as well as its derivatives with respect to temperature, magnetic field and other parameters. The QTM formulation was chosen over others here because it is the only known form which allows for these thermodynamic quantities to be evaluated numerically at arbitrary temperatures with relative ease, given some closed set of NLIE can be found to calculate the largest eigenvalue. This thesis will address the problem of finding these NLIE for quantum systems acting in non-fundamental representations and higher rank systems using a novel approach. Therefore, this chapter will be devoted to the introduction of the QTM and its derivation using the conventional ABA and NABA methods.

1.1 Row-to-row transfer matrix and fundamental relations

This work will focus specifically on generalizations of the QTM for the 1D Heisenberg chain. The related 2D vertex model to the generalized 1D Heisenberg chain is the *d*-state Perk-Schultz model [80, 116, 123]. The Perk-Schultz model is a staggered vertex model that is defined on a two dimensional square lattice of $L \times N$ vertices, periodic boundary conditions in both directions will be considered. The fundamental Boltzmann weights $R^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}$ at each vertex of the $U_q[SU(n)]$ Perk-Schultz are given by¹

$$R^{\alpha\alpha}_{\alpha\alpha}(u,v) = \frac{\sin[\gamma + (u-v)\gamma/2]}{\sin\gamma} \qquad \qquad R^{\alpha\beta}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) \stackrel{=}{\underset{\alpha\neq\beta}{=}} \frac{\sin[(u-v)\gamma/2]}{\sin\gamma} \\ R^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta\alpha}(u,v) \stackrel{=}{\underset{\alpha\neq\beta}{=}} e^{sign(\alpha-\beta)[i(u-v)\gamma/2]} \qquad \qquad R^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v) \stackrel{=}{\underset{else}{=}} 0.$$
(1.1)

Here u, v are free complex parameters assigned to the intersecting vertical and horizontal lines of the vertex and α, β, μ, ν label the different incoming and outgoing lines which can take values $1, \ldots, d$ (see figure 1.1), for fundamental representations we will consider d = n where n - 1 is equal to the rank of the algebra considered. As seen in figure 1.1 these weights allow for the representation of several different vertices, which will be relevant to introduce staggering into the Perk-Schultz model. These vertex weights also form the entries of the *R*-matrices that govern the interactions of the equivalent quantum problem. This work will focus on the case where these *R*-matrices and vertex weights act in representations of the algebra $U_q[SU(n)]$ for some finite n, so any statements will be considered for general n where possible.

$$R^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v) = \alpha \xleftarrow{u}_{\nu} \beta \qquad \qquad \bar{R}^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v) = \alpha \xleftarrow{u}_{\mu}(u,v) =$$

Figure 1.1: Left: Graphical representation for the vertex configurations as given by (1.1), the same notation will be used for elements of the *R*-matrix (1.3). Right: the rotated vertex given by (1.19).

Introducing the standard basis of the space of endomorphisms $End(\mathbb{C}^d)$ on \mathbb{C}^d . The vertex weights can be written as a matrix (operator) acting non-trivially on the tensor product of two spaces. Each of these spaces is spanned by the basis $\{e_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{C}^d | \gamma = 1, \ldots, d\}$ where $e_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ is a column vector with one nonzero entry 1 at row γ . Then a general operator can be expanded in the basis $\{e_{\alpha}^{\beta} \in End(\mathbb{C}^d) | \alpha, \beta = 1, \ldots, d\}$ of $End(\mathbb{C}^d)$ where e_{α}^{β} is a $d \times d$ matrix with one non-zero entry 1 in row α and column β [29]. The action on basis vectors is given by

$$e^{\beta}_{\alpha}e_{\gamma} = \delta^{\beta}_{\gamma}e_{\alpha}.\tag{1.2}$$

The $U_q[SU(n)]$ R-matrix expressed in this basis can be written as [29, 115],

$$R_{ij}(u,v) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{D} r^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta\alpha}(u,v) e_{i\alpha}{}^{\beta} e_{j\beta}{}^{\alpha}.$$
(1.3)

¹Here q denotes the q-deformed Lie algebra [30]. Identifying $q = e^{i\gamma}$ and taking $q \to 1$ is known as the rational limit and results in the weights $R^{\alpha\alpha}_{\alpha\alpha}(u,v) = (u-v)/2 + 1$, $R^{\alpha\beta}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) = (u-v)/2$, $R^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta\alpha}(u,v) = 1$.

Here $e_{i\alpha}^{\ \beta} e_{j\mu}^{\ \nu} \in End(\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^d)$ where the subscripts i, j indicate between which sites in the spin chain of length N the R-matrix acts non-trivially (or rows of vertices in the vertex model), which is embedded into the larger N-site space as

$$e_i{}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}e_j{}_{\mu}{}^{\nu} := \mathbb{I}^{\otimes^{i-1}} \otimes e_{\alpha}^{\beta} \otimes \mathbb{I}^{\otimes^{j-i-1}} \otimes e_{\mu}^{\nu} \otimes \mathbb{I}^{\otimes^{N-j}}, \text{ with } 1 \le i \le j \le N.$$
(1.4)

In the previous expression the familiar R-matrix from ABA and ISM is easily recognized [8, 88, 90]. This R-matrix has several special properties

$$\dot{R}_{ij}(u,v) := \mathbb{P}_{ij}R_{ij}(u,v) \tag{1.5a}$$

$$\check{R}_{ij}(u_0, u_0) = \mathbb{I}$$
 (*Regularity*) (1.5b)

$$R_{ij}(u,v)R_{ji}(v,u) = \frac{\sin^2(\gamma) - \sin^2((u-v)\gamma/2)}{\sin^2(\gamma)} \mathbb{I} \qquad (Unitarity) \qquad (1.5c)$$

where $\mathbb{P}_{ij} = e_{i\alpha}^{\beta} e_{j\beta}^{\alpha}$ is the permutation operator which satisfies the defining relation $\mathbb{P}(A \otimes B) = (B \otimes A)\mathbb{P}$ for $A, B \in End(\mathbb{C}^d)$. The unitarity condition breaks down if $u - v = \pm 2$

$$\det R_{ij}(\pm 2) = 0. \tag{1.6}$$

At these points the *R*-matrix becomes proportional to a projection operator onto the spaces $\mathbb{C}^{m_{\pm}}$ with dimension $m_{\pm} = \frac{n(n\pm 1)}{2}$. The operator is defined by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2\cos\gamma}\check{R}(\pm 2) \tag{1.7}$$

which obeys the defining relations

$$\check{R}_{ij}^{2}(\pm 2) = 2\cos\gamma\check{R}_{ij}(\pm 2), \tag{1.8}$$

$$R_{ij}(2)R_{ji}(-2) = \check{R}_{ij}(2)\check{R}_{ji}(-2) = 0.$$
(1.9)

These properties are used in the construction of models with non-fundamental representations through fusion as will be discussed in section 2 and appendix A.

Using the vertex weights or equivalently entries for the R-matrix a transfer matrix can be constructed as

$$T^{\{\mu\}}_{\{\nu\}}(u,\{v\}) = \sum_{\{\alpha\}} \prod_{i=1}^{N} R^{\alpha_i \mu_i}_{\alpha_{i+1}\nu_i}(u,v_i), \qquad (1.10)$$

see figure 1.2 [8, 30, 84, 105]. Here the product is acting in the same horizontal space (auxiliary) and different vertical (quantum) spaces corresponding to the N sites of the model. The trace over the horizontal lines was taken indicated by the sum over $\{\alpha\} \equiv \{\alpha_i\}_{i=1}^N$ with $\alpha_{N+1} = \alpha_1$. Similarly the sets $\{\mu\}$ and $\{\nu\}$ label the vertical lines and $\{v_i\}$ is a set of fixed complex parameters. In the case of the 1D quantum problem this trace would be considered over the auxiliary space which is again a vector space $V_0 \in \mathbb{C}^d$. The vertical lines are associated with the physical spins which reside in the Hilbert space defined by

$$\mathcal{H} = V_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes V_N \in \mathbb{C}^d \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{C}^d.$$
(1.11)



Figure 1.2: Graphical representation of the row to row transfer matrix, the curved arrow at the end of the diagram depicts the trace over the horizontal space.



Figure 1.3: The graphical representation of the Yang-Baxter equation (YBE). In the vertex case each line is associated with a label α, β, μ, ν which takes values $1, \ldots, d$ and each vertex is given the associated Boltzmann weight (1.1). The internal lines are labeled by repeated indices and summed over. Evaluating these expressions using the matrix basis (1.2) one obtains the Yang-Baxter equation (1.12).

For both the classical as well as the quantum case the relevant statistical and thermodynamic results require the evaluation of the eigenvalue problem for the transfer matrix. In both cases this problem is solvable by Bethe Ansatz cases [8, 84]. A central equation in the solution of the eigenvalue problem is the commutation property of the constituent vertex weights (1.1) or equivalently *R*-matrices (1.3) obey the Yang-Baxter equation,

$$R_{ij}(u,v)R_{ik}(u,w)R_{jk}(v,w) = R_{jk}(v,w)R_{ik}(u,w)R_{ij}(u,v),$$
(1.12)

also represented graphically in figure 1.3. A direct result of the definition (1.10) and the YBE is that transfer matrices form a family of commuting matrices

$$T(u', \{v\})T(u, \{v\}) = T(u, \{v\})T(u', \{v\}),$$
(1.13)

for u, u' and $\{v\}$ arbitrary. The commutation property implies that the transfer matrix can be described as a generating function of an infinite set of conserved charges

$$T(u, u_0) = e^{\sum_k I_k ((u-u_0))^k}, \quad [I_k, I_l] = 0,$$
(1.14)

from here on we will consider all the parameters $\{v\}$ to be equal to u_0 and choose $u_0 = 0$ such that $\check{R}(u,0)$ carries a single parameter and is regular at u = 0 (1.5b).

Among these conserved charges are P, the momentum operator and the Hamiltonian

$$I_0 = \ln T(u_0, u_0) = iP \tag{1.15}$$

$$I_1 = \frac{d}{du} \ln T(u, u_0)|_{u=u_0} = \frac{H\gamma}{2J\sin\gamma} = \frac{H}{h_R}.$$
 (1.16)

For the choice of vertex weights as in equation (1.1), H is the Perk-Schultz Hamiltonian.

The Perk-Schultz Hamiltonian (1.16) in the fundamental representation of $U_q[SU(n)]$ is of (q-deformed) "permutation type"

$$H = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbb{P}_{j,j+1} - \frac{N}{2}.$$
(1.17)

and can be identified with the Hamiltonians of many different quantum systems [20, 80]. For the case where n = 2 and $0 < \gamma \leq \pi$ the Hamiltonian reduces exactly to that of the XXZ Heisenberg chain

$$H_{XXZ} = 2J \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[S_j^x S_{j+1}^x + S_j^y S_{j+1}^y + \Delta \left(S_j^z S_{j+1}^z + \frac{1}{4} \right) \right] + 2 \sum_{j=1}^{N} h S_j^z$$
(1.18)

where $\Delta = \cos \gamma$ is the anisotropy parameter and J the exchange interaction, the Zeeman term proportional to h was added to incorporate magnetic fields ². The q-deformed case has further applications for n > 2 due to the equivalence of (1.17) to n-component Bose and Fermi gases in the continuum limit [115] and as the direct application of the Perk-Schultz model. The rational case of $\gamma \to 0$ leads to many interesting models, such as for n = 2, d = 2 the spin-1/2 Heisenberg XXX chain [82, 133, 134], n = 3 Spin-1 Lai-Sutherland model [32] and for n = 4 the Spin-orbital model and two leg spin ladder [20].

In the case of non-fundamental representations (see section 2) the Perk-Schultz Hamiltonian no longer is of permutation type. However, equal representations in the quantum and auxiliary space need to be considered for the underlying *R*-matrix to display *regularity* (1.5b) and the definition of the Hamiltonian (1.16) to be meaningful. The non-fundamental case with n = 2 and $\gamma = 0$ was identified with the Babujian-Takhtajan Hamiltonian (d = 3) and higher spin generalizations in [127].

1.2 Quantum Transfer Matrix & partition function

To calculate thermodynamic quantities of the quantum spin chain one would like to obtain an expression for the partition function $Z = \text{Tr}e^{-\beta H}$, to this end it is convenient to introduce the additional rotated vertex weight

$$\bar{R}^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v) = R^{\mu\beta}_{\nu\alpha}(v,u).$$
(1.19)

 $^{^{2}}$ The addition of this term does not interfere with integrability because it commutes with the Hamiltonian and the transfer matrix.

Using the methods introduced above one can define an adjoint transfer matrix by multiplying (1.19) in reversed order (compare (1.10)) and taking the trace to obtain

$$\bar{T}(-u,0) = e^{-iP + uH + O(u^2)}.$$
(1.20)

This transfer matrix is the same as equation (1.14) up to the sign in front of P (and higher order terms in u). The partition function can be obtained by considering the following object

$$T(u,0)\overline{T}(-u,0) = e^{2uH + O(u^2)}.$$
(1.21)

The previous expression is almost equal to the partition function up to the higher order terms in the spectral parameter u. These terms can be removed by introducing temperature in such a way that the higher order terms vanish in the Trotter limit $N \to \infty$. Choosing $u = -\beta h_R/N$ and taking N/2 copies of (1.21) one can use the Trotter limit to obtain the desired partition function after taking the (additional) trace over the (vertical) quantum space [81, 131] (cf. figure 1.4 for the graphical representation).

$$Z_L = \text{Tr}e^{-\beta H} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left[(T(-\beta h_R/N, 0)\bar{T}(\beta h_R/N, 0))^{N/2} e^{-\beta H_{ext}} \right].$$
(1.22)

$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(e^{-2\frac{\beta h_R}{N}H} \right)^{N/2} \right]$$
(1.23)

Here $-\beta H_{ext}$ was included to introduce the action of external fields, such as the magnetic field $H_{ext} = hS^z$ in the case of the XXZ Heisenberg chain.

Evaluating expressions involving this form of partition function is still a very hard problem to solve because one needs to take into account all eigenvalues of both transfer matrices. It is greatly reduced by considering a suitable transfer direction along the chain (cf. figure 1.4) resulting in the object of our interest the column-tocolumn transfer matrix, or the QTM. The QTM has the property that the spectrum is always gapped and non-degenerate in the leading eigenstate such that the partition function can be related to the leading eigenvalue only, regardless of the spectrum of the originally considered model. Introducing the additional rotated R-matrix

$$\tilde{R}^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v) = R^{\nu\alpha}_{\mu\beta}(v,u) \tag{1.24}$$

the QTM takes the form

$$T_{QTM}^{\{\mu\}}_{\{\nu\}}(z,u) = \sum_{\{\mu\}} \prod_{i=1}^{N/2} R^{\alpha_{2i-1}\mu_{2i-1}}_{\alpha_{2i}\nu_{2i-1}}(z,-u) \tilde{R}^{\alpha_{2i}\mu_{2i}}_{\alpha_{2i+1}\nu_{2i}}(z,u).$$
(1.25)

Where the trace is over the vertical (quantum) direction instead of the horizontal (auxiliary) direction. The *R*-matrices constructing the QTM obey the YBE with the same *R*-matrix or intertwiner (1.3) such that it also forms a commuting set

$$[T_{QTM}(z,u), T_{QTM}(z',u)] = 0. (1.26)$$

This combined with the fact that a highest weight state can be defined means that the QTM can be diagonalized using ABA, allowing for the explicit expression of the



Figure 1.4: Vertex representation of the partition function before taking the infinite volume and Trotter limit. In the vertical direction alternating application of the row to row transfer matrices $T(-\beta h_R/N, 0)$ and $\overline{T}(\beta h_R/N, 0)$ produce a staggered model where the inhomogeneities introduce temperature. In the dashed box the column-to-column QTM $T_Q(z, \beta h_R/N)$ at z = 0 is denoted.

transfer matrix eigenvalue under the condition that the roots of the eigenvalue obey the Bethe ansatz equations (see 1.3) [84].

Using the definition of the partition function in the row-to-row formulation (1.22)and the fact that the spectrum of the QTM is always gapped then the partition function can be rewritten in terms of a single eigenvalue as follows

$$Z_{N,L}(\beta) = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta H} = \lim_{L \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}(T_{QTM}(0, u))^L \Big|_{u = -\frac{\beta h_R}{N}}$$
(1.27)

$$= \lim_{L \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} (\Lambda_0(0, u))^L \left(1 + \left(\frac{\Lambda_1(0, u)}{\Lambda_0(0, u)} \right)^L + \dots \right) \bigg|_{u = -\frac{\beta h_R}{N}}.$$
 (1.28)

Here $\Lambda_i(0, u)$ are the eigenvalues of the QTM where $\Lambda_0(u)$ is the largest (ground state) eigenvalue [81, 82]. Because $|\Lambda_{i\neq 0}| < |\Lambda_0|$ and Λ_0 is non-degenerate, all higher order terms in the partition function vanish in the limit $L \to \infty$. The previous calculation makes use of the exchange of limits $\lim_{L\to\infty}$ and $\lim_{N\to\infty}$ which are shown to apply in all known cases based on both numerical checks and proofs for the lower rank models [37, 39]. Consequently thermodynamic quantities can be derived *analytically* in terms of the largest eigenvalue of the QTM

$$f = -\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_R \beta} \ln \Lambda_0(0, u).$$
(1.29)

The problem of finding the thermodynamic quantities is now reduced to finding the eigenvalue $\Lambda_0(u)$. The sub-leading eigenvalues $\Lambda_i(u)$ can also be calculated [82] and

are of interest for the calculation of correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit. The sub-leading eigenvalues still depend on the solutions of the (QTM) Bethe Ansatz equations which have different solutions than the BAE of the row-to-row formulation. Dealing with this problem has been the topic of several publications [36–38] but is outside of the scope of this work.

1.3 Explicit expressions for the QTM

The problem of finding eigenvalues for transfer matrices of integrable quantum systems was already solved in many cases for finite systems using ABA [84]. It gives explicit expressions for the eigenvalues provided the roots obey a set of coupled equations known as the Bethe equations. Several of the models solvable by ABA allow for the description of their thermodynamic properties through the thermodynamic Bethe ansatz (TBA). In TBA these properties are calculated directly from sets of linear integral equations. These integral equations are derived from the Bethe equations in the thermodynamic limit by careful inspection of the excitation spectrum of its eigenstates as a function of the Bethe roots [138]. The QTM formulation circumvents this study of the excitation spectrum by introducing a transfer matrix with a spectrum that is gapped ab initio. The gapped spectrum allows for the calculation of thermodynamic quantities by the methods demonstrated in the previous section. To solve (1.29) in the thermodynamic limit another set of integral equations known as the NLIE are introduced which solve directly for the highest weight eigenvalue of the QTM. Although the eigenvalue of the QTM features as an unknown function in the NLIE, the integral equations follow from the (functional) fusion equations between different representations of the QTM. The fusion equations are derived directly from the explicit expressions for the QTM eigenvalues as they appear in the ABA method and its corollaries, this derivation will be the topic of chapter 2.

With this in mind, the following sections will be dedicated to deriving explicit expressions for the QTM eigenvalue in the fundamental representation of $U_q[SU(n)]$ starting with n = 2 and n = 3. The n = 3 case is considered here because it is the first non-fundamental case that requires a solution by NABA. It will be shown that the QTM displays a special property which allows for the NABA to be solved using different embeddings, leading to different solutions of the nested eigenvalue that conserve the structure of the overall QTM eigenvalue. This together with the observation that nested eigenvalues are complex conjugates will be a fundamental observation for the derivation of our NLIE presented below and warrants a more in depth discussion. For the sake of readability only the minimal derivation will be presented here with the step-by-step NABA calculations given in appendix B, as well as a demonstration of the equivalence of Bethe vectors resulting from different embeddings. All statements made for the n = 3 case generalize to the n > 3 case and therefore the results for n > 3 will only be stated at the end of this section.

1.3.1 Algebraic Bethe ansatz, $U_q[SU(2)]$

Following the ABA method [30, 57, 84] the Lax operators in the fundamental representation of the $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric spin chains are given by

$$L_{j\beta}^{\ \alpha}(u,v) = R^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v)e_{j\mu}^{\ \nu},\tag{1.30}$$

with $R^{\alpha\mu}_{\beta\nu}(u,v)$ as defined in (1.1). The Lax operator is a matrix in the auxiliary space containing operator entries acting in the quantum space acting on site j. The highest weight state for the row-to-row transfer matrix for an *L*-site system in the fundamental representation of $U_q[SU(n)]$ (1.10) is given by the *L* fold tensor product of the same vector with length n and a single nonzero entry

$$|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ \vdots\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}^{\otimes L}.$$
 (1.31)

This is the highest weight state for $U_q[SU(n)]$. The Lax operator acts on this state taking upper triangular form. More specifically for the case where n = 2 and L = 1

$$L_{j}(u,v)\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} f(u,v)e_{1}^{1} + h(u,v)e_{2}^{2} & g(u,v)e_{2}^{1}\\ \bar{g}(u,v)e_{1}^{2} & f(u,v)e_{2}^{2} + h(u,v)e_{1}^{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.32)
$$= \begin{pmatrix} f(u,v) & g(u,v)\\ 0 & h(u,v) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here f, g & h are short hand for the previously introduced vertex weights

$$f(u,v) = R^{\alpha\alpha}_{\alpha\alpha}(u,v) \qquad \qquad h(u,v) = R^{\alpha\beta}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) \qquad (1.33)$$

$$g(u,v) = R^{\beta\alpha}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) \text{ if } \alpha > \beta \qquad \bar{g}(u,v) = R^{\beta\alpha}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) \text{ if } \alpha < \beta.$$
(1.34)

Introducing the rotated Lax operator analogous to the rotated vertices in the definition of the QTM (1.25) one obtains

$$\tilde{L}_{j\beta}^{\ \alpha}(u,v) = \tilde{R}_{\beta\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu}(u,v)e_{j\mu}^{\ \nu} = R_{\mu\beta}^{\nu\alpha}(v,u)e_{j\mu}^{\ \nu}$$
(1.35)

$$= \begin{pmatrix} f(v,u)e_1^1 + h(v,u)e_2^2 & \bar{g}(v,u)e_1^2 \\ g(v,u)e_2^1 & f(v,u)e_2^2 + h(v,u)e_1^1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.36)

note that this operator is simply the transpose of (1.32). Combining (1.32) and (1.36) into the monodromy operator for the QTM

$$\mathcal{T}_{QTM}(z) = L_N(z, \beta h_R/N) \tilde{L}_{N-1}(z, -\beta h_R/N) \dots L_2(z, -\beta h_R/N) \tilde{L}_1(z, \beta h_R/N),$$
(1.37)

one observes that this operator will act only as an upper triangular matrix if one introduces the following highest weight state

$$|0\rangle_{QTM} = \left(\left[\begin{array}{c} 1\\0 \end{array} \right] \otimes \left[\begin{array}{c} 0\\1 \end{array} \right] \right)^{\otimes N/2}.$$
(1.38)

This state resides in the Hilbert space along the vertical direction of the QTM known as the Trotter direction (see figure 1.4), hence the tensor product to the power N/2. Using the repeated action of the Lax operators (1.32) and (1.36) the monodromy matrix can be expressed in terms of the combined operators A(u), B(u), C(u) and D(u) acting in the Trotter direction

$$\mathcal{T}_{QTM}(u) = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) & B(u) \\ C(u) & D(u) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.39)

The application of QTM monodromy matrix on the highest weight state can be calculated as

$$\mathcal{T}_{QTM}(u)|0\rangle_{QTM} = L_L(u,\xi_L)\dots L_1(u,\xi_1)|0\rangle_{QTM}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1(u,\bar{\xi}) & *\\ 0 & \alpha_2(u,\bar{\xi}) \end{pmatrix} |0\rangle_{QTM}.$$

Here $\alpha_i(u, \bar{\xi})$ are eigenvalues of the diagonal elements of the monodromy matrix acting on $|0\rangle_{QTM}$ with $\xi = \beta h_R/N$. These eigenvalues are known as the *parameters of the* generalized model in [84, 120, 121], for the QTM they are

$$\alpha_1(u,\bar{\xi}) = \left[f(u,\xi)h(-\xi,u)\right]^{N/2}, \qquad \alpha_2(u,\bar{\xi}) = \left[h(u,\xi)f(-\xi,u)\right]^{N/2}.$$
(1.40)

From now on the QTM subscript in subsequent equations will be dropped since we mostly will deal with the QTM case and if the row-to-row formulation is meant instead it will be clear from the context.

To solve for the eigenvalues of the QTM via ABA one considers the action of the transfer matrix on all possible states containing excitations over the highest weight state parameterized by the rapidities $\{u_j\}_{j=1}^a$,

$$\operatorname{tr}\mathcal{T}(z)|\Psi_a(\bar{u})\rangle = \Lambda(z)|\Psi_a(\bar{u})\rangle. \tag{1.41}$$

Let these states be created by $B(u_{\alpha})$ then an arbitrary state can be written as the following product³

$$|\Psi_a(\bar{u})\rangle = B(u_1)\dots B(u_a)|0\rangle, \qquad a \le N.$$
(1.42)

which is known as the Bethe vector. Using the standard method of ABA and the YBE of the form

$$\check{R}(u,v)\left[\mathcal{T}(u)\otimes\mathcal{T}(v)\right] = \left[\mathcal{T}(v)\otimes\mathcal{T}(u)\right]\check{R}(u,v) \tag{1.43}$$

the action of the transfer matrix on this state can be obtained by commuting A(u) and D(u) with the creation operators $B(u_1), \ldots, B(u_a)$ until they hit the highest weight state where their action is known (1.40). For $\Lambda(z)$ in (1.41) to be a proper eigenvalue, the resulting Bethe vector (1.42) should be unchanged, generated by the same product of $B(u_{\alpha})$ and should not exchange arguments with the operators A(u) and D(u) in the commutation process. The commutation relations following from (1.43) do allow

³Here the multiplication convention from [126] was applied: $f(\bar{u}) = \prod_{k=1}^{\#u_k} f(u_k)$ and $f(\bar{u}_j) = \prod_{k\neq j}^{\#u_k} f(u_k)$ where $\#u_k$ indicates the cardinality of the set $\{u_k\}$ which usually is equal to the number of Bethe roots.

for such exchange of arguments, to ensure this does not happen these colloquially named *unwanted terms* are required to vanish which leads to the arguments of the Bethe vector $\{u_j\}_{j=1}^a$ to be constrained to be solutions of the Bethe equation

$$\frac{\alpha_1(u_j,\xi)}{\alpha_2(u_j,\bar{\xi})} = -\frac{f(u_j,\bar{u}_j)}{f(\bar{u}_j,u_j)}.$$
(1.44)

Under the constraint that the set of rapidities or Bethe roots $\{u_j\}_{j=1}^a$ obey the Bethe equations $\Lambda(z)$ (1.41) is an eigenvalue of $|\Psi_a(\bar{u})\rangle$ given by

$$\Lambda(z) = \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi}) \frac{f(\bar{u},z)}{h(\bar{u},z)} + \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi}) \frac{f(z,\bar{u})}{h(z,\bar{u})}.$$
(1.45)

Inserting the definitions of the weights (1.33) and choosing the convenient parameters $z \to iz, u_j \to iu_j$ with $j = 1 \dots M$ one obtains the following explicit eigenvalue.

$$\Lambda(z) = \phi_{-}(z-2i)\phi_{+}(z)\frac{Q(z+2i)}{Q(z)} + \phi_{-}(z)\phi_{+}(z+2i)\frac{Q(z-2i)}{Q(z)}.$$
(1.46)

Where

$$\phi_{\pm}(z) = \left(\frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}\left(z \mp i\frac{h_R\beta}{N}\right)\right]}{\sin(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2}, \quad Q_j(z) = \begin{cases} \phi_-(u) & j = 0\\ \prod_{j=1}^M \frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_j)\right]}{\sin(\gamma)} & j = 1\\ \phi_+(u) & j = 2 \end{cases},$$
(1.47)

with Bethe equations

$$\frac{\phi_{-}(u_{j}-2i)}{\phi_{+}(u_{j}+2i)}\frac{\phi_{+}(u_{j})}{\phi_{-}(u_{j})} = -\frac{Q(u_{j}-2i)}{Q(u_{j}+2i)}.$$
(1.48)

Note that the only difference in result for ABA for the QTM and the familiar row-torow matrices presented in [30, 57, 84] is in the parameters of the generalized model (1.40) on the lhs of the Bethe equations.

1.3.2 Nested algebraic Bethe ansatz, $U_q[SU(3)]$

Next, the $U_q[SU(3)]$ case will be considered. Here the *R*-matrix in the fundamental representation (1.3) acts in the higher dimensional space $\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^d$ with d = 3, as a result the monodromy and Lax operators are 3×3 matrices in the auxiliary space [87, 120]. This increase in matrix size will have consequences for the method of solving the eigenvalue problem for the transfer matrix that requires the application of the NABA [126].

For the $U_q[SU(3)]$ case the Lax operator is still defined by (1.30) where now the indices run over $\alpha, \beta, \mu, \nu = 1, 2, 3$ resulting in a similar form as seen in the previous section

$$L_{j}(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} f(u,v)e_{1}^{1} + h(u,v)(e_{2}^{2} + e_{3}^{3}) & g(u,v)e_{2}^{1} & g(u,v)e_{3}^{1} \\ \bar{g}(u,v)e_{1}^{2} & f(u,v)e_{2}^{2} + h(u,v)(e_{1}^{1} + e_{3}^{3}) & g(u,v)e_{3}^{2} \\ \bar{g}(u,v)e_{3}^{3} & \bar{g}(u,v)e_{2}^{3} & h(u,v)(e_{1}^{1} + e_{2}^{2}) + f(u,v)e_{3}^{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(1.49)$$

The action of $L_j(u, v)$ on the highest weight state (1.31) still results in non-zero entries on and above the diagonal except for $g(u, v)e_3^2|0\rangle = 0$. Combined with the rotated Lax operator

$$\tilde{L}_{j}(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} f(v,u)e_{1}^{1} + h(v,u)(e_{2}^{2} + e_{3}^{3}) & \bar{g}(v,u)e_{1}^{2} & \bar{g}(v,u)e_{1}^{3} \\ g(v,u)e_{2}^{1} & f(v,u)e_{2}^{2} + h(v,u)(e_{1}^{1} + e_{3}^{3}) & \bar{g}(v,u)e_{2}^{3} \\ g(v,u)e_{3}^{1} & g(v,u)e_{3}^{2} & h(v,u)(e_{1}^{1} + e_{2}^{2}) + f(v,u)e_{3}^{3} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(1.50)$$

the action of the operators in column-to-column monodromy matrix (1.39) can again be found to have non-zero action for all entries on and above the diagonal

$$\mathcal{T}(u)|0\rangle = L_L(u,\xi_L)\dots\tilde{L}_1(u,\xi_1)|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1(u) & * & * \\ 0 & \alpha_2(u) & * \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_3(u) \end{pmatrix} |0\rangle, \quad (1.51)$$

when acting on the highest weight state

$$|0\rangle = \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} 1\\0\\0 \end{array} \right) \otimes \left(\begin{array}{c} 0\\0\\1 \end{array} \right) \right]^{\otimes N/2}.$$
(1.52)

Here the parameters of the generalized model $\alpha_i(u)$ are given by

$$\alpha_1(u) = (f(u,\xi)h(-\xi,u))^{N/2}, \qquad \alpha_2(u) = (h(u,\xi)h(-\xi,u))^{N/2}, \alpha_3(u) = (h(u,\xi)f(-\xi,u))^{N/2}.$$
(1.53)

The operators with non-zero action appearing in the upper diagonal of the monodromy matrix again act as creation operators on the highest weight state. Since these are now multiple operators this leads to two possible *colored* excitations over the highest weight state as opposed to a single parameter excitation in $U_q[SU(2)]$. Since there are multiple ways to create excitations above the ground state there are multiple (equivalent) orders in which the commutation problem of the transfer matrix acting on these operators can be solved (in analogy to (1.41) and (1.42))

$$tr\mathcal{T}(z)|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle = \Lambda(z)|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle.$$
(1.54)

For both choices, the previous problem is solved first for the operators that create transitions from one a state with one color to the one of the other colors, for example considering $(1,0,0)^T$; $(1,0,0)^T \rightarrow a_1(0,1,0)^T + a_2(0,0,1)^T$ followed by $(0,0,1)^T \rightarrow b_1(0,1,0)^T + b_2(1,0,0)^T$ and vice versa with a_i, b_i some weights. As a result the Bethe vector $|\Psi(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle$ now contains two sets of Bethe roots $\{u\}$ and $\{v\}$, one for each of the steps. Depending on which of the problems to solve first the monodromy matrix is partitioned as

$$\mathcal{T}(u) = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) & \mathbb{B}(u) \\ \mathbb{C}(u) & \mathbb{D}(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) & B_1(u) & B_2(u) \\ C_1(u) & D_1^1(u) & D_2^1(u) \\ C_2(u) & D_1^2(u) & D_2^2(u) \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.55)

or

$$\mathcal{T}'(u) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}(u) & \mathbb{B}'(u) \\ \mathbb{C}'(u) & D(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A_1^1(u) & A_2^1(u) & B'_1(u) \\ A_1^2(u) & A_2^2(u) & B'_2(u) \\ C'_1(u) & C'_2(u) & D(u) \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.56)

such that the creation operators that construct the Bethe vectors from the highest weight state are a poly-linear combination of respectively $B_1(u), B_2(u)$ and $D_2^1(v)$ or $B'_1(u), B'_2(u)$ and $A_2^1(v)^4$. The solution of the sub-problems resulting from the commutation of the transfer matrix elements $\mathbb{A}(v)$ and $\mathbb{D}(v)$ with the creation operators $\mathbb{B}(u)$ and $\mathbb{B}'(u)$ again take the form of the $U_q[SU(2)]$ problem encountered in the previous section, resulting in different embeddings of $U_q[SU(2)] \subset U_q[SU(3)]$ for each of the choices of (1.55) and (1.56), justifying the *nested* moniker of this Bethe ansatz method.

Taking a closer look at Bethe vectors for the different embeddings, the state $|\Psi(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle$ in the first embedding shall be be defined by creating excitations above the highest weight state $|0\rangle$ using a poly-linear combination of the creation operators $B_1(u)$ and $B_2(u)$

$$|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle := \mathbb{B}_1(u_1)\dots\mathbb{B}_a(u_a)\mathbb{F}(\{u\},\{v\})|0\rangle.$$
(1.57)

Here $\mathbb{F}(\{u\}, \{v\})$ is a vector containing the product $D_2^1(v_1) \dots D_2^1(v_b)$ which acts in the SU(2) subspace such that when multiplied by $\mathbb{B}_1(u_1) \dots \mathbb{B}_a(u_a) := \mathbb{B}(u_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{B}(u_a)$ the rhs of (1.57) is some polynomial in $B_{1,2}(u_j)$ and $D_2^1(v_k)$ which takes into account all possible ways to create a Bethe vector containing the set of roots $\{u_j\}_j^a$ and $\{v_k\}_k^b$. The existence of the second set of roots $\{v_k\}$ and poly-linear form of the vector essentially follows from the nontrivial action of $D_2^1(v)$ on the part of the highest weight state given by $(0, 0, 1)^T$ and the fact that $B_2(u)$ can act upon $(1, 0, 0)^T$ to create $(0, 0, 1)^T$ such that several different combinations of operators create essentially the same state. The exact definition of this vector, its derivation and the solution to the commutation problem for the QTM can be found in appendix B and follows [126]. Remarkably, the Bethe vector resulting from the other embedding (1.56)

$$|\Psi'(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle := \mathbb{B}_1^{t_1}(v_1)\dots\mathbb{B}_b^{t_b}(v_b)\mathbb{F}'(\{u\},\{v\})|0\rangle, \tag{1.58}$$

with $\mathbb{B}^t(v_k) := (B'_1(v_k), B'_2(v_k))^T$, $\mathbb{F}'(\{u\}, \{v\}) \sim A^1_2(u_1) \dots A^1_2(u_a)$ and $|0\rangle$ the same highest weight state, represents exactly the same Bethe vector as for the other embedding, i.e. $|\Psi'(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle = |\Psi(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle$. This equality is a special case which only occurs for monodromy matrices where the upper diagonal entries all have non-zero action on the highest weight state, as is the case with (1.51) [126]. A minimal example demonstrating this equivalence for the case of $U_q[SU(3)]$ Bethe vectors can be found in appendix B.

It is clear from NABA (see appendix B) and the fact that the two Bethe vectors are the same that the different embeddings result in the same eigenvalue an Bethe equations. They differ only in the order in which the eigenvalues for the different $U_q[SU(2)]$ sub-blocks are fixed (related to the generalized parameters $\alpha_{2,3}$ for \mathbb{D} and

⁴In principle a third embedding is possible but this will be ignored for now since it has no relevant application in the cases presented in this thesis.

 $\alpha_{1,2}$ for A respectively). The reason we stress this difference will become clear in section 4.3 where the relation between Bäcklund transforms and NABA will be discussed. In the embedding (1.55) NABA gives the eigenvalue

$$\Lambda(z) = \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi})\frac{f(\bar{u},z)}{h(\bar{u},z)} + \frac{1}{h(z,\bar{u})} \left\{ \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi})f(z,\bar{u})\frac{f(\bar{v},z)}{h(\bar{v},z)} + \alpha_3(z,\bar{\xi})h(z,\bar{u})\frac{f(z,\bar{v})}{h(z,\bar{v})} \right\}.$$
(1.59)

Here the part of the eigenvalue in brackets results from the commutation of $D_1^1(z)$ and $D_2^2(z)$ of the transfer matrix with the creation operators in the definition of (1.57) and their action on the highest weight state. The other embedding (1.56) results in the same eigenvalue where the part of the eigenvalue which is solved by the nesting is reversed as indicated by the brackets

$$\Lambda'(z) = \frac{1}{h(\bar{v}, z)} \left\{ \alpha_1(z, \bar{\xi}) h(-z, -\bar{v}) \frac{f(\bar{u}, z)}{h(\bar{u}, z)} + \alpha_2(z, \bar{\xi}) f(-z, -\bar{v}) \frac{f(z, \bar{u})}{h(z, \bar{u})} \right\} + \alpha_3(z, \bar{\xi}) \frac{f(z, \bar{v})}{h(z, \bar{v})}.$$
(1.60)

Choosing the convenient parameters $z \to iz$, $u_j \to iu_j$ and $v_k \to iv_k$ with $j = 1, \ldots, M_1$ and $k = 1, \ldots, M_2$ one obtains the following explicit expression for both eigenvalues (1.59) and (1.60)

$$\Lambda(z) = \left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z+i\xi-2i)]\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-i\xi)]}{\sin^{2}(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2} \prod_{j=1}^{M_{1}} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_{j}+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_{j})]} \\
+ \left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z+i\xi)]\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-i\xi)]}{\sin^{2}(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2} \prod_{j=1}^{M_{1}} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_{j}-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_{j})]} \prod_{k=1}^{M_{2}} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-v_{k}+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-v_{k})]} \\
+ \left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z+i\xi)]\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-i\xi+2i)]}{\sin^{2}(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2} \prod_{k=1}^{M_{2}} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-v_{k}-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-v_{k})]}. \quad (1.61)$$

The Bethe equations are also the same for both cases and are given by the following equations, one for each of the sets of Bethe roots $\{u_j\}_{j=1}^{M_1}$ and $\{v_k\}_{m=1}^{M_2}$

$$\left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j+i\xi-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j+i\xi)]}\right)^{N/2} = -\prod_{l=1}^{M_1} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j-u_l-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j-u_l+2i)]} \prod_{m=1}^{M_2} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j-v_m+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u_j-v_m)]}$$
(1.62a)
$$\left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-i\xi+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-i\xi)]}\right)^{N/2} = -\prod_{l=1}^{M_1} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-u_l-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-u_l)]} \prod_{m=1}^{M_2} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-v_m+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v_k-v_m-2i)]}.$$
(1.62b)

1.4 Properties of the QTM

1.4.1 Partial eigenvalues, higher rank solutions and nesting paths

The calculation of the QTM eigenvalues as well as the BAE for higher rank problems generalizes directly from the approach for $U_q[SU(3)]$ presented above and in appendix B and shall not be presented further in this theses, only the results will be shown here. To simplify the discussion on nesting (and later on the fusion procedure) it is convenient to introduce the following notation for the partial eigenvalues of $\Lambda(z)$

$$\lambda_j(z) = \phi_+(z)\phi_-(z)\frac{Q_{j-1}(z-2i)Q_j(z+2i)}{Q_{j-1}(z)Q_j(z)},$$
(1.63)

in this notation the eigenvalues and BAE for $U_q[SU(n)]$ can be written as

$$\Lambda(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j(z), \qquad \frac{\lambda_j(u_k^{(j)})}{\lambda_{j+1}(u_k^{(j)})} = -1.$$
(1.64)

Where

$$\phi_{\pm}(z) = \left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z \mp i\xi)]}{\sin(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2} \tag{1.65}$$

$$Q_{j}(z) = \begin{cases} \phi_{-}(z) & j = 0\\ \prod_{l=1}^{M_{j}} \frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(z-u_{l}^{(j)})]}{\sin(\gamma)} & j \neq 0, n\\ \phi_{+}(z) & j = n \end{cases}$$
(1.66)

as in (1.66) and Q_1, \ldots, Q_{n-1} nested Q-functions with each a distinct set of Bethe roots $\{u_l^{(j)}\}_{l=1}^{M_j}$ for 0 < j < n.

Considering again the eigenvalues (1.59) and (1.60) it is clear in the partial eigenvalue notation that the different embeddings fix ratios of different sequential partial eigenvalues, that is $\lambda_2(z)$, $\lambda_3(z)$ followed by $\lambda_1(z)$ and $\lambda_2(z)$ and the other way around. This generalizes again to $U_q[SU(n)]$ where at each level of nesting one adjacent partial eigenvalue is fixed with respect to the rest⁵. This results in 2^{n-1} different ways to solve the nested problem which can conveniently be graphically represented in a nesting diagram (Figure 1.5). The paths of this diagram represent different embeddings, these paths shall be referred to as nesting paths. The partial sums of eigenvalues and nesting paths play a significant role in the Bäcklund approach of nesting and the derivation of the NLIE.

1.4.2 Solution to the QTM Bethe equations and resulting analyticity properties of the eigenvalue

For the purpose of deriving integral relations some knowledge of the functional space of the eigenvalue and its partial sums is required. Analyticity properties and pole

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In principle it is also possible to consider non-adjacent partial eigenvalues, however this will not be relevant to the applications studied in this thesis.

Figure 1.5: Breakdown of the nesting path diagram for the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric transfer matrix eigenvalue.

structure of the QTM eigenvalue and its (partial) eigenvalues have been discussed in several contexts in many previous works [20, 29, 32, 36, 39, 63, 81, 82], only the results shall be presented here. In section 1.3.1 it was shown the (nested) algebraic Bethe ansatz requires the transfer matrix eigenvalues to be parameterized by Bethe roots solving (1.64). These relations ensure that any sum of adjacent partial eigenvalues and therefore the complete QTM is free of poles

$$\operatorname{Res}_{u=u_{i}^{(j)}}(\lambda_{j}(u) + \lambda_{j+1}(u)) = 0.$$
(1.67)

Through (1.65) each of these partial eigenvalues are polynomials of degree N, with zeros and poles parameterized by the Bethe roots. This work will be mainly concerned with the largest eigenvalue which is parameterized by the ground state solution to the Bethe equation, because this is the only term that enters the analytic expression for the free energy and its derivatives in the Trotter limit (1.29). As mentioned in the previous section non-ground state solutions to the Bethe equations are relevant for the calculation of higher order QTM eigenvalues which are required for the expression of correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit [36, 37, 39] but shall not be further discussed here.

The ground state solution to the Bethe equation for the QTM in the rational limit $\gamma \to 0$ or SU(n) symmetric model with n = 2, 3, 4 and several values of N and β are displayed in figure 1.6 and 1.7. Unlike row-to-row Bethe equations the QTM Bethe roots are not suited to define meaningful density functions in the thermodynamic limit [39]. For SU(2) all Bethe roots reside on the real line. For all cases the solutions accumulate around the origin for small β except for several outer roots remaining finitely separated up to a distance N from the origin even in the case where $N \to \infty$. For the higher rank cases this pattern is repeated around lines at $\mathrm{Im}(u_k^{(j)}) \sim (\frac{n}{2} - j)$ where the roots with nonzero imaginary part form curved lines bounded by $0 < |\mathrm{Im}(u_k^{(j)})| < |\frac{n}{2} - j| + \frac{1}{2}$ with 0 < j < n when β is small/large respectively. The zeros of the eigenvalue $\Lambda(z)$ are parameterized by the Bethe roots and form

The zeros of the eigenvalue $\Lambda(z)$ are parameterized by the Bethe roots and form similar distributions with the same behavior for N and β centered around lines along $\pm i n/2$ [95, 142]. As for the complete eigenvalue, analyticity properties of the partial sums of eigenvalues can be determined numerically for finite N upon removal of common poles due to $Q_j(z)$ terms in the denominator. The simplest example of



Figure 1.6: Ground state solutions for the SU(3) (left) and SU(4) (right) Bethe equations for different values of $\frac{J\beta}{N}$ (top/bottom) with N = 64 in the rational limit $\gamma \to 0$. Lower temperatures $\frac{J\beta}{N}$ cause the roots to cluster more closely together (note the different scales in the top and bottom plots), demonstrating the behavior in both high and low temperature limits described below.



Figure 1.7: Ground state solutions to the SU(2) Bethe equations for different values of N = 32, 128 (bottom) demonstrating the finite separation of the roots for different temperatures and N. All roots are on the real line.

these partial sums has been termed the Q-hole function consisting of a sum of two partial eigenvalues. For the $U_q[SU(3)]$ example above these terms coincide with the expressions in the curly brackets in (1.59) and (1.60). The Q-hole functions

$$Q_{1,2}^{(h)}(z) := \frac{Q_{2,1}(u)(\lambda_2(z) + \lambda_{1,3}(z))}{\phi_{\pm}(z)}$$
(1.68)

are basically a polynomial re-formulation of the Bethe equations

$$p_{1}(z) := Q_{1}(z)Q_{1}^{(h)}(z) = \phi_{-}(z-2i)Q_{1}(z+2i)Q_{2}(z) + \phi_{-}(z)Q_{1}(z-2i)Q_{2}(z+2i)$$
(1.69a)
$$p_{2}(z) := Q_{2}(z)Q_{2}^{(h)}(z) = \phi_{+}(z)Q_{1}(z-2i)Q_{2}(z+2i) + \phi_{+}(z+2i)Q_{1}(z)Q_{2}(z-2i)$$
(1.69b)

which like the complete eigenvalue have zeros parameterized by the Bethe roots $\{u_j\}_{j=1}^{M_1}$ and $\{v_k\}_{k=1}^{M_2}$ lying on lines along $\pm i n/2$. Since it was already demonstrated in the nested algebraic Bethe ansatz section that these partial sums can be considered as the nested $SU(2) \subset \cdots \subset SU(n)$ eigenvalues it is not surprising that this analyticity structure is retained for the larger sums of partial eigenvalues.

1.4.3 QTM automorphism

To finish this section on the discussion of the properties of the QTM eigenvalue the author would like to point out a particular automorphism of the eigenvalues under complex conjugation and exchange of the Bethe roots that was also discussed in [32]. Although this automorphism will not be used directly it will be very important for understanding the nature of different nesting paths in the context of Bäcklund transforms and greatly simplify the notation in the following sections. There it will be shown that the adjacent Bäcklund flows effectively generate different embeddings of the NABA and that the functions appearing in the adjacent Bäcklund flows are different sums of adjacent partial eigenvalues. Since these partial eigenvalues are not conserved under the automorphism the transformation described below will act as a homomorphism between the adjacent flows.

The automorphism will be demonstrated with the example of $U_q[SU(3)]$. Using the transform $\overline{p_{1,2}(\bar{z})}$ on the BAE where the bar means complex conjugation, the resulting equations can be rewritten into BAE form

$$\left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}+i\xi-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}+i\xi)]}\right)^{N/2} = -\prod_{l=1}^{M_{2}}\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}-\bar{v}_{l}-2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}-\bar{v}_{l}+2i)]}\prod_{j=1}^{M_{1}}\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}-\bar{u}_{j}+2i)]}{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{v}_{k}-\bar{u}_{j})]}$$
(1.70a)

$$\left(\frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - i\xi + 2i)\right]}{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - i\xi)\right]}\right)^{N/2} = -\prod_{k=1}^{M_2} \frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - \bar{v}_k - 2i)\right]}{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - \bar{v}_k)\right]} \prod_{l=1}^{M_1} \frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - \bar{u}_l + 2i)\right]}{\sinh\left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(\bar{u}_j - \bar{u}_l - 2i)\right]}.$$
(1.70b)

These are exactly the old BAE (1.62a) and (1.62b) up to $\{\overline{u}_j\}_{j=1}^{M_1} \leftrightarrow \{v_k\}_{k=1}^{M_2}$ and $\{\overline{v}_k\}_{j=1}^{M_2} \leftrightarrow \{u_j\}_{j=1}^{M_1}$, up to a relabeling and an exchange in the cardinality $M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2$. For the largest eigenvalue state this evidently results in an exchange of the Bethe roots which come in complex conjugate pairs and have $M_1 = M_2 = N/2$.

A similar transformation can be applied to the eigenvalue, one sees that there exists

a mapping between the different embeddings of the eigenvalue (1.59) and (1.60)

$$\overline{\Lambda(\bar{z})} = \phi_{+}(z+2i)\phi_{-}(z)\frac{\bar{Q}_{2}(z-2i)}{\bar{Q}_{2}(z)} + \left\{\phi_{+}(z)\phi_{-}(z)\frac{\bar{Q}_{2}(z+2i)}{\bar{Q}_{2}(z)}\frac{\bar{Q}_{1}(z-2i)}{\bar{Q}_{1}(z)} + \phi_{+}(z)\phi_{-}(z-2i)\frac{\bar{Q}_{1}(z+2i)}{Q_{1}(z)}\right\}.$$
 (1.71)

where $\bar{Q}_{1,2}(z) := \overline{Q}_{2,1}(\bar{z}), \ \overline{\phi_{\pm}(\bar{z})} = \phi_{\mp}(z)$. Under the exchange $M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2$ the first definition becomes $\bar{Q}_{1,2}(z) = Q_{1,2}(z)$ and the embeddings are switched $\overline{\Lambda(\bar{z})} = \Lambda'(z)$ since $\overline{\lambda_1(\bar{z})}^{M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2} \lambda_3(z), \ \overline{\lambda_2(\bar{z})}^{M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2} \lambda_2(z)$ and $\overline{\lambda_3(\bar{z})}^{M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2} \lambda_1(z)$. So there exists a mapping between the two embeddings which exchanges the two Bethe equations and thus the hole functions $Q_1^{(h)}(z) \leftrightarrow Q_2^{(h)}(z)$ or equivalently $p_1(z) \leftrightarrow p_2(z)$.

This exchange of $M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2$ is not just artificial and can be obtained by realizing that this is not only an automorphism of the transfer matrix eigenvalue but also one of the monodromy matrix [126]

$$\phi\left[T_{j}^{i}(z)\right] = \tilde{T}_{\bar{i}}^{\bar{j}}(-z), \quad \text{where} \quad \bar{i} = N + 1 - i \tag{1.72}$$

$$\phi \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_1^1(z) & T_2^1(z) & T_3^1(z) \\ T_1^2(z) & T_2^2(z) & T_3^2(z) \\ T_1^3(z) & T_2^3(z) & T_3^3(z) \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{T}_3^3(-z) & \tilde{T}_3^2(-z) & \tilde{T}_1^1(-z) \\ \tilde{T}_2^3(-z) & \tilde{T}_2^2(-z) & \tilde{T}_2^1(-z) \\ \tilde{T}_1^3(-z) & \tilde{T}_1^2(-z) & \tilde{T}_1^1(-z) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.73)

This automorphism connects exactly the Yang-Baxter algebras resulting from the different embeddings (1.55) (1.56) and exchanges all relevant terms in the commutation relations resulting from (1.43) (see Appendix B resp. (B5) becomes (B41) and (B6) becomes (B40)). The different embedding also reverses the action of the diagonal elements of the monodromy

$$A(-z)|0\rangle = f(-z,\xi)h(-\xi,-z) = h(z,\xi)f(-\xi,z),$$
(1.74)

which changes the order of the set of parameters of the generalized model (1.53) as such $\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3\} \rightarrow \{\alpha_3, \alpha_2, \alpha_1\}$. Therefore this automorphism exactly maps the embedding (1.55) onto (1.56), and vice versa. The exchange $M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2$ can then be obtained by using the equivalence of the Bethe vectors (1.57) and (1.58) which is evident from the numerical results in figure 1.6.
Chapter 2

Fusion

As mentioned in the introduction, the fusion hierarchy and T-system play an important role in the definition of NLIE [24, 29, 78, 80, 83, 95, 115, 129, 135, 144] as well as the application of Bäcklund transforms to transfer matrices [65, 85, 102, 152, 154, 156]. It is the central method for constructing transfer matrices parameterizing quantum models that act in higher representations of their base algebra, which in the context of the QTM describes models with more complex interactions such as the spin-1 Babujan-Takhtajan model [6, 127].

In this section a brief introduction to fusion will be given starting from the construction of R-matrices acting in higher representations in both auxiliary and quantum space. By applying the defining relation for transfer matrices (1.10) to the fused Rmatrices, transfer matrices with non-fundamental representations in the quantum and auxiliary space can be derived. Of special interest are the functional relations that arise naturally in this derivation which relate transfer matrices with non-fundamental representations in the auxiliary space to transfer matrices with lower dimensional representations provided certain boundary conditions on the trivial and completely antisymmetrized representations hold. Among these functional relations is the Tsystem.

Although the transfer matrix eigenvalues are treated as unknown functions in the NLIE approach, the boundary conditions of the T-system feature directly as driving terms of the NLIE (further discussed in section 3). Several formulations of the boundary conditions exist [154] and are connected through different T-system conserving normalizations for the transfer matrix eigenvalues. The derivation of these different normalizations and formulations of the boundary conditions is not always described clearly in the literature. Especially for the minimal polynomial formulation of the boundary conditions (where the number of zeros in the transfer matrix eigenvalue is minimal) extra care has to be taken because it does not conserve the T-system structure when considering non-fundamental representations in the quantum space [65]. The previous case will be treated with care below since the T-system is required for deriving the Bäcklund formalism.

The treatment of non-fundamental representations in the quantum space is further required for studying non-fundamental representations of the QTM because only for equal representations in the quantum and auxiliary space will the R-matrix reduce to a permutation operator which is a pre-condition for the Hamiltonian in to be of permutation type (1.17). With this in mind a new set of boundary conditions will be introduced somewhere in between minimal polynomial and the unnormalized form, which brings the boundary conditions to its simplest, most concise form without sacrificing the algebraic structure of the T-system. The boundary conditions and the T-system will also feature in the derivation of the Bäcklund method in NLIE, therefore a simple convention will be introduced here to separate the discussion of normalization from the other matters. Additional details regarding the derivation of the fusion procedure can be found in appendix A.

2.1 Fusion hierarchy

The fusion procedure was introduced in the early works of the Leningrad school of mathematics [70, 88] where it appeared in the study of the representation theory of the Yang-Baxter algebra. In these works several methods are presented for the construction of *R*-matrices, monodromy matrices and transfer matrices that act in quantum and auxiliary spaces with non-fundamental representations in any of the two spaces from objects acting in fundamental representations. For example *R*-matrices acting in $End(\mathbb{C}^{m_i} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m_j})$ where $m_{i,j} > 0$ from *R*-matrices acting in the fundamental representation $End(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathbb{C}^n)$. The basic constructive method makes use of Yang-Baxter relation at the singular values of the *R*-matrix (1.7) such that the quantum and auxiliary spaces of multiple *R*-matrices can be combined to create symmetric, anti-symmetric or combined irreducible representations on that respective space (usually of highest weight are considered here). Effectively fusing the representations in the spirit of Clebsch-Gordan decomposition [88]

$$R_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{(a_{i},s_{i}),(a_{j},s_{j})}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{i_{1},\dots,i_{a_{i}+s_{i}-2}}R_{i_{a_{i}+s_{i}-2},\{j\}}^{(1,1),(a_{j},s_{j})}(u-2(s_{i}-a_{i}))\dots R_{i_{s_{i}-1},\{j\}}^{(1,1),(a_{j},s_{j})}(u-2(s_{i}-1)) \\ \dots R_{i_{a_{i}-1},\{j\}}^{(1,1),(a_{j},s_{j})}(u-2(1-a_{i}))\dots R_{i_{1},\{j\}}^{(1,1),(a_{j},s_{j})}(u)\mathcal{P}_{i_{1},\dots,i_{a_{i}+s_{i}-2}} \\ \in End\left(\mathbb{C}^{m_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{m_{j}}\right).$$

$$(2.1)$$

To keep track of these representations it is useful to introduce the notion Yangian analogue of Young tableaux following [91, 128]. The spaces in which the *R*-matrix acts will carry a highest weight-representation and are labeled by Young tableau carrying indices (a, s). For the fundamental representation the Young tableau is a single box of one unit height and width, which shall be represented with index (1, 1). Through anti-symmetric fusion one obtains a vertically stacked boxes (a, 1) and symmetric fusion s horizontally stacked boxes (1, s) et cetera. For now only rectangular Young tableaux will be considered which shall be labeled by (a, s), for labeling of arbitrary tableaux we refer to appendix A. This procedure can be repeated on both spaces of the *R*-matrix yielding $R_{\{i\}\{j\}}^{(a_i,s_i),(a_j,s_j)}(u)$, which acts in two non-fundamental representations of the underlying algebra. Here (a_i, s_i) and (a_j, s_j) indicate the fusion content of the *R*-matrix in space *i* and *j*. The subscripts $\{j\}$ indicate that the space *j* is in the highest weight representation composed of a combined set of spaces $1, \ldots, a_j + s_j - 1$ acting in the fundamental representation (see (2.1)). If both spaces carry the same representation $(a_i = a_j \text{ and } s_i = s_j)$ the *R*-matrix again enjoys the properties of regularity (1.5b) and unitarity (1.5c) and therefore can be used to generate Hamiltonians by means of the procedure described in section 1.2.

As a short example consider fusion of the *R*-matrices among the first space dropping the fusion index of the other, then the anti-symmetrically and symmetrically fused *R*-matrices are given by.

$$R_{\{i\},2}^{(a+1,s)}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^{-} R_{i_1,2}^{(a,s)}(u+2) R_{i_2,2}^{(1,1)}(u) \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^{-}$$
(2.2a)

$$R_{\{i\},2}^{(a,s+1)}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^+ R_{i_1,2}^{(a,s)}(u-2) R_{i_2,2}^{(1,1)}(u) \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^+.$$
 (2.2b)

Here \mathcal{P}^{\pm} is the projection operator on the (anti-)symmetrically fused space. This process can be repeated on the other space

$$R_{1,\{j\}}^{(a+1,s)}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^{-} R_{1,j_2}^{(a,s)}(u-2) R_{1,j_1}^{(1,1)}(u) \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^{-}$$
(2.3a)

$$R_{1,\{j\}}^{(a,s+1)}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^+ R_{1,j_2}^{(a,s)}(u+2) R_{1,j_1}^{(1,1)}(u) \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^+,$$
(2.3b)

to create $R_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{(a+1,s)(a+1,s)}(u)$ and $R_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{(a,s+1)(a,s+1)}(u)$ which possess equal representations in both spaces, and thus at the degenerate points again reduce to the projection operators $\mathcal{P}_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{\pm}$. Applying the same principles recursively the *R*-matrices with arbitrary fusion content in any space are obtained through expression (2.1). These fused *R*-matrices again obey the Yang-Baxter equation when considering higher representations

$$R_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{(a_i,s_i),(a_j,s_j)}(u-v)R_{\{i\},\{k\}}^{(a_i,s_i),(a_k,s_k)}(u)R_{\{j\},\{k\}}^{(a_j,s_j),(a_k,s_k)}(v) = R_{\{j\},\{k\}}^{(a_j,s_j),(a_k,s_k)}(v)R_{\{i\},\{k\}}^{(a_i,s_i),(a_k,s_k)}(u)R_{\{i\},\{j\}}^{(a_i,s_i),(a_j,s_j)}(u-v).$$

$$(2.4)$$

The opposite sign in the shift of argument for the different spaces is introduced so that the argument where the *R*-matrix reduces to the permutator is retained at $u = 0^1$.

From the fused *R*-matrices the monodromy and transfer matrices acting in nonfundamental representations in the quantum and auxiliary space can be constructed through the defining relations (1.25) and (1.37) [70, 155]. Furthermore, in the definition of the transfer matrix with non-fundamental auxiliary space, the cyclicity property of the trace over the auxiliary space allows the product of any two transfer matrices to be written as a sum of transfer matrices of different fusion content [94], for example

$$T^{(1,s)}(u-2)T^{(1,1)}(u) = T^{(1,s+1)}(u) + T^{(\{1,2\},\{s,1\})}(u-2),$$
(2.5a)

$$T^{(a,1)}(u+2)T^{(1,1)}(u) = T^{(a+1,1)}(u) + T^{(\{1,a\},\{2,1\})}(u+2).$$
(2.5b)

¹For more information on fusion, the shifted arguments of the R-matrix and the resulting functional relations see [93, 152] or appendix A

Here the indices (a, s) indicate the fusion indices in the auxiliary space of $T^{(a,s)}(u)$. In these equations the fusion content in the quantum space is fixed here therefore the fusion index (a_q, s_q) is dropped as shall be done in following equations where that is

the case. The notation ($\{1,2\}, \{s,1\}$) and ($\{1,a\}, \{2,1\}$) indicates the diagram and its transpose where $s \to a$ (for more on this notation see [102] and appendix A).

It was realized that equation (2.5a) and (2.5b) could be rewritten as determinant relations

$$T^{(\{1,2\}\{2,1\})}(u) = \begin{vmatrix} T^{(2,1)}(u) & T^{(3,1)}(u-2) \\ T^{(0,1)}(u) & T^{(1,1)}(u-2) \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} T^{(1,2)}(u) & T^{(1,3)}(u+2) \\ T^{(1,0)}(u) & T^{(1,1)}(u+2) \end{vmatrix},$$
(2.6)

provided that the following boundary conditions on $T^{(a,s)}(u)$ for limiting values of a and s hold

$$\begin{cases} T^{(a,s)}(u) = 0 & s < 0 \\ T^{(a,s)}(u) = 1 & s = 0, \end{cases} \begin{cases} T^{(a,s)}(u) = 0 & a < 0, a > n \\ T^{(a,s)}(u) = 1 & a = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

Moreover, applying the fusion process recursively it was proven [10, 66, 118] that transfer matrices with arbitrary rectangular representation in the auxiliary space can be decomposed into determinants comprised of transfer matrices with only single row diagram representations in the auxiliary space $T^{(a,1)}(u)$ and $T^{(1,s)}(u)$

$$T^{(a,s)}(u) = \det_{1 \le j,k \le a} T^{(1,s+j-k)}(u+2j-2)$$
(2.8a)

$$= \det_{1 \le j,k \le s} T^{(a+j-k,1)}(u-2j+2).$$
(2.8b)

Finally, in [10, 66, 79] it was shown using induction and the Jacobi identity for the determinants (2.8a) and (2.8b) that the following coupled bilinear set of equations can be derived for fused transfer matrices

$$T^{(a,s)}(u-2)T^{(a,s)}(u) - T^{(a,s+1)}(u-2)T^{(a,s-1)}(u) = T^{(a-1,s)}(u-2)T^{(a+1,s)}(u).$$
(2.9)

This bilinear functional relation is the initial parameterization for the fusion hierarchy also known as the *T*-system. It is important to notice here that *s* is not bounded by a finite value, since one can always construct a representation of higher dimension by adding and symmetrizing another space to it. For the other index *a* there is a finite maximum value corresponding to the completely antisymmetrized state where a = n and the transfer matrix acts as a scalar function in the auxiliary space with eigenvalue $T^{(n,s)}(u) = Q_{det}(n, s, s_q, a_q, u)$ known as the quantum determinant [89]. This function takes on different values depending on the level of fusion in both the quantum and auxiliary space, its solution will be discussed in more detail below.

To obtain explicit expressions for arbitrary $T^{(a,s)}(u)$ in $U_q[SU(n)]$, knowledge of the boundary conditions together with the finite set of functions $T^{(1,1)}(u)$, $T^{(2,1)}(u)$ \dots $T^{(n,1)}$ is required. The limiting values given by $T^{(a,1)}(u)$ can be derived in several ways, directly solving the fusion problem on the level of the *R*-matrix is useful for the case where a = n. For the $a \neq n$ case start with low n and calculate $T^{(a,s)}(u)$ small a and s through (2.5a) and (2.5b). Once $T^{(a,1)}(u)$ are known for several small n the progression of $T^{(a,s)}(u)$ can be calculated for arbitrary a, s, n using (2.8b) and the following pattern emerges. Let

$$\frac{n_{1,1}}{u} = \lambda_{n_{1,1}}(u)$$
(2.10)

where $1 \leq n_{1,1} \leq n$ and $\lambda_{n_{1,1}}(u)$ is one of the summants in the transfer matrix eigenvalue (1.64) for $U_q[SU(n)]$ with fusion index (1,1) in the auxiliary space and some fusion level (a_q, s_q) in the quantum space². Then the fused partial eigenvalue in the auxiliary space is given by

$$\begin{vmatrix} n_{1,1} & \dots & n_{1,m} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ n_{a,1} & \dots & n_{a,s} \end{vmatrix}_{u} = \prod_{j=1}^{a} \prod_{k=1}^{s} \boxed{n_{j,k}}_{u+2(k-s)-2(j-a)}.$$
(2.11)

This representation of the fused partial eigenvalues follows from the Yangian representation of the transfer matrix [25, 32, 71, 96] which labels the irreducible representations of the highest weight state in the auxiliary space by means of Young tableaux in the same way as is done in the familiar Clebsch-Gordan problem of reducing the tensor product of two states into their finite dimensional irreducible representations. The complete transfer matrix eigenvalue for rectangular representations (a, s) can then be expressed as

$$T^{(a,s)}(u) = \sum_{\{n_{j,k}\}} \begin{vmatrix} n_{1,1} & \dots & n_{1,s} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ n_{a,1} & \dots & n_{a,s} \end{vmatrix}_{u}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where the sum over $\{n_{j,k}\}$ runs over all admissible fillings of the rectangular Young tableaux³.

All of the relations presented above also hold for the rotated vertex weights (1.24) in the definition of the QTM (1.25) due to the rotated vertex having the same intertwiner. Introducing again the rotation $u \rightarrow iu$ as was done in section 1.3.1 and onward makes all the shifts in the *T*-system complex

$$T^{(a,s)}(u+2i)T^{(a,s)}(u) - T^{(a,s+1)}(u+2i)T^{(a,s-1)}(u) = T^{(a-1,s)}(u+2i)T^{(a+1,s)}(u).$$
(2.13)

²Direct application of (2.3b) shows that fucion in the quantum space results in *R*-matrices of the order $u^{a_q+s_q-1}$. These extra terms *u* do not alter the transfer matrix eigenvalues beyond the parameters of the generalized model (1.40) and (1.53) and do not influence the fusion structure described above. Explicit expressions for these parameters were obtained by iterative application of the defining relations (2.3b), for further discussion see appendix A.

³The equations for non-rectangular Young tableaux are not considered here because currently there exists no known way of solving such systems by NLIE. This is mainly because the bilinear fusion relation does not hold in the form of (2.24) but contains additional (linear) terms [102] and the methods in section 3 do not apply. More exotic instances of these functional equations beyond non-rectangular diagrams involving many semi-simple Lie algebras exist and can be found in [66, 87, 108, 141, 145].

It is clear from (2.1), the resulting determinant relation and T-system that the transfer matrix eigenvalues for non-fundamental representations are polynomials of order $u^{N(a+s+a_q+s_q-3)}$ where (a_q, s_q) indicates the fusion content in the quantum space. Most of the zeros of these polynomials are common among all the partial eigenvalues of $T^{(a,s)}$ (in the sum (2.12)) and are therefore removable at the cost of transferring some of these zeros to the boundary values (2.25) to conserve the structure of the T-system. In the special case of fundamental representations in the quantum space all common zeros can be extracted in a way that is consistent with (2.13). Since this work will deal with equal non-fundamental representations in the quantum and auxiliary space, some of the zeros need to be kept to maintain the structure of (2.13). Proper bookkeeping of what normalization is used is important because the Bäcklund formalism requires the structure of the T-system to be maintained for the derivation of the auxiliary linear problems (ALP) that will become the NLIE. Once the ALP are known the conservation of the T-system is no longer needed and the minimal polynomial normalization is restored, which is required to retrieve closed expressions for the NLIE from the ALP. With this in mind, the next section will be used to introduce several normalizations of the fused transfer matrix eigenvalues and the respective changes in the boundary conditions (2.7).

2.2 Normalization

In this section the transformation from determinant normalization to minimal polynomial normalization [85, 155] is performed for transfer matrix eigenvalues. This normalization greatly simplifies the transfer matrix eigenvalues by removing common zeros and the formulation of the *T*-system boundary conditions as well as the expressions in the Bäcklund formalism. In the determinant normalization the transfer matrix eigenvalues have the maximum number of zeros and is of order $u^{N(a+s+a_q+s_q-3)}$ as follows directly from the fusion procedure presented above. In this normalization the boundary conditions for the *T*-system (2.13) and determinant relations (2.8a), (2.8b) are given by (2.7). In the minimal polynomial normalization the zeros common to all partial eigenvalues are extracted such that the remaining transfer matrix eigenvalue is a polynomial of order $u^{N(a_q+s_q-1)}$. To extract these polynomials in a way that is consistent with the *T*-system and determinant relations requires the introduction of new boundary conditions for $T^{(0,s)}(u)$ and $T^{(a,0)}(u)$ (2.7) which shall also be polynomials of order $u^{N(a_q+sq-1)}$.

With this in mind, let the trivial zeros of a transfer matrix eigenvalue be defined as the zeros resulting from an overall polynomial term that is common among all partial transfer matrix eigenvalues for each eigenvalue solving the *T*-system with boundary conditions (2.7). And let all trivial zeros from the transfer matrix eigenvalue at every level of fusion be parameterized by the polynomial $\Phi(a, s, a_q, s_q, u)$ that carries the fusion index for the auxiliary (a, s) and quantum space (a_q, s_q) . Then the minimal polynomial transfer matrix eigenvalues that are not at the boundary are related to the determinant normalized transfer matrix above by

$$\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u) := \frac{T^{(a,s)}(u)}{\Phi(a,s,a_q,s_q;u)}.$$
(2.14)

Explicit expressions for $\Phi(a, s, a_q, s_q; u)$ can be found by inspection of the transfer matrix eigenvalues for $T^{(a,s)}(u)$ obtained through the iterative procedure described in the previous section. Extracting the zeros for several $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric systems with increasing a, s, a_q, s_q allows one to infer a general expression for the normalization. As an illustration some of the fundamental cases are shown below.

To obtain the boundary conditions in the minimal polynomial normalization simply substitute (2.14) into the *T*-system and cancel all common zeros to obtain a *T*-system of the form

$$\begin{split} \tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u+2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u) &- \Pi_1(a,s,a_q,s_q;u)\tilde{T}^{(a,s+1)}(u+2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}(u) \\ &= \Pi_2(a,s,a_q,s_q;u)\tilde{T}^{(a-1,s)}(u+2i)\tilde{T}^{(a+1,s)}(u). \end{split}$$

Here the remaining polynomial terms consisting of products of $\phi_{\pm}(u)$ are indicated by $\Pi_{1,2}(a, s, a_q, s_q; z)$. In the case where $(s_q, a_q) = (1, 1)$ all products $\Pi_{1,2}(a, s, 1, 1; z)$ vanish for a, s > 1 and the remaining terms can be absorbed into $\tilde{T}^{(0,s)}(u)$ and $\tilde{T}^{(a,0)}(u)$ leading to the new boundary conditions. Unfortunately in the non-fundamental case considered in this work (where $a_q > 1$ or $s_q > 1$) it was already observed [65] that non-vanishing terms for $\Pi_1 \Pi_2$ occur when $s = s_a$ and $a = a_a^4$. These non-vanishing terms can not be absorbed into the boundary and the structure of the T-system is broken. One way to fix this is to insert these polynomial terms back into $\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}$ and $T^{(a-1,s)}$ (which for a, s > 1 are now transfer matrix eigenvalues) breaking the minimal polynomial requirement and thus a true minimal polynomial solution for the T-system does not exist when $a_q, s_q > 1$. Because the resulting boundary conditions are still instrumental to the derivation of the Bäcklund formalism later in this work, this compromise will be accepted, and an extra set of boundary conditions will be introduced to keep track of the additional zeros that were re-introduced. These zeros will be extracted again when numerically integrating the NLIE. For now, the boundary conditions for the case where $a_q = 1$ will be presented below because the numerical evaluation of $U_q[SU(4)]$ shall not be presented in this work and was not derived. For the $U_q[SU(3)]$ case $a_q = 2$ was not considered because the *R*-matrix for $a_q = a = 2$ is equal to the expression of $a_q = a = 1$ leading to no new results.

The derivation of the new boundary conditions in the minimal polynomial normalization the transfer matrix eigenvalues were derived iteratively for several cases of s_q, a, s and $a_q = 1$ to find the trivial zeros $\Phi(a, s, 1, s_q; u)$. For $U_q[SU(2)]$ this results in

$$\Phi(1, s, 1, s_q, u) = \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{s} \frac{\prod_{k=1}^{s_k} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3)))}{\phi_+(u+i(2j-s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-s_q-3)))} & s_q \ge s\\ \prod_{k=1}^{s_q} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{s} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3)))}{\phi_+(u-i(2k-s_q-1))\phi_-(u-i(2k-s_q+1))} & s_q \le s \end{cases}$$

$$(2.15)$$

⁴A similar statement seems to be made for other algebras in [146].

for $U_q[SU(3)]$,

$$\begin{split} \Phi(1, s, 1, s_q; u) &= \\ \begin{cases} \prod_{1 \le j \le s} \frac{\prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))}{\phi_+(u+i(2(j-s_q-3))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))} & s_q \ge s \\ \prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \frac{\prod_{1 \le j \le s} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))}{\phi_+(u-i(2k-s_q-1))\phi_-(u-i(2k-s_q+1)} & s_q \le s. \end{cases} (2.16) \\ \Phi(2, s, 1, s_q; u) &= \\ \begin{cases} \prod_{1 \le j \le s} \frac{\prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))}{\phi_+(u+i(2j-s_q-1))} & s_q \le s. \\ \prod_{1 \le j \le s} \frac{\prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3)))}{\phi_-(u+i(2j+s_q-5))} & s_q \ge s \\ \prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \frac{\prod_{1 \le j \le s} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3)))}{\phi_+(u-i(2k-s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))} & s_q \le s \\ \prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \frac{\prod_{1 \le j \le s} \phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3)))}{\phi_-(u+i(2(s-k)+s_q-3))} & s_q \le s \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

Extending the results above to arbitrary rank the general norm for the QTM is conjectured to be

$$\Phi(a, s, 1, s_q; u) = \begin{cases}
\prod_{\substack{1 \le j \le s \\ 1 \le k \le s_q} 1 \le l \le a} \prod_{\substack{1 \le j \le s \\ 1 \le l \le a}} (u+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q+1)\phi_{-}(u+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q-1))) \\
\prod_{\substack{1 \le j \le s \\ 1 \le j \le s \\ 1 \le l \le a}} (1+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q+1)\phi_{-}(u+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q-1))) \\
\frac{1 \le k \le s_q}{\prod_{\substack{1 \le k \le s_q \\ 1 \le k \le s_q}} (1+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q+1)\phi_{-}(u+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q-1)))} \\
\frac{1 \le k \le s_q}{\prod_{\substack{1 \le k \le s_q \\ 1 \le k \le s_q \\ 0 \le k \le q}} (1+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q-1))\phi_{-}(u+i(2(j-l-k)+s_q-3)))} \\
= s_q \le s.$$
(2.18)

By the same process the quantum determinants where found to be

$$T^{(2,s)(1,s_q)} = \prod_{j=1}^{s} \prod_{k=1}^{s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))\phi_+(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q+1)) \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\phi_-(u+i(2(j+k)-s_q-3))\phi_-(u+i(2(j+k)-s_q-7))$$

and

$$T^{(3,s)(1,s_q)}(u) = \prod_{1 \le j \le s} \prod_{1 \le k \le s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2(j+k-s_q-1))\phi_+(u+i(2(j+k-s_q-5)))))$$

$$\phi_+(u+i(2(j+k-s_q-7))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-1)))))$$

$$\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-3))\phi_-(u+i(2(j-k)+s_q-7))).$$
(2.20)

As shall be demonstrated shortly the quantum determinant in the minimal polynomial normalization will be part of the boundary conditions and in essence all zeros related to it can be considered as removable. Inserting the norms derived above into the *T*-system for the case where $a_q = 1$ all polynomial terms can either cancel or can consistently be absorbed into the boundary for $\tilde{T}^{(0,s)}(u)$, $\tilde{T}^{(n,s)}(u)$ with the remaining term needing to be reinserted into $\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}(u)$

$$\begin{cases}
\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u) - \tilde{T}^{(a-1,s)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a+1,s)}(u) \\
= \tilde{T}^{(a,s+1)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}(u) & s \neq s_q \\
\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u) - \tilde{T}^{(a-1,s)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a+1,s)}(u) \\
= \phi_+(u+i(s_q-1))\phi_-(u+i(s_q-3))\tilde{T}^{(a,s+1)}(u-2i)\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}(u) & s = s_q \\
(2.21)
\end{cases}$$

Reinserting the zeros into the term for $\tilde{T}^{(a,s-1)}(u)$ results into a cumulative product of additional zeros where $s < s_q$

$$T_s^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q-s} \phi_+(u+i(-2j+s_q-s+a+1))\phi_-(u-i(2j-s_q+s+a-1))$$

$$\times \tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u-i(s-a)).$$
(2.22)

The previous expression will ensure that the *T*-system is maintained and will function as the additional boundary condition on the transfer matrix eigenvalues that keeps track of the zeros which need to be extracted when numerically integrating the NLIE. The resulting transfer matrix eigenvalue $T_s^a(u)$ is somewhere in between the determinant and minimal polynomial normalization. In the previous expression a shift in argument was introduced to match the definition in section 1.3.1 and onward, from here on the minimal polynomial transfer matrix shall thus be indicated by

$$T'_{s}^{a}(u) := \tilde{T}^{(a,s)}(u - i(s - a)).$$
(2.23)

This shift changes the equations (2.21) to the bilinear fusion relations of Hirota form

$$T_s^a(u-i)T_s^a(u+i) - T_{s+1}^a(u)T_{s-1}^a(u) = T_s^{a-1}(u)T_s^{a+1}(u),$$
(2.24)

and ensures that in the case where $a_q = a$ and $s_q = s$, $T'_s^a(u)$ results again in the partition function of the Perk-Schultz Hamiltonian in the thermodynamic limit (1.28) at u = 0 (i.e. the monodromy matrix for $(a, s, a_q, s_q) = (1, s, 1, s_q)$ reduces to a product of permutation operators at this point).

After normalization (2.15), shifting the spectral parameter (2.23) and reinserting the extra zeros (2.22) the boundary conditions of the *T*-system in the case QTM with $a_q = 1$ become

$$T_s^n(u) = \bar{\phi}_+(u+i(s+n))\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+n))$$
(2.25a)

$$T_s^0(u) = \bar{\phi}_+(u - is)\bar{\phi}_-(u + is)$$
(2.25b)

$$T_0^a(u) = \bar{\phi}_+(u+ia)\bar{\phi}_-(u-ia)$$
(2.25c)

$$T_s^{-1}(u) = T_{-1}^a(u) = 0 \quad if \ a > 0, \ and \ T_s^{n+1}(u) = 0 \tag{2.25d}$$

where

$$\bar{\phi}_{-}(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_{-}(u - i(2j - s_q - 1))$$
(2.26a)

$$\bar{\phi}_{+}(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_{+}(u + i(2j - s_q - 1)).$$
(2.26b)

The boundary conditions above including the one for $T_0^a(u)$ now match the minimal polynomial boundary conditions of [155] where the $s_q = 1$ is treated (extended here to the QTM). The additional polynomials introduced to the minimal polynomial eigenvalues $T'_s^a(u)$ at the *s* boundary are given by

$$T_s^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q-s} \phi_+(u+i(2j-s_q+s-1+a))\phi_-(u-i(2j-s_q+s-1+a))T'_s^a(u)$$
(2.27)

$$T'_{0}^{a}(u) = 1. (2.28)$$

with this addition all algebraic manipulations with the T-system and its solutions remain the same as in the literature [85, 155]. Only when evaluating the system numerically and the minimal polynomial formulation is needed these terms need to be extracted as shall be demonstrated in a later chapter.

2.3 Asymptotic value of $T_s^a(u)$, connection to Schur character formula

In the following chapters the integral relations involving the fusion hierarchy (2.24) will be presented. Solving these equations requires the evaluation of the constant term after integration which in turn depends on the asymptotic value of the transfer matrix eigenvalue $T_s^a(u)$. For this purpose another normalization of the transfer matrix eigenvalue with constant asymptotic value shall be introduced

$$\bar{T}_s^a(u) = \frac{T_s^a(u)}{\prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2j+a-1)\phi_-(u-i(2j+a-1)))}.$$
(2.29)

This normalization also serves as useful tool to demonstrate the connection of the Bazhanov-Reshetikhin determinant equations (2.8a) and (2.8b) to the Jacobi-Trudi determinant formula for characters [66]. First consider the limit $u \to \infty$ on $\bar{T}_s^a(u)$. In this limit the Bethe equations trivialize which can be interpreted as the spin chain being void of any particles. Due to the normalization, the transfer matrix is of highest order $\mathcal{O}(u^0)$ and thus converges to a constant value which can be easily seen by expanding the previous expression in orders of u following [147]

$$\bar{T}_{\lambda}(u) = \chi_{\lambda}(g)\mathbb{I} + \frac{2i}{u}\sum_{j=1}^{N} \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbb{P}_{\{i\}\{j\}}\pi_{\lambda}(g)\right) + \mathcal{O}(1/u^{2}).$$
(2.30)

Here $\operatorname{tr}_{\pi_{\lambda}}(g) := \chi_{\lambda}(g)$ indicates character of twist matrix g in representation π_{λ} , \mathbb{P} is the permutation operator and the trace runs over the auxiliary space $\{j\}$. In the transfer matrix (1.22) this twist is related to the field H_{ext} . In the case of trivial twist this character reduces to the sum of the number of single tableaux in the definition (2.12). Transfer matrices of this type where the leading term is given by the identity operator followed by higher order terms that can be expanded in terms of generators of the underlying algebra are elements of the Yangian algebra [71], the representation theory of this algebra has been an intensive field of study [18, 25, 96, 109].

Applying a similar limit to the equations (2.8a) and (2.8b) results in the Jacobi-Trudi formula for characters

$$\chi(a,s) = \det_{1 \le j,k \le a} \chi(1,s+j-k) = \det_{1 \le j,k \le s} \chi(a+j-k,1)$$
(2.31)

and similarly the fusion hierarchy (2.24) results in the following "Hirota identity" for characters

$$\chi^2(a,s) = \chi(a+1,s)\chi(a-1,s) + \chi(a,s+1)\chi(a,s-1).$$
(2.32)

In [96] it is argued that the transfer matrices are in fact just the characters dressed with the spectral parameter (called "Yang-Baxterization" of the algebra in the same paper, see also [109]). This idea was further developed in [66] where the transfer matrix is defined as a product of co-derivatives acting on this character. In the same work the Bazhanov-Reshetikhin determinant formulas (2.8a) and (2.8b) were proven by applying the same method on the expression (2.31). Using the connection between the characters and Schur polynomial functions

$$\chi_{\lambda}(g) = s_{\lambda}(y_1, y_2, \dots) = \det_{i, j=1, \dots, l(\lambda)} h_{\lambda_i - i + j}(y_1, y_2, \dots),$$
(2.33)

the fusion hierarchy 2.24 was proven as a corollary by considering each term in (2.32) as relations between minors of determinants over the Yang-Baxterized symmetric Schur functions $h_j(y_1, y_2, ...)$, which again can be identified with transfer matrices this time with Young tableaux of reduced size. The variables $y_1, y_2, ...$ in the previous equations are related to the eigenvalues of the matrix $\pi_{\lambda}(g)$, λ_i indicate the rows of the Young tableau and $l(\lambda)$ the length of the largest row (the previous formula also holds for non-rectangular diagrams) [157].

In [3, 64] this co-derivative approach was further developed to establish a true similarity between the classical Hirota integrable systems proving the claims in [85] that the Bäcklund method also applies to quantum transfer matrices. This point shall be elaborated on in chapter 4.

2.4 Pictorial method for fusion equations

In this section a convenient illustration of the principles introduced above shall be re-iterated in the pictorial representation of partial eigenvalues using Young tableaux (2.10). The pictorial notation is a useful shorthand and tool for describing and deriving fused transfer matrix eigenvalues. It will also feature in later chapters when identifying the connection of the expressions appearing in the Bäcklund flow to the transfer matrix eigenvalue.

Considering the case of $U_q[SU(3)]$ as the leading example, the partial eigenvalues (1.63) in the single box Young tableau notation corresponding to the fundamental un-fused eigenvalue (a, s) = (1, 1) for $(a_q, s_q) = (1, 1)$ are given by

$$(a_q, s_q) = (1, 1)$$

$$\boxed{1} = \phi_+(u)\phi_-(u-2i)\frac{Q_1(u+2i)}{Q_1(u)}$$
(2.34a)

$$\boxed{2} = \phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{1}(u-2i)Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{1}(u)Q_{2}(u)}$$
(2.34b)

$$\boxed{3} = \phi_+(u+2i)\phi_-(u)\frac{Q_2(u-2i)}{Q_2(u)}.$$
(2.34c)

Naturally these sum up to the eigenvalue in full giving

$$T_1^1(u+x) = \left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^x.$$
 (2.35)

The additional argument x was included here to denote the shifts that occur when constructing combined diagrams representing non-fundamental representations in the auxiliary space, these shifts follow the same structure as they appear in the T-system (2.24). To demonstrate consider (a, s) = (1, 1) and $(a_q, s_q) = (1, 1)$ by substituting the previous expression for $T_1^1(u)$ into the T-system resulting in a sum of nine terms that can be arranged into two types of allowed fillings of the Young diagram stacked horizontally and vertically respectively

$$\left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{-i} \cdot \left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{+i} = \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{2}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|_{+i}^{-i}$$

+
$$\left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{1} + \boxed{1} + \boxed{1} + \boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} + \boxed{3} \\ \left(\boxed{i} \right) \Big|^{(i,-i)} .$$
 (2.36)

Focusing on the final term

$$T_0^1(u)T_2^1(u) = \left(\boxed{1}\ 1 + \boxed{1}\ 2 + \boxed{1}\ 3 + \boxed{2}\ 2 + \boxed{2}\ 3 + \boxed{3}\ 3 \right)\Big|^{(i,-i)}$$
(2.37)

the right hand side can be reconstructed with the fundamental box notation as

$$\begin{aligned} (a_q, s_q) &= (1, 1) \\ \hline \underline{1 \ | 1 \ |}^{(i,-i)} &= \phi_+(u+i)\phi_+(u-i)\phi_-(u-i)\phi_-(u-3i)\frac{Q_1(u+3i)}{Q_1(u-i)} \\ \hline \underline{1 \ | 2 \ |}^{(i,-i)} &= \phi_+(u+i)\phi_+(u-i)(\phi_-(u-i))^2\frac{Q_1(u+3i)}{Q_1(u+i)}\frac{Q_1(u-3i)Q_2(u+i)}{Q_1(u-i)Q_2(u-i)} \\ \hline \underline{1 \ | 3 \ |}^{(i,-i)} &= (\phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-i))^2\frac{Q_1(u+3i)}{Q_1(u+i)}\frac{Q_2(u-3i)}{Q_2(u-i)} \\ etc. \end{aligned}$$

Here the overall polynomial term is easily recognized as the term assigned to the boundary $T_0^1(u) = \phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-i)$ equal to (2.25c) whereas the remaining sum represents $T_2^1(u)$.

For the case where $s_q = 2$ the following partial eigenvalues are easily identified by direct solution of the fusion problem on the level of the *R*-matrix

$$(a_q, s_q) = (1, 2)$$

$$\boxed{1} = \phi_+(u+i)\phi_+(u-i)\phi_-(u-i)\phi_-(u-3i)\frac{Q_1(u+2i)}{Q_1(u)}$$
(2.38)

$$\boxed{2} = \phi_+(u+i)\phi_+(u-i)\phi_-(u+i)\phi_-(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u-2i)Q_2(u+2i)}{Q_1(u)Q_2(u)}$$
(2.39)

$$\boxed{3} = \phi_+(u+3i)\phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u+i)\phi_-(u-i)\frac{Q_2(u-2i)}{Q_2(u)}.$$
(2.40)

It is clear from these expressions that the summed eigenvalue contains the overall polynomial term that is accounted for in the minimal polynomial formulation by (2.27) $T_1^1(u) = \phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-i)T'_1^1(u)$. Repeating the exercise of constructing the fused eigenvalues in the *T*-system propagates this overall polynomial into boundary term $T_0^1(u) \stackrel{s_q=1}{=} \phi_+(u-2i)\phi_+(u)\phi_-(u)\phi_-(u-2i)$ corresponding to (2.25c) in addition to the term $T_2^1(u)$. If however the minimal polynomial boundary condition corresponding to $T'_1(u)$ was taken these overall polynomial terms are absent and do not propagate resulting in the minimal polynomial formulation $T'_0^1(u) = 1$. In that case, repeating the exercise for $s = s_q = 2$ with minimal polynomial boundary conditions the *T*-system would contain the additional term presented in (2.21).

These relations between the algebraic and graphical Young tableaux notation shall later be used for the intuitive description of the Bäcklund equations which also feature a diagrammatic representation connected to that of the transfer matrix eigenvalues. In this description the *T*-system shall feature as a kind of *master equation* in the spirit of [66]. For the case of finite s = 1 these take the form

$$\begin{split} \left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right)^{-i} \cdot \left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right)^{+i} &= T_1^0(u) \cdot \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{2}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|_{+i}^{-i} \\ &+ T_0^1(u) \cdot \left(\boxed{11} + \boxed{12} + \boxed{13} + \boxed{22} + \boxed{23} + \boxed{33} \right) \Big|_{+i}^{(i,-i)} \qquad (M1) \\ \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{2}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|_{+0}^{-2i} \cdot \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{2}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|_{+2i}^{+0} &= T_1^3(u) \cdot \left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|_{+0}^{+0} \\ &+ T_0^2(u) \cdot \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{22}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{23}} + \boxed{\frac{12}{23}} + \boxed{\frac{11}{33}} + \boxed{\frac{12}{33}} + \boxed{\frac{22}{33}} \right) \Big|_{(+2i,0)}^{(0,-2i)}. \qquad (M2) \end{split}$$

Further application of these equations and the diagrammatic formulation shall be presented in section 4.6.

$$\begin{array}{c|c|c} {T'}^a_s(u) & \pm i(2j+s_q+a-s-1) & 0 < j < s+1, \ s \le s_q \\ Q_n(u) & \pm i(s-1) - \mathcal{O}(i\beta) \end{array}$$

Table 2.1: Position of the constant lines parallel to the real line around which the zeros and poles for $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric quantum transfer matrix eigenvalues and Q-functions for $a_q = 1$ are distributed.

2.5 Analyticity conditions of fused QTM eigenvalues

Using the methods described above the transfer matrix eigenvalue at any level of fusion can be derived. Although these expressions are not needed explicitly, the analyticity conditions of the eigenvalue and its constituents need to be known when deriving the NLIE. As for the fundamental case described in section 1.4.2 these analyticity conditions will be considered in the largest eigenvalue sector which describes the free energy through (1.29). Due to the recursive nature of the *T*-system the NLIE for higher representations contain several eigenvalues for $T_s^a(u)$ with $(a, s) \leq (a_q, s_q)$ which all depend on the solution of a separate set of Bethe equations that are nonfundamental generalizations of those presented in section 1.4.2. These Bethe equations again guarantee that the eigenvalues are free of poles [86, 88]. Plots for the distribution of Bethe roots and zeros of the transfer matrix eigenvalue for $U_q[SU(2)]$ and $U_q[SU(3)]$ can be found in [38] and [144] respectively. For the non-fundamental cases the Bethe roots again form finitely spaced curved lines parallel to the real line around certain constant values. For the $U_q[SU(n)]$ case at $a_q = 1$ these constant values are displayed in table 2.1 together with the roots of $T'_s^a(u)$ evaluated at these values.

Chapter 3

From functional relations to non-linear integral equations

In this short chapter it will be demonstrated how the finite closed sets of Non-Linear Integral Equations (NLIE) are derived from the *T*-system for the QTM eigenvalue. This method was pioneered in [82] and extended upon in subsequent works [20, 32, 83, 127], it finds its main application in the derivation of thermodynamic quantities at finite temperatures as was argued in section 1.2. It heavily depends on the closure of the infinite fusion hierarchy (2.24) by the ad-hoc introduction of special auxiliary functions. The main goal of this thesis is to replace this ad-hoc method with a more systematic approach that is found in the application of the Bäcklund formalism to the QTM as will be described in the next chapter. At the end of this chapter a summary of the requirements on the auxiliary functions shall be given which will be used as a rule of thumb when deriving the constructive method from the Bäcklund formalism. The numeric solution and limiting values of the resulting NLIE will be presented in chapter 5.

3.1 Non-linear integral equations

From the structure of the fusion hierarchy (2.24) and its dependence on the fusion content a and s it is clear that solution of the physically relevant eigenvalue of $T_{s_q}^{a_q}(u)$ requires the simultaneous consideration of all $T_s^a(u)$ with $0 \le a \le n$ and $0 \le s < \infty$. In particular the hierarchy (2.24) comprises an infinite set of equations in s. To truncate this hierarchy we follow [20, 32, 78, 82, 83, 127] and introduce the formulation of the fusion hierarchy known as the y-system [92],

$$y_s^a(u+i)y_s^a(u-i) = \frac{Y_{s+1}^a(u)Y_{s-1}^a(u)}{(1+(y_s^{a+1}(u))^{-1})(1+(y_s^{a-1}(u))^{-1})}.$$
(3.1)

Where

$$y_s^a(u) = \frac{T_{s+1}^a(u)T_{s-1}^a(u)}{T_s^{a+1}(u)T_s^{a-1}(u)}$$
(3.2)

$$Y_s^a(u) = 1 + y_s^a(u) = \frac{T_s^a(u+i)T_s^a(u-i)}{T_s^{a+1}(u)T_s^{a-1}(u)}.$$
(3.3)

These equations again form an infinite recursive set in s which is resolved by the introduction of a set of j auxiliary functions $\mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^a(u)$ and $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u) := 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^a(u)$ that depend on quotients (denoted by f_j and g_j) of well-defined functions appearing in NABA and fusion such as $\phi_{\pm}(u)$, $Q_k(u)$ (see section 1.4.1) and partial sums of the (non-fundamental) QTM eigenvalue

$$\mathfrak{B}^{a}_{s,j}(u) = f_j[\phi_{\pm}(u), Q_k(u), T^{a\pm 1}_s(u), \{F^{a}_s(u), \tilde{F}^{a}_s(u) \dots \}]$$
(3.4)

$$\mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^{a}(u) = g_{j}[\phi_{\pm}(u), Q_{k}(u), T_{s}^{a\pm1}(u), \{F_{s}^{a}(u), \tilde{F}_{s}^{a}(u)\dots\}].$$
(3.5)

Here $\{F_s^a(u), \tilde{F}_s^a(u), ...\}$ indicate the partial sums over the eigenvalue $T_s^a(u)$ which will be identified with new functions appearing in the Bäcklund formalism in the next chapter. For the fundamental representation these Bäcklund functions will look like $F_1^1(u) = \frac{Q_n(u)}{\phi_+(u)}(\lambda_1(u) + \lambda_2(u)), \tilde{F}_1^1(u) = \frac{Q_1(u)}{\phi_-(u)}(\lambda_{n-1}(u) + \lambda_n(u))$ (cf. (1.64)), and for fused representations will be proportional to partial sums of (2.12). Furthermore, the auxiliary functions are related to the *y*-system through the special property of $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u)$:

$$Y_s^a(u) = 1 + y_s^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{j_{max}} \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{j_{max}} (1 + \mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^a(u)),$$
(3.6)

where $j_{max} = 2, 6, 14$ in the known cases of $U_q[SU(n)]$ when n = 2, 3, 4 [20, 32, 82]. Through the previous relation the auxiliary functions by definition truncate the fusion hierarchy (2.24) at finite $s = s_q$ since the dependency on the highest level eigenvalue $T_{s+1}^a(u)$ in $y_s^a(u)$ (3.2) is replaced by $\mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^a(u)$ and $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u)$ which only depend on $T_s^{a\pm 1}(u)$ and $T_{s-1}^{a\pm 1}(u)$ and the Bäcklund functions with the same fusion index $\{F_s^a(u), \tilde{F}_s^a(u), \ldots\}$. For the readers' convenience the auxiliary functions described in the previous works are reproduced in appendix C where it is easily checked that the relation (3.6) holds.

In the relations (3.4) and (3.5) the quotients f_j and g_j generally have the same denominator which allows for the relation $\mathfrak{B}^a_{s,j}(u) = \mathfrak{b}^a_{s,j}(u) + 1$ to be rewritten as bilinear functional relations. In section 4 it will be shown that these bilinear relations appear as *auxiliary linear problems* (ALP) in the Bäcklund formalism.

To determine the relevant eigenvalue $T_s^a(u)$ with $a = a_q, s = s_q$ and its derivatives in the thermodynamic limit the related problem (3.3) is solved by the application of the Fourier transform to the logarithmic derivatives of the auxiliary functions of $\mathfrak{b}_{s,i}^a(u), \mathfrak{B}_{s,i}^a(u), \mathfrak{g}_{s'}^a(u)$ and $Y_{s'}^a(u)$ for $s' = 1 \dots s - 1$

$$f[q] := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathcal{C}} e^{-iqu} \partial_u [\ln f(u)] du.$$
(3.7)

Here the integration contour C runs along the analyticity strip similar to the one defined in table 2.1 of section 2.5 for the transfer matrix. All auxiliary functions and its constituents contain such a region free of poles, as shall be discussed shortly. The resulting expressions can be combined in two integral relations for $y_1^a[q], \ldots, y_{s-1}^a[q], Y_1^a[q], \ldots, Y_{s-1}^a[q], \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a[q]$ in terms of the unknown functions $Q_k[q], T_s^a[q], \{F_s^a[q], \tilde{F}_s^a[q], \ldots\}$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q] \\ \vec{\mathfrak{b}}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}_{y}[q] + \mathcal{M}_{1}[q] \begin{pmatrix} T[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q] \\ \vec{\mathfrak{B}}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}_{Y}[q] + \mathcal{M}_{2}[q] \begin{pmatrix} \vec{T}[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.8)

Where the matrices $\mathcal{M}_{1,2}[q]$ and driving terms $\mathcal{D}_{y,Y}[q]$ are expressions composed of explicitly known functions depending on the Fourier transforms of $\partial_u[\ln \phi_{\pm}(u)]$. The vectorized expressions were introduced to collect the auxiliary and unknown functions as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q] \\ \vec{\mathfrak{b}}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (y_1^1[q], y_1^2[q], \dots, y_{s-1}^1[q], y_{s-1}^2[q], \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{s,1}^1[q], \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{s,j_{max}}^a[q])^T \begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q] \\ \vec{\mathfrak{B}}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (Y_1^1[q], Y_1^2[q], \dots, Y_{s-1}^1[q], Y_{s-1}^2[q], \dots, \mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^1[q], \dots, \mathfrak{B}_{s,j_{max}}^a[q])^T \begin{pmatrix} \vec{T}[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (T_1^1[q], T_1^2[q], \dots, T_s^1[q], T_s^2[q], \dots, F_s^1[q], \tilde{F}_s^1[q], \dots, Q_1[q], Q_2[q], \dots)^T.$$

If the matrix $\mathcal{M}_2[q]$ is invertible the systems of equations in (5.36) can be combined. This removes the dependence of the unknown functions from the problem and replaces it by the set of coupled algebraic equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q]\\ \vec{\mathfrak{b}}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}[q] + \mathcal{K}[q] \begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q]\\ \vec{\mathfrak{B}}[q] \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.9)

which are the NLIE in Fourier space. Where the new kernel and driving term result from the combined expressions $\mathcal{K}[q] = \mathcal{M}_1[q]\mathcal{M}_2^{-1}[q]$ and $\mathcal{D}[q] = \mathcal{D}_y[q] + \mathcal{M}_1[q]\mathcal{M}_2^{-1}[q]\mathcal{D}_Y[q]$.

The validity of applying the transform (3.7) follows from the analyticity conditions of the QTM eigenvalue, the auxiliary functions and the other unknown functions. As discussed in sections 1.4.2 and 2.5 the solutions to the Bethe equations for the QTM (1.48) cluster on slightly curved lines parallel to the real line (and for the fused representations, form strings where the solution with smallest imaginary part is near this curved line [81, 127])¹. Study of the BAE solutions, auxiliary functions and

¹Unlike the BAE of row-to-row transfer matrices the roots of the BAE for the QTM do not become dense anywhere on the real line (i.e. are not separated by intervals of order 1/L), and therefore do not allow for a meaningful introduction of density functions as in the treatment of TBA[138].

their constituents at finite but large N and minimal polynomial normalization (see section 2.3) have shown that all these functions are free of poles, are Analytic, Non-Zero and show Constant asymptotic behavior (ANZC) in a strip of width 2i around the real axis. For the case where $N \to \infty$ all zeros and poles of the unknown and auxiliary functions remain outside this analytic strip and therefore the application of the transform (3.7) remains valid in the thermodynamic limit². This completely removes the dependency on the Bethe roots from the problem, replacing it with the analyticity structure of the unknown functions (which will further be discussed in section 5.2). The only N dependence left in the equation (3.9) is therefore in $\mathcal{D}[q]$ which under the normalization described in section 2.3 can be removed by taking the limit $N \to \infty$. Which is well defined in the thermodynamic limit, unlike the driving term for the Y-system of the row-to-row transfer matrix.

To obtain the final expression of the NLIE the inverse Fourier transform

$$\partial_u \ln f(u) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f[q] e^{iqx} dq, \qquad (3.10)$$

followed by integration over u is applied resulting in

$$\begin{pmatrix} \ln \vec{y}(u) \\ \ln \vec{\mathfrak{b}}(u) \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}(u,\beta) + \left[\mathcal{K} * \begin{pmatrix} \ln \vec{Y} \\ \ln \vec{\mathfrak{B}} \end{pmatrix} \right](u) + c.$$
(3.11)

Here $\mathcal{D}(u,\beta)$ is again a vector of driving terms which contains only explicitly known functions depending on temperature and external field variables such as the magnetic field and chemical potential. The constant term c has to be resolved by taking the limit $u \to \pm \infty$ and is absorbed into the driving term. The convolution is defined as

$$[f * g](x) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x - y)g(y)\frac{dy}{2\pi}$$
(3.12)

and

$$K(x) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}[q] e^{iqx} dq, \qquad (3.13)$$

are the integration kernels.

The NLIE (3.11) combined with the relations $Y_s^a(u) = 1 + y_s^a(u)$, $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^a(u)$ fix the auxiliary functions $\ln \vec{y}(u)$ and $\ln \vec{\mathfrak{b}}(u)$. This system of equations can be numerically solved through iteration for discrete u and q at some finite range (the smoothness and vanishing of the auxiliary functions at $u \to \pm \infty$ is again guaranteed by the ANZC properties). The initial condition for the algorithm considered is $(\ln \vec{y}(u), \ln \vec{\mathfrak{b}}(u))^T = \mathcal{D}(u, \beta)$. The iteration step is obtained by solving the convolution on the rhs of (3.11) in Fourier space and using (inverse) fast Fourier transform (FFT) to recover the expressions for $\vec{\mathfrak{b}}(u)$ and $\vec{y}(u)$ which form the input for the next iteration. This process can be repeated until the numerical error is small enough.

²This has been proven for $N \to \infty$ in the case of $U_q[SU(2)]$ [37] and shown to be true for many other cases [39].

Finally the numerical solutions for $\mathfrak{B}^{a}_{s,j}(u)$ are re-inserted into the relation (3.6) to obtain $T^{a}_{s}(u)$, which through (3.7) can be shown to be equal to

$$\ln T_s^a(u) = \mathcal{D}_T(u,\beta) + \sum_{b=1}^a \sum_{j=1}^{j_{max}} [V^b * \ln \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^b](u), \qquad (3.14)$$

with $D_T(u,\beta)$ and $V^b(u)$ being known functions (the latter being similar to the kernel for (3.11) which can be calculated through (3.13) for limiting values).

Remarkably, all dependency of the the NLIE (3.11) as well as the eigenvalue (3.14) on temperature and external fields only enters through the driving terms $\mathcal{D}(u,\beta)$ and $\mathcal{D}_T(u,\beta)$ and the auxiliary functions $y_s^a(u)$ and $\mathfrak{b}_s^a(u)$ (which function as unknowns in the numerical evaluation). The kernel V^b and $\mathcal{K}(u)$ are independent of β and the fields h or μ , and therefore the derivatives of (3.11) and (3.14) can be calculated analytically as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\beta} \ln \vec{y}(u) \\ \partial_{\beta} \ln \vec{\mathfrak{b}}(u) \end{pmatrix} = \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{D}(u,\beta) + \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{K} * \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\beta} \ln \vec{Y} \\ \partial_{\beta} \ln \vec{\mathfrak{B}} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} (u),$$
(3.15)

$$\partial_{\beta} \ln T_s^a(u) = \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{D}_T(u,\beta) + \sum_{b=1}^a \sum_{j=1}^{j_{max}} [V^b * \partial_{\beta} \ln \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^b](u), \qquad (3.16)$$

where

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta}\ln\mathfrak{B}^{a}_{s,j}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{b}^{a}_{s,j}(u)}{\mathfrak{B}^{a}_{s,j}(u)}\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta}\ln\mathfrak{b}^{a}_{s,j}(u).$$
(3.17)

By solving the previous integral equations and their higher order derivatives many thermodynamic quantities can be calculated as a function of temperature, magnetic field and chemical potential. These are: free energy f, entropy S (where the subscript μ indicates fixed chemical potential), specific heat C, particle density n, compressibility κ , magnetization M and magnetic susceptibility χ

$$\begin{split} f &= -\frac{1}{\beta} \ln T_s^a(0), \qquad S = -\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial T}\right)_{\mu}, \qquad C = -T\left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial T^2}\right)_n, \\ n &= -\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \mu}\right)_T, \qquad \chi = -\left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \mu^2}\right)_T, \\ M &= -\frac{\partial f}{\partial h}, \qquad \chi = -\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial h^2}. \end{split}$$

3.2 Constraints on auxiliary functions

The derivation of the NLIE described above depends on many properties that put very stringent constraints on the auxiliary functions $b_{s,l}^a(u)$ and $B_{s,l}^a(u)$. Surprisingly, these constraints have been shown to be reconcilable in many cases [20, 32, 82, 83, 127] which has spurred the search for underlying structure presented in the following chapters. To make these constraints clear they will be summarized below. In the formulation of the Bäcklund method for deriving auxiliary functions these constraints shall serve as a guide to ensure the truncation of the fusion hierarchy is achieved and the method thus generates finite NLIE of the type introduced by Klümper [82].

Constraints on $\mathfrak{b}^a_{s,j}(u)$ and $\mathfrak{B}^a_{s,i}(u)$

The auxiliary functions that were previously found by educated guesses fulfill the following constraints.

- 1. The auxiliary functions form a finite set of equations in the symmetric fusion index s (unlike Y, compare (3.2) and (3.5)).
- 2. They are a quotient of known functions appearing in NABA or the fusion procedure such as $\phi_{\pm}(u)$, $Q_1(u) \dots Q_{n-1}(u)$, $T_s^a(u)$ and partial sums of the former eigenvalue (for partial sums see section 2.4) and obey the ANZC property described above.
- 3. These known functions are used to solve the system of equations for the auxiliary functions (see (3.8)) and therefore should not exceed the auxiliary functions $Y_s^a(u)$ and $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u)$ in number.
- 4. From now the known functions will be treated as the unknowns of the auxiliary problem and the relation between the unknowns and the auxiliary functions should be invertible \leftrightarrow the matrix \mathcal{M}_2 is invertible in equation (5.36). This allows for the relations between the auxiliary and the known functions to be rewritten in terms of integral equations containing the auxiliary functions only (see (5.37)).
- 5. The kernels and driving terms of the finite NLIE (5.37) (and their derivatives) are "well behaved functions" in the $N \to \infty$ limit (i.e. they obey the ANZC property, and preferably the inverse Fourier transform (5.44) exists). ³
- 6. For the (numerical) evaluation of the NLIE there should be an algebraic relation relating $\mathfrak{b}_{s,j}^{a}(u)$ to $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^{a}(u)$ (such as $\mathfrak{B} = 1 + \mathfrak{b}$).
- 7. An expression for $T_{s_q}^{a_q}(u)$ in terms of the unknown or auxiliary functions should exist and should obey the ANZC property (in the example above given by (3.3) and (3.6)).
- 7^* The auxiliary functions relate to the Y-system through⁴

$$Y_s^a(u) = \prod_j \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u).$$
(3.18)

 $^{^{3}}$ If this constraint is not met concise analytic expressions for thermodynamic quantities and their derivatives through (3.14) and (3.16) for all temperatures and fields can not be evaluated numerically requiring extensive additional analysis which usually leads to a dead end.

⁴This constraint is a more stringent version of the previous and has been shown to hold for all of the known sets of auxiliary conditions up to this day. Reformulations of the problems where only the former 7 conditions hold are known but can generally be rewritten to obey 7^* .

It will be shown in the following chapters that the algebraic relations

$$\mathfrak{B}^a_{s,j}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^a_{s,j}(u)$$

appear directly in the Bäcklund formalism of [85, 152, 155, 156] as (combinations of) the Auxiliary Linear Problems (ALP). Establishing a method for the direct derivation of these auxiliary functions and the introduced functions $\{F_s^a(u), \tilde{F}_s^a(u), \dots\}$ thereby improving on the ad-hoc formulation in their initial conception [20, 32, 78, 82, 83, 127].

Chapter 4 Bäcklund Formalism

In the seminal paper by Zabrodin and Krichever et al. [85] and consecutive works [65, 102, 152, 154, 156] it was shown that the nested Bethe ansatz (for the row-to-row transfer matrix) can be interpreted as an auto-Bäcklund transform by identifying the fusion hierarchy with the Hirota equation from classical integrability. In his chapter this method will be extended to the QTM with the goal to apply the Bäcklund method to obtain new ways to derive finite sets of NLIE resulting in a deeper understanding of the finite NLIE formulation and derive thermodynamic properties of quantum systems with yet unstudied representations. This goal is partially met with the introduction of finite NLIE for $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric systems with non-fundamental rectangular representations presented below. The previous discovery follows directly from the main observation presented in this work: that the NLIE can be derived directly from (and in the $U_{a}[SU(2)]$ case identified with) the expressions appearing in the Bäcklund transform known as the auxiliary linear problems (ALP). This chapter will serve as an introduction to the methods of Zabrodin et al. and consecutive works [3] where the before mentioned methods were extended to include continuous parameters to accommodate for the continuous spectral parameter in the discrete Hirota-Miwa equation, this time truly connecting classical and quantum theory. It will be followed by the application of the Bäcklund method to derive the thermodynamic quantities in non-fundamental representations in $U_q[SU(3)]$. The next chapter will reflect on why this method in the current formulation can not be applied to algebras of rank larger than two and how the rank two algebras form the fundamental building block of propagating this method to the general case.

4.1 Hirota equation in classical and quantum integrability

An introduction to some concepts of classical integrability shall be given here with the goal to demonstrate their realization in quantum integrable systems. The Hirota equation in the fully discrete classical form was first formulated in [50] with the purpose to unify the discrete difference forms of many classical integrable differential equations

$$(z_1 \exp(D_1) + z_2 \exp(D_2) + z_3 \exp(D_3))\tau(x_1, x_2, x_3) \cdot \tau(x_1, x_2, x_3) = 0.$$
(4.1)

Upon replacement of the operators $D_{1,2,3}$ and constants $Z_{1,2,3}$ with linear combinations of Hirotas differential operator (see definition 4.1.1 below) and lattice spacings in the coordinates of $\tau(x_1, x_2, x_3)$ this equation reconstructs the bilinear form of the differential equations as the first nontrivial term in the formal series expansion with respect to the lattice spacing.

Definition 4.1.1. Hirota's D-operator: Let $S : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ be a space of differentiable functions. Then the Hirota *D*-operator is a binary operator $D : S \times S \to S$ which action is defined on a pair of functions as:

$$[D_{x_1}^{m_1} D_{x_2}^{m_2} \dots] F \cdot G \equiv [(\partial_{x_1} - \partial_{x_1'})^{m_1} (\partial_{x_2} - \partial_{x_2'})^{m_2} \dots] F(x_1, x_2, \dots) \times G(x_1', x_2', \dots)|_{x_1' = x_1, x_2' = x_2, \dots}$$

where m_i are positive integers. This operator is anti symmetric, therefore any $D^{2n-1}F \cdot F = 0$ [52].

The equation (4.1) is a discrete equation in the sense that the shifts in argument generated by the action of the exponential Hirota operator on pairs of functions

$$e^{\delta D_{x_i}} F(\dots, x_i, \dots) \cdot G(\dots, x_i, \dots) = e^{\delta \partial_y} F(x_i + y) \cdot G(x_i - y)|_{y=0}$$
$$= F(x_i + \delta) \cdot G(x_i - \delta), \tag{4.2}$$

result in discrete shifts in the coordinates x_i by a lattice spacing given by δ, η, μ et cetera which enter the formal Taylor series expansion of the exponent through

$$F(x+\delta) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^j}{j!} \partial_x^j F(x) = e^{\delta \partial_x} F(x).$$
(4.3)

The simplest linear combination for the substitution of the difference operators is given by $D_1 = \delta D_{x_1}$, $D_2 = \epsilon D_{x_2}$ and $D_3 = \mu D_{x_3}$ which results in

$$z_1 \tau(x_1 + \delta) \tau(x_1 - \delta) + z_2 \tau(x_2 + \epsilon) \tau(x_2 - \epsilon) + z_3 \tau(x_3 + \mu) \tau(x_3 - \mu) = 0$$
(4.4)

where only shifted arguments of τ are written out explicitly. Replacing the constant shifts in the arguments of τ as follows $\tau(p_1, p_2, p_3) := \tau(x - p_1\delta, y - p_2\epsilon, z - p_3\mu)$ reveals the following equation

$$z_{1}\tau(p_{1}+1,p_{2},p_{3})\tau(p_{1}-1,p_{2},p_{3}) + z_{2}\tau(p_{1},p_{2}+1,p_{3})\tau(p_{1},p_{2}-1,p_{3}) + z_{3}\tau(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3}+1)\tau(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3}-1) = 0.$$
(4.5)

Up to the overall constant $z_{1,2,3}$ terms (4.5) has exactly the form as the fusion hierarchy (2.24), demonstrating the initial observation presented in [85] identifying the Hirota equation with the bilinear fusion equation. This specific three parameter form of the Hirota equation is known as the discretized version of the 2D Toda equation [50].

In the context of this work it is not important to thoroughly describe the connection of the continuous differential equations such as the KdV, sine-Gordon, Klein-Gordon, Benjamin-Ono, generalized discrete Toda equation and the (modified) KP equations to the discrete differential forms (4.1) and (4.5), and we refer the interested reader to [46, 50, 52]. The relevant observation is that all differential equations contained in the Hirota equation are integrable and can be solved through standardized methods that extend to quantum integrable models. The bilinear form introduced by Hirota was just a means to unite and formalize all equations that he knew to be solvable through one such method known as the direct method [49]. In the same paper [50] it was also shown that when a bilinear formulation of a differential equation exists it ensures that the soliton solutions to the related equation can be found via Bäcklund transform. The Bäcklund transform method consists of solving the original (differential or difference) equation through solving another equation and making use of a mapping that connects the two (thereby introducing additional free parameters). This mapping is known as the auxiliary linear problem and can be used to iteratively generate n-soliton solutions from a (trivial) solution to the original equation. Transformations of this kind between two differential or difference equations are known as Bäcklund transforms or auto-Bäcklund transforms if the auxiliary problem connects the original equation and solutions to itself and a new solution. An example of an auto-Bäcklund transform between the QTM eigenvalue and its nested constituents (in curly brackets in equation (1.59) and (1.60)) will be given later in this chapter following the initial observation by Krichever et al. [85]. First a summary will be given on how the continuous spectral parameter was introduced into the bilinear KP hierarchy to give the modified or mKP hierarchy following Alexandrov et al. [3].

As mentioned in this sections introduction the identification of (4.5) with the bilinear fusion hierarchy (2.24) is not complete because of the discrete nature of the variables $p_{1,2,3}$ and the spectral parameter being continuous in the set a, s, u of the fused transfer matrix. To follow the argument in [3] the expression (4.5) is rewritten in the Hirota-Miwa form by changing independent variables $p'_1 = \frac{1}{2}(-p_1 + p_2 + p_3)$, $p'_2 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1 - p_2 + p_3)$ and $p'_3 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1 + p_2 - p_3)$ leading to

$$z_{1}\tau(p_{1}+1,p_{2},p_{3})\tau(p_{1},p_{2}+1,p_{3}+1) + z_{2}\tau(p_{1},p_{2}+1,p_{3})\tau(p_{1}+1,p_{2},p_{3}+1) + z_{3}\tau(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3}+1)\tau(p_{1}+1,p_{2}+1,p_{3}) = 0,$$
(4.6)

up to a shift 1/2 in all coordinates. This form of the Hirota equation is known as the bilinear-lattice KP equation after Kadomtsev and Petviashvili. The KP equation is the 3-parameter generalization of the Korteweg-de-Vries equation, the exemplary nonlinear classical wave equation for which the existence of solitons was first demonstrated in [33].

It was shown by Mikio and Yasuko Sato [60, 122] that the 3-dimensional KP equation (2 spatial + 1 temporal) contains an infinite set of higher symmetries and can embedded in the greater KP hierarchy [5, 110, 153]. These symmetries extend the KP equation to a system of n-1 equations constraining n-1 unknown functions

depending on n variables known as times t_1, \ldots, t_n^{1} . In the case that n = 3 the times can be identified with the coordinates x, y, t and the resulting set of equations can be combined into a single equation to retrieve the original three parameter KP equation (see [153] for a step-by-step derivation). The bilinear formulation of this hierarchy of equations forms the basis for the identification of the fusion hierarchy with spectral parameter as presented in [3] through Sato's formulation of the Hirota equation

$$\oint_C e^{\xi(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{t}',z)} z^{u-u'} \tau(u,\mathbf{t}-[z^{-1}]) \tau(u',\mathbf{t}'+[z^{-1}]) dz = 0.$$
(4.7)

This expression generates the bilinear KP hierarchy through the expansion in $\mathbf{t} - \mathbf{t}'$ where $\mathbf{t} := (t_1, \ldots, t_n)$. The additional exponent $z^{u-u'}$ can be interpreted as an additional time t_0 which will later be identified with the spectral parameter of the fusion hierarchy. Further notation introduced in the previous equation indicates $\xi(\mathbf{t}, z) = t_1 z + t_2 z^2 + t_3 z^3 \ldots$ and $f(\mathbf{t} \pm [z]) := f(t_1 \pm z, t_2 \pm z^2/2, t_3 \pm z^3/3, \ldots)$. The contour C encircles the whole complex plane, meaning all poles of τ (resulting from $[z^{-1}]$) and excludes the essential singularity at $z = \infty$ resulting from the exponent. In the works of the Kyoto group these equations are only ever meant to be used as formal series resulting in the relevant bilinear difference equations when expanded in coefficients of small $\mathbf{t} - \mathbf{t}'$ and equating to zero each of the expansion coefficients $t'_i - t_i = \delta t_i$. Making the substitution $t_i \to t_i + a_i, t'_i \to t_i - a_i$ simplifies the collection of orders of δt_i (now replaced by **a**) resulting in

$$\sum_{j\geq 0} h_j(2\mathbf{a})h_{j+u-u'+1}(-\tilde{\mathbf{D}})e^{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k D_k}\tau(u,\mathbf{t})\tau(u',\mathbf{t}) = 0,$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{D}}_{t_k} = (D_{t_1}, \frac{1}{2}D_{t_2}, \frac{1}{3}D_{t_3}, \dots)$ and D_{t_k} is again the Hirota derivative from definition 4.1.1. The symmetric Schur polynomials $h_j(\mathbf{t})$ encountered before in section 2.3 enter the expression through the following expansion

$$e^{\xi(\mathbf{t},z)} = \exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k z^k\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_j(\mathbf{t}) z^j$$
(4.8)

(see [153] for a more detailed derivation).

To retrieve the expression (4.6) with continuous parameter substitute u = u' - 1and $t'_k = t_k + [z_1^{-1}] + [z_2^{-1}]$ and taking the residue in the parameters z_1 , z_2 results in

$$(z_1 - z_2)\tau(u+1, \mathbf{t})\tau(u, \mathbf{t} + [z_1^{-1}] + [z_2^{-1}]) + z_2\tau(u, \mathbf{t} + [z_1^{-1}])\tau(u+1, \mathbf{t} + [z_2^{-1}]) - z_1\tau(u, \mathbf{t} + [z_2^{-1}])\tau(u+1, \mathbf{t} + [z_1^{-1}]) = 0.$$
(4.9)

This final equation is equal to the master identity of [64] which can be interpreted as a continuous parameter extension of (4.6). The main claim of [3, 64] is that this equation serves as a generating identity for the fusion hierarchy *as well as* the auxiliary linear problems of the Bäcklund transform of the quantum transfer matrix. To make

¹In principle the number of times can be larger than the number of unknown functions i.e. m-1 unknown functions and n times such that n > m. The choice of m = n - 1 was taken here for simplicity.

this connection, the $\tau(u, \mathbf{t})$ function is identified with a generating function of the transfer matrices given by

$$\tau(u, \mathbf{t}) := T(u, \mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\lambda} s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{t}) T^{\lambda}(u)$$
(4.10)

where the sum runs over all highest weight representations λ in the auxiliary space such that the rhs is the sum of all (fused) transfer matrix eigenvalues and $s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{t})$ is the Schur polynomial (2.33) (here λ can again be described with the Young tableau notation introduced in (2.12)). By expanding the generating functions in orders of z_1, z_2, \ldots the master identity retrieves the bilinear fusion relations at all levels of fusion (that is for every value of (s, a) in (2.24)). Specifically, collecting all terms of order $z_1^s z_2^s$ results in

$$-T^{(2,s)}(u+1)T^{(0,s)}(u) = T^{(1,s+1)}(u)T^{(1,s-1)}(u+1) - T^{(1,s)}(u+1)T^{(1,s)}(u), \quad (4.11)$$

which up to the rotation, re-scaling $u \rightarrow iu/2$ and -2i shift is equal to equation (2.13). The expansions for the single row and single column transfer matrix eigenvalues reveal quite simple expressions

$$T(u, \mathbf{t} + [z^{-1}])\big|_{\mathbf{t}=0} = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} z^{-s} T^{(1,s)}(u) \quad T(u, \mathbf{t} - [z^{-1}])\big|_{\mathbf{t}=0} = \sum_{a=0}^{\infty} (-z)^{-a} T^{(a,1)}(u).$$
(4.12)

All other terms, including those with multiple shifts such as $T(u, \mathbf{t} + [z_1^{-1}] + [z_2^{-1}])$, result in anti-symmetric combinations of the previous functions which can be related to the transfer matrices with shifted index $T^{(a+1,s)}(u)$ and $T^{(a,s+1)}(u)$ through the determinant relations (2.8a) and (2.8b). Unfortunately, the proves of these expansions heavily depend on the application of the co-derivative notation pioneered in [66] which lies outside the scope of this thesis (see [3, 64] for a specific discussion of this operator on the case presented above). Nevertheless, the takeaway here is that all the concepts from classical (Hirota) integrability described above have a quantum counterpart through the generating function (4.10) and its realization as a solution to the specific form of the Hirota-Miwa equation (4.9) as proven by Alexandrov et al. in [3].

4.2 Bäcklund transform and ALP

As observed by Krichever et al. [85] and subsequent works [65, 102, 152, 154, 156] the nesting problem for the transfer matrix eigenvalue can be solved directly by an auto-Bäcklund transform due to the connection of the bilinear fusion hierarchy (2.24) to the Hirota-Miwa equation. This latter point was proven in [3, 64, 66] where the generating function of fused transfer matrices (4.10) was shown to be a solution to the Hirota-Miwa equation (specifically the mKP hierarchy) in the form of the master identity (4.9) which contains the fusion hierarchy at all levels of fusion as expansion coefficients of the generating functions of which it is comprised. As in the classical case, the Bäcklund transform for this equation is realized through equations that connect new solutions to the fusion hierarchy to the original fusion hierarchy by a set of auxiliary linear problems (ALP). In [3, 64] the ALP are derived directly from the master identity (4.9) by removing certain eigenvalues from the generating function (4.10) resulting in multiple sets of generating ALP at all levels of fusion. The connection to the reduced eigenvalues in the generating function follow the observation that the nesting procedure is nothing but the subsequent solution of the transfer matrix eigenvalue for $U_q[SU(1)] \subset U_q[SU(2)] \subset \ldots U_q[SU(n)]$ which in the notation of (2.30) corresponds to the transfer matrix where the character of the twist matrix contains a subset of the eigenvalues $\{y_1, \ldots, y_n\}$ in (2.33). As shall be shown presently, removing these eigenvalues in the fused transfer matrices corresponds to summing over the tableaux that contain a subset of the allowed numbers in (2.12). Which, for the fundamental representation, corresponds to removing partial eigenvalues (1.64) from the total sum that comprises the QTM eigenvalue. This reduced eigenvalue in the fundamental representation $U_q[SU(3)]$ has already been featured in equation (1.59) and (1.60) in curly brackets.

The derivation of [3, 64] for the ALP again involves the application of the coderivative notation of [66] this time to the reduced character. Since we do not want to introduce the co-derivative formalism in the present work the ALPs will just be stated outright and the previous claims about the nature of the new solutions will be addressed after deriving the boundary conditions (2.25) for the ALP. Using the equations (37) & (38) of [64] (in both arXiv and published version) as the reference equations, the ALP in the notation of section 2 are

$$T_{m}^{(a+1,s)}(u)T_{m-1}^{(a,s)}(u) - T_{m}^{(a+1,s)}(u)T_{m-1}^{(a,s)}(u) -y_{j}T_{m}^{(a+1,s-1)}(u+2)T_{m-1}^{(a,s+1)}(u-2) = 0$$
(4.13)
$$T_{m}^{(a,s+1)}(u)T_{m-1}^{(a,s)}(u) - T_{m}^{(a,s)}(u)T_{m-1}^{(a,s+1)}(u)$$

$$-y_j T_m^{(a+1,s)}(u+2) T_{m-1}^{(a-1,s+1)}(u-2) = 0$$
(4.14)

Here the lower index m indicate the number removed eigenvalues y_j such that $T_m^{(a,s)}(u)$ is the transfer matrix eigenvalue with n-m partial eigenvalues (2.10) in the $U_q[SU(n)]$ case (see (2.33)). At m = n the original transfer matrix eigenvalue (2.12) derived in section 2 is retrieved. The eigenvalues y_j in the case of nontrivial (twisted) boundary conditions indicate the eigenvalue of the twist matrix [64] relating to the external fields in (1.22). For the case of trivial boundary conditions (as considered in the rest of this work) these eigenvalues can be absorbed into the definition of $T_m^{(a,s)}(u)$ which for the previous relations corresponds to setting $y_j \to 1$. In the literature [65, 85, 155, 156] this index m is named the Bäcklund flow parameter or Bäcklund time, because it takes a similar role to the discrete time parameters introduced in the previous section.

For the remainder of this section we shall move to the normalization conditions (2.14), (2.22) and shift $u \to u - i(s - a)$ (2.23) introduced in section 2 with the purpose of simplifying equations (especially the boundary conditions (2.25)) and to ensure that the transfer matrix reduces to the Hamiltonian at u = 0 (1.21) at all levels of fusion. We remind the reader that these boundary conditions correspond to symmetrically fused representations in the quantum space $(a_q, s_q) = (1, s_q)$. For the

previous equations this results in

$$T_m(a, s, u+i)T_{m-1}(a, s+1, u) - T_m(a, s+1, u)T_{m-1}(a, s, u+i) + y_j T_m(a+1, s, u)T_{m-1}(a-1, s+1, u+i) = 0$$
(4.15a)
$$-T_m(a, s, u+i)T_{m-1}(a-1, s, u) + T_m(a-1, s, u)T_{m-1}(a, s, u+i)$$

$$+y_j T_m(a, s-1, u) T_{m-1}(a-1, s+1, u+i) = 0.$$
(4.15b)

As was observed in [154] based on the result of [124] these equations form part of a set of four linearly dependent equations. The second set of equations is easily obtained from the first through writing the previous equations as the matrix equation

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_m(a,s+1,u) & -T_m(a+1,s,u) \\ T_m(a-1,s,u) & T_m(a,s-1,u) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_{m-1}(a,s,u+i) \\ y_j T_{m-1}(a-1,s+1,u+i) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= T_m(a,s,u+i) \begin{pmatrix} T_{m-1}(a,s+1,u) \\ T_{m-1}(a-1,s,u) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(4.16)$$

and taking the matrix inverse using the expression (2.24) resulting in the following equations

$$T_{m}(a, s+1, u)T_{m-1}(a-1, s, u) - T_{m}(a-1, s, u)T_{m-1}(a, s+1, u) -y_{j}T_{m}(a, s, u-i)T_{m-1}(a-1, s+1, u+i) = 0$$
(4.17a)
$$-T_{m}(a+1, s, u)T_{m-1}(a-1, s, u) - T_{m}(a, s-1, u)T_{m-1}(a, s+1, u) +T_{m}(a, s, u-i)T_{m-1}(a, s, u+i) = 0.$$
(4.17b)

The equations (4.15) and (4.17) can be combined into

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_m(a,s,u-i) & -T_m(a,s-1,u) & -T_m(a+1,s,u) & 0\\ -T_m(a,s+1,u) & T_m(a,s,u+i) & 0 & T_m(a+1,s,u)\\ -T_m(a-1,s,u) & 0 & T_m(a,s,u+i) & -T_m(a,s-1,u)\\ 0 & T_m(a-1,s,u) & -T_m(a,s+1,u) & T_m(a,s,u-i) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_{m-1}(a,s,u+i) & T_{m-1}(a,s+1,u) \\ T_{m-1}(a-1,s,u) & T_{m-1}(a-1,s,u) \\ y_j T_{m-1}(a-1,s+1,u+i) \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

$$(4.18)$$

This matrix is of rank 2 and its determinant vanishes is equal to the square of the bilinear fusion equation

$$T_m(a, s, u-i)T_m(a, s, u+i) - T_m(a, s+1, u)T_m(a, s-1, u) -T_m(a-1, s, u)T_m(a+1, s, u) = 0.$$
(4.19)

Since the previous equation is again equal to the fusion hierarchy but now for general m, the equations (4.15) and (4.17) form a set of Bäcklund transforms connecting different solutions to the fusion hierarchy. As for the transfer matrix eigenvalue all the solutions to this hierarchy are bounded by

$$T_m(a, s, u) = 0, \quad if \quad a < 0, \quad or \quad a > m, \quad or \quad s < 0 \quad and \quad a > 0.$$
 (4.20)

at all levels m. Following the same method as [155] by evaluating the ALP (4.15a) at a = 0, (4.15b) at s = 0 and (4.17a) at a = m recursively for m = n, ..., 1 and using the trivial boundary conditions above as well as the non-trivial boundary conditions

for the transfer matrix given in (2.25) allows one to derive the boundary values for the other solutions to the fusion hierarchy (4.19)

$$T_m(m, s, u) = Q_{n-m}(u - i(s+m))\bar{\phi}_+(u + i(s+m))$$
(4.21a)

$$T_m(0, s, u) = Q_{n-m}(u+is)\bar{\phi}_+(u-is)$$
(4.21b)

$$T_m(a, 0, u) = Q_{n-m}(u - ia)\bar{\phi}_+(u + ia)$$
(4.21c)

and for the special case where m = n,

$$T_n(n,s,u) = \bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+n))\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+n))$$
(4.22a)

$$T_n(0, s, u) = \phi_-(u + is)\phi_+(u - is)$$
(4.22b)

$$T_n(a,0,u) = \bar{\phi}_{-}(u-ia)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+ia).$$
(4.22c)

Here $Q_{n-m}(u)$ are currently just placeholder functions but will be identified with the Q-functions (1.66) by direct substitution of the boundary conditions and solving for $T_n(a, s, u)$ (as shall be demonstrated in the next section). The shifts in argument as well as the additional terms $\bar{\phi}_+(u)$ follow directly from the non-vanishing parts of the ALP in the derivation described above. By direct substitution of these boundary conditions into the ALP the functions $T_m(a, s, u)$ for m < n can be shown to reduce to the transfer matrix eigenvalues where m partial eigenvalues are removed resolving the nesting problem recursively. At the last level $T_1(a, s, u)$ is identified with the final partial eigenvalue (1.63) of $U_q[SU(1)]$ containing only $Q_1(u)$ corresponding to the nesting path described in (1.60).

As shall be shown in the next section this nesting path or Bäcklund transform is sufficient for the derivation of the auxiliary problems (3.4) and (3.5) entering the NLIE for the fundamental $U_q[SU(2)]$ case. Inspection of the generalization of these results to higher rank immediately shows that the requirements for these functions described in (3.2) can only be met by considering all other nesting paths. Luckily, for the QTM these nesting paths are connected by the automorphism described in section 1.4.3 which greatly simplifies the derivation of the related Bäcklund transform.

4.2.1 Fundamental ALP for $U_q[SU(2)]$ symmetric problems

To confirm that the functions $Q_m(u)$ correspond to the Q-functions (1.66) and $T_m(a, s, u)$ to the partial (nested) eigenvalues consider (4.15a) at (m, a, s) = (2, 1, 1) for $U_q[SU(2)]$

$$T_2(1,s,u) = T_2(1,s-1,u+i)\frac{T_1(1,s,u)}{T_1(1,s-1,u+i)} + y_j T_2(2,s-1,u)\frac{T_1(0,s,u+i)}{T_1(1,s-1,u+i)}$$

Which under the previously defined boundary conditions (4.21) and (4.30a) becomes,

$$T_2(1, s, u) = \bar{\phi}_-(u + i(s-1))\bar{\phi}_+(u + i(s+1))\frac{Q_1(u - i(s+1))}{Q_1(u + i(s-1))} + y_j\bar{\phi}_-(u - i(s+1))\bar{\phi}_+(u + i(s+1))\frac{Q_1(u + i(s+1))}{Q_1(u + i(s-1))},$$

and reduces to (1.46) when, $y_j = 1$, $s = s_q = 1$ and $Q_1(u)$ equals to the definition of the Q-function in (1.66) (since there is only one Q-function for $U_q[SU(2)]$ the subscript

shall be dropped from here on). For all other values of (m, a) these equations trivialize, either by the boundary conditions on (4.15a) in m or the anti-symmetric fusion for a > 1 reducing to the scalar representation in $U_q[SU(2)]$. The other ALP (4.15b) retrieves the same result by taking (m, a, s) = (2, 1, 1) to obtain

$$T_2(1,s,u) = T_2(0,s,u-i)\frac{T_1(1,s,u)}{T_1(0,s,u-i)} + y_j T_2(1,s-1,u-i)\frac{T_1(0,s+1,u)}{T_1(0,s,u-i)}.$$
 (4.23)

Which under the previously defined boundary conditions results in the eigenvalue $T_2(1, s, u)$ displayed above.

Remarkably, for m = 2 these ALP reproduce the auxiliary linear problems $U_q[SU(2)]$ for unrestricted s as first described in [127] (see also Appendix C).

$$\frac{T_2(1,s,u-i)T_1(1,s-1,u)}{T_2(2,s-1,u-i)T_1(0,s,u)} = \frac{T_2(1,s-1,u)T_1(1,s,u-i)}{T_2(2,s-1,u-i)T_1(0,s,u)} + 1$$

$$\frac{T_2(1,s,u+i)T_1(0,s,u)}{T_2(0,s,u)T_1(1,s,u+i)} = \frac{T_2(1,s-1,u)T_1(0,s+1,u+i)}{T_2(0,s,u)T_1(1,s,u+i)} + 1$$
(4.24)

Which upon substitution of the boundary conditions (4.21) and (4.30a) give

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^{1}(u) \equiv \frac{T_{2}(1, s, u - i)Q(u - is)}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u - i(s + 2))Q(u + is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u - is)}$$

$$\mathfrak{b}_{s,1}^{1}(u) \equiv \frac{T_{2}(1, s - 1, u)Q(u - i(s + 2))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u - i(s + 2))Q(u + is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u - is)}$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^{1}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{s,1}^{1}(u) + 1$$
(4.25)

and

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{1}(u) \equiv \frac{T_{2}(1, s, u+i)Q(u+is)}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)Q(u-is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+2))}$$

$$\mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{1}(u) \equiv \frac{T_{2}(1, s-1, u)Q(u+i(s+2))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)Q(u-is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+2))}$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{1}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{1}(u) + 1.$$
(4.26)

These functions truncate the Y-system (3.1) and satisfy condition (3.6) by default. Rearranging the terms in the product $\mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^1(u)\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^1(u)$ one easily identifies the equation (3.3) for a = 1 in $U_q[SU(2)]$

$$Y_s^1(u) = \frac{T_2(1, s, u-i)T_2(1, s, u+i)}{\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_+(u-is)\bar{\phi}_-(u+is)\bar{\phi}_+(u+i(s+2))}.$$
(4.27)

For the demonstration that these equations satisfy the remainder of the requirements on the auxiliary functions stated in the previous section 3.2 and a presentation of the numerical results the reader is referred to the original paper [127].

4.2.2 Application to $U_q[SU(3)]$ case, part 1

Repeating the process of the previous section for the $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric case only few things change. Starting again from (4.15a) there are now two non-vanishing equations for m = 3 and a = 1, 2 and a single equation for m = 2 and a = 1. To identify the Q-functions start with m = 1, 2 and a = 1

$$T_m(1,s,u) = T_m(1,s-1,u+i) \frac{T_{m-1}(1,s,u)}{T_{m-1}(1,s-1,u+i)} + T_m(2,s-1,u) \frac{T_{m-1}(0,s,u+i)}{T_{m-1}(1,s-1,u+i)}$$

and substituting again the boundary conditions for (4.21) and (4.30a) gives

$$\begin{split} T_3(1,s,u) = & T_3(1,s-1,u+i) \frac{T_2(1,s,u)}{T_2(1,s-1,u+i)} \\ &+ T_3(2,s-1,u) \frac{Q_1(u+i(s+1))\bar{\phi}_+(u-i(s-1))}{T_2(1,s-1,u+i)} \\ T_2(1,s,u) = & T_2(1,s-1,u+i) \frac{Q_2(u-i(s+1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))} \\ &+ T_2(2,s-1,u) \frac{Q_2(u+i(s+1))\bar{\phi}_+(u-i(s-1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))\bar{\phi}_+(u+i(s+1))} \end{split}$$

Comparing this to the QTM as discussed in the section on NABA (2.35) and (1.59) for s = 1

$$T_{3}(1,1,u) = \frac{1}{Q_{1}(u)} \{ \bar{\phi}_{-}(u)T_{2}(1,1,u) \} + \bar{\phi}_{-}(u-2i)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u)\frac{Q_{1}(u+2i)}{Q_{1}(u)}$$
$$T_{2}(1,1,u) = Q_{1}(u)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+2i)\frac{Q_{2}(u-2i)}{Q_{2}(u)} + Q_{1}(u-2i)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u)\frac{Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{2}(u)},$$

demonstrates the two statements made at the beginning of section 4.2. First, that the ALP (4.15a) connect the full transfer matrix eigenvalue $T_3(1, 1, u)$ to the nested eigenvalue $T_2(1, 1, u)$. Second, that these nested eigenvalues again obey the fusion rules through (4.19) and describe the eigenvalue problem for the $U_q[SU(2)]$ subsystem. And third, that these nested eigenvalues are related to the Bäcklund functions. The same statement remains valid for arbitrary rectangular representations².

As for the $U_q[SU(2)]$ case, some of the auxiliary functions featured in the literature [20, 32] that truncate the $U_q[SU(3)]$ Y-system can directly be identified among the ALP presented above ((5.8) from (4.15a) at m = 3, a = 3). However, repeating the exercise for any of the other ALP in the previous section does not yield equations related to the nesting path of (1.60), which are required for the derivation of the full set of equations (only (5.6) is recovered from (4.17a) at m = 3, a = 1).

The absence of the other solutions because the Bäcklund flow presented above only captures one of the embeddings, as can be seen by the boundary conditions (4.21) and the way they originate from the ALP. Currently, the boundary conditions for $T_m(a, s, u)$ fix $T_2(a, s, u) \propto Q_1(u)$ and $T_1(a, s, u) \propto Q_2(u)$ where the Q-functions appear in descending order with respect to the Bäcklund flow index m. This corresponds to the embedding where the (products of) eigenvalues $\{[2], [3]\}$ are fixed as part of the $U_q[SU(2)]$ sub-problem (see (2.34)), respectively $\{[1]\}$ the $U_q[SU(1)]$ eigenvalue

 $^{^{2}}$ The reader is encouraged to check this statement against the eigenvalues in section 2.4, it is a very instructive exercise for understanding the function of the ALP in the Bäcklund flow.

outside the brackets in (1.59) is solved in the first nesting step. For the opposite embedding or nesting path one would instead expect the Q-functions to appear in the reversed order $T_2(a, s, u) \propto Q_2(u)$ and $T_1(a, s, u) \propto Q_1(u)$, causing the reverse solution of the nesting problem (note the subscripts of Q wrt T_m now match wrt to the other boundary condition). To obtain this other set of boundary conditions and ALP, the symmetry of the eigenvalue described in section 1.4.3 shall be used.

Conjugate set of ALP for QTM 4.3

Introducing the conjugate Bäcklund flow and the resulting ALP is required to recreate the full set of auxiliary functions that truncate the Y-system. As was discussed in section 1.4.3 there exists the automorphism that connects the two nesting paths via complex conjugation and swapping of the Bethe roots. On the level of the fusion equation (4.19) it is clear that this transformation conserves the structure of the bilinear fusion equations but not the ALP (see 4.18). In this section the conjugate Bäcklund flows will be introduced indicated by \mathcal{B}_k and \mathcal{B}_m (see figure 4.1 below) along with a new set of boundary conditions that make the conjugate ALP consistent with the automorphism. These conjugate equations are also featured in [65, 85, 155, 156]. where similar transformations are applied on the level of the classical Hirota equation (4.6), leading to the same *adjacent* Bäcklund flows. In the literature these adjacent flows are applied to the row-to-row transfer matrix and thus the symmetry of the QTM was not observed and thus this combined path approach was not applied. This symmetry will be further discussed at the end of this chapter, after the combined boundary conditions for the two Bäcklund flows are introduced.

Applying the automorphism of section 1.4.3 to the set of auxiliary linear problems (4.18) results in the following set of equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_k(a,s,u+i) & -T_k(a,s-1,u) & -T_k(a+1,s,u) & 0\\ -T_k(a,s+1,u) & T_k(a,s,u-i) & 0 & T_k(a+1,s,u)\\ -T_k(a-1,s,u) & 0 & T_k(a,s,u-i) & -T_k(a,s-1,u)\\ 0 & T_k(a-1,s,u) & -T_k(a,s+1,u) & T_k(a,s,u+i) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_{k-1}(a,s,u-i) & T_{k-1}(a,s+1,u) & T_{k-1}(a-1,s,u) \\ T_{k-1}(a-1,s+1,u-i) & T_{k-1}(a-1,s+1,u-i) \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

$$(4.28)$$

which only differ in the sign of the shifts in u and m was preemptively replaced with k to indicate the conjugate flow. Focusing again on a subset of ALP

$$-T_{k}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1}(a, s, u-i) + T_{k}(a, s, u-i)T_{k-1}(a, s+1, u) +T_{k}(a+1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i) = 0$$
(4.29a)
$$-T_{k}(a, s, u-i)T_{k-1}(a-1, s, u) + T_{k}(a-1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a, s, u-i) +T_{k}(a, s-1, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i) = 0$$
(4.29b)

$$T_k(a, s-1, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i) = 0.$$
 (4.29b)

and evaluating recursively for (4.29a) at a = 0 and (4.29b) at s = 0 for $k = n, \ldots, 1$ suggests the following boundary conditions

$$T_k(k, s, u) = Q_k(u + i(s+k))\bar{\phi}_-(u - i(s+k))$$
(4.30a)

$$T_k(0, s, u) = Q_k(u - is)\bar{\phi}_-(u + is)$$
 (4.30b)

$$T_k(a, 0, u) = Q_k(u + ia)\bar{\phi}_{-}(u - ia).$$
(4.30c)

The boundary conditions of the transfer matrix itself stay the same as in (4.30a).

To confirm that the functions $Q_k(u)$ in the previous equations are indeed the Q-functions of the QTM the same exercise as in last section can be repeated. Since this will also be clear from the statement of the eigenvalues and the auxiliary functions below this is left as an exercise to the reader. Obviously, the labels of the conjugate "unknown" Q-functions are now chosen such that it runs in the reverse direction of m in (4.21) and thus will match up with those defined for the Q-functions in section 1.4.1 for the QTM eigenvalue.

4.4 Combined formulation of the boundary conditions



Figure 4.1: Nesting procedure for $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric QTM with conjugate Bäcklund flows. The partial eigenvalues in brackets represent the NABA problem that still needs to be resolved for each level of nesting. Here $\tilde{F}(u) \equiv T_m(a, s, u)$ for m = 2for the Bäcklund flow $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ introduced in the previous section and $F(u) \equiv T_k(a, s, u)$ for its adjacent flow \mathcal{B}_k when k = 2. At k = 3 and m = 3, $T_k(a, s, u) = T_m(a, s, u)$ is equal to the QTM. At the bottom of the figure the expressions for k = 1 or m = 1 always reproduce to the boundary value which is proportional to the partial eigenvalue featuring a single Q function and $T_m \propto Q_2\phi_+$ or $T_k \propto Q_1\phi_-$.

To close this section on the Bäcklund formalism the notation in figure 4.1 shall be formalized and the obviously symmetric conjugate boundary conditions shall be combined into a single set of equations. First the two sets of boundary conditions will be combined with a dual index $T_k(a, s, u) = T_{k,n}(a, s, u)$ and $T_m(a, s, u) = T_{n,m}(a, s, u)$ with $0 \le k, m \le n$

$$T_{k,m}(k,s,u) = T_{k,m}(m,s,u) = Q_k(u+i(s+k))Q_m(u-i(s+k))$$
(4.31a)

$$T_{k,m}(0,s,u) = Q_k(u-is)\dot{Q}_m(u+is)$$
 (4.31b)

$$T_{k,m}(a,0,u) = Q_k(u+ia)\tilde{Q}_m(u-ia).$$
(4.31c)

Which reduce to the old boundary conditions using the definition of

$$\tilde{Q}_n(u) \equiv \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_-(u - i(2j - s_q - 1)) = \bar{\phi}_-(u)$$
(4.32)

$$Q_n(u) \equiv \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2j-s_q-1)) = \bar{\phi}_+(u).$$
(4.33)

Here the tilde in \tilde{Q} matches the notation of the Bäcklund flow $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ where the indices run in reversed order as follows

(k,m)	0	1	2	3
$Q_k(u)$	$Q_0(u) = 1$	$Q_1(u)$	$Q_2(u)$	$Q_3(u) \sim \phi_+(u)$
$ ilde{Q}_m(u)$	$Q_0(u) = 1$	$Q_2(u)$	$Q_1(u)$	$\tilde{Q}_3(u) \sim \phi(u)$

This table displays the special case of $U_q[SU(3)]$. Note again the reversed ordering of the subscripts of $\tilde{Q}_m(u)$ such that $\tilde{Q}_1(u) = Q_2(u)$ and $\tilde{Q}_1(u) = Q_2(u)$ as was discussed at the end of section 4.2.2, the correctness of this notation will be shown below. As a result of the previous definition the equations now also include the boundary conditions for the transfer matrix (4.30a). All functions vanish outside the region indicated by (4.20)

$$T_{k,m}(a,s,u) = 0, \quad if \quad a < 0, \quad or \quad a > k, m, \quad or \quad s < 0 \quad and \quad a > 0.$$
(4.34)

To avoid confusion between the Bäcklund functions, transfer matrices and boundary values when using the notation $T_{k,m}(a, s, u)$, each of the preceding sections shall make use of a shorthand using an explicit letter for each of the Bäcklund functions and QTM eigenvalue

$$\begin{split} T^a_s(u) &\equiv T_{3,3}(a,s,u) \\ F^a_s(u) &\equiv T_{k,3}(a,s,u), \\ \tilde{F}^a_s(u) &\equiv T_{3,m}(a,s,u), \\ \end{array} \qquad \qquad \text{for } k = 2 \\ \tilde{F}^a_s(u) &\equiv T_{3,m}(a,s,u), \\ \end{split}$$

This is possible because for all other cases of k, m the functions $T_{k,n}(a, s, u)$ and $T_{n,m}(a, s, u)$ will reduce to one of the conditions (4.30) or (4.21) except for $T_{2,2}(a, s, u)$. The $T_{2,2}(a, s, u)$ case and its generalization will be discussed below in the context of $U_a[SU(4)]$ see (6.1).

Finally, for completeness the minimal polynomial normalization conditions for the QTM eigenvalue (2.27) will be restated here.

$$T_{n,n}(a, s, u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q-s} \phi_+(u+i(2j+s-s_q-1+a))\phi_-(u-i(2j+s-s_q-1+a))T'_{n,n}(a, s, u)$$
(4.35a)

 $T'_{n,n}(a,0,u) = 1.$ (4.35b)

4.5 Eigenvalues of the Bäcklund functions for $U_q[SU(3)]$

Using the notation introduced above the eigenvalues for general s that follow from (4.15b) and (4.29b) are

$$T_{s}^{1}(u) = \bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s-1))\frac{\bar{F}_{s}^{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))} + T_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)\frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))}$$

$$= \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1))\frac{F_{s}^{1}(u)}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} + T_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)\frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))}$$
(4.36)

$$\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u) = \bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+1))Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))\frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))}
+ \tilde{F}_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)\frac{Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))}
F_{s}^{1}(u) = \bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+1))Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))\frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u-i(s-1))}
+ F_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)\frac{Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u-i(s-1))}$$
(4.37)

and from (4.15a) and (4.29a)

$$T_s^2(u) = T_{s-1}^2(u+i)\frac{Q_1(u-i(s+2))}{Q_1(u-is)} + \bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+2))\frac{F_s^1(u+i)}{Q_1(u-is)}$$

= $T_{s-1}^2(u-i)\frac{Q_2(u+i(s+2))}{Q_2(u+is)} + \bar{\phi}_+(u+i(s+2))\frac{\tilde{F}_s^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u+is)}.$ (4.38)

Representing the functions in this manner side by side clearly demonstrates the utility of the automorphism. Realizing that every set of ALP automatically generates the opposite set by exchanging $Q_1 \leftrightarrow Q_2$, $\bar{\phi}_+ \leftrightarrow \bar{\phi}_-$ and complex conjugate of the arguments, greatly simplifies the amount of writing that needs to occur when working with these equations.

4.6 Pictorial method for Bäcklund equations

Before moving on to the algebraic derivation of the auxiliary functions from the ALP for general (a, s) it is instructive to first restate the known auxiliary functions for the fundamental representation $U_q[SU(3)]$ [20, 32]. This is also a good opportunity introduce the Bäcklund formalism in the context of the pictorial of section 2.4, reaffirm its connection to NABA and demonstrate the necessity of both Bäcklund flows for the derivation of the full set of auxiliary functions. Filling in the boundary conditions for the expressions in the previous section at s = 1 one retrieves the following expressions
for the partial eigenvalues of the QTM at a = 1, 2

$$\begin{split} \boxed{1} &= \phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u-2i)\frac{Q_{1}(u+2i)}{Q_{1}(u)} & \boxed{\frac{1}{2}} &= \phi_{+}(u+i)\phi_{-}(u-3i)\frac{Q_{2}(u+3i)}{Q_{2}(u+i)} \\ & (4.39) \\ \boxed{2} &= \phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{1}(u-2i)Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{1}(u)Q_{2}(u)} & \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} &= \phi_{+}(u+3i)\phi_{-}(u-3i)\frac{Q_{1}(u+i)Q_{2}(u-i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u+i)} \\ & (4.40) \\ \boxed{3} &= \phi_{+}(u+2i)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{2}(u-2i)}{Q_{2}(u)} & \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} &= \phi_{+}(u+3i)\phi_{-}(u-i)\frac{Q_{1}(u-3i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)} \\ & (4.41) \end{split}$$

In this way the Bäcklund functions $F_s^1(u)$ and $\tilde{F}_s^1(u)$ for s = 1 can be written as partial sums of the eigenvalues as

$$\underline{1} + \underline{2} = \frac{\phi_+(u)F_1^1(u)}{Q_2(u)} \qquad \underline{1}_3 + \underline{2}_3 = \frac{\phi_+(u+3)F_1^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u+i)}$$
(4.42)

$$\underline{2} + \underline{3} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u)\bar{F}_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u)} \qquad \qquad \underline{1}_{\underline{3}} + \underline{1}_{\underline{2}} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\bar{F}_{1}^{1}(u+i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)}.$$
(4.43)

To generalize the statements made in section 4.3 related to figure 4.1 to the ALP consider the expression (4.17b) at (m, a, s) = (3, 1, 1) which has a clear resemblance with the fusion equation (4.19). Filling in the boundary conditions and rearranging the additional terms related to Q and ϕ_{\pm} such that they fit the box notation above it is quite easily seen that this equation takes the same shape as the master equation (M1) where all terms containing $\boxed{1}^{+i}$ are dropped.

$$\left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{-i} \cdot \left(\boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{+i} = \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{2}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|^{-i}_{+i}$$

+
$$\left(\boxed{2} \boxed{2} + \boxed{2} \boxed{3} + \boxed{3} \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{(i,-i)} .$$
 (4.44)

Similarly one can consider (4.17a) at (m, a, s) = (3, 1, 1) to retrieve the previous equation without $\boxed{2}^{+i}$

$$\left(\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{-i} \cdot \left(\boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{+i} = \left(\boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}} \right) \Big|_{+i}^{-i}$$

+ $\left(\boxed{3} \boxed{3} \right) \Big|^{(i,-i)}.$ (4.45)

Similar equations exist for the a = 2 and conjugate Bäcklund flow. This equivalence between the "deleting" of the Young tableaux from the master equation and making one Bäcklund transform along $\mathcal{B}_{k,m}$ reinforces the illustration made in figure 4.1 and persists for general s. Considering the last equation with two eigenvalues $(1 + 2)^{i+i}$ dropped the ALP can be directly connected to the auxiliary functions for SU(3) found in [32] and displayed below

$$\mathfrak{B}^1_{1,j}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^1_{1,j}(u) \qquad \qquad j$$

$$\frac{1}{\left[\frac{1}{3}\right]_{+i}^{-i}} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i} = 1 + \frac{1}{\left[\frac{1}{3}\right]_{+i}^{-i}} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i} \qquad j = 2$$
$$\left(\frac{1}{1} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i} = 1 + \left(\frac{3}{1} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i} \qquad j = 3$$

$$\mathfrak{B}^2_{1,j}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^2_{1,j}(u) \qquad \qquad j$$

Repeating the exercise of identifying the box notation for all ALP it becomes obvious why the functions for j = 2 are not featured in the ALP directly: each Bäcklund flow contains only one nesting path and the j = 2 expressions contain both Bäcklund functions (4.42) and (4.43). In the next section this problem will be addressed using the algebraic expressions for the ALP directly for general s.

Reversing the argument of the Bäcklund transform the utility of the pictorial method becomes clear. Although the auxiliary functions for j = 2 can not feature directly in the ALP of the Bäcklund transforms, this operation can be applied in the pictorial notation to derive for example $\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^2(u)$ from the master equation (M1). Here, the Bäcklund transforms \mathcal{B}_k and \mathcal{B}_m can be applied simultaneously by zeroing or striking Young tableaux such that the LHS only contains a terms like (4.42) and

 $\frac{1}{3}$

(4.43) remain

$$\left(\underbrace{1}_{-1} + \underbrace{2}_{-1} + \underbrace{3}_{-i} \right) \Big|^{-i} \cdot \left(\underbrace{1}_{-1} + \underbrace{2}_{-1} + \underbrace{3}_{-i} \right) \Big|^{+i} = T_1^0(u) \cdot \left(\underbrace{1}_{-2} + \underbrace{1}_{-3} + \underbrace{2}_{-3} \right) \Big|^{-i}_{+i} + T_0^1(u) \cdot \left(\underbrace{1}_{-1} + \underbrace{1}_{-2} + \underbrace{1}_{-3} + \underbrace{1}_{-3} + \underbrace{2}_{-3} + \underbrace{1}_{-3} + \underbrace{3}_{-3} \right) \Big|^{(+i,-i)}.$$

Factorizing the result one obtains

$$\frac{(1+2)^{-i} \cdot (2+3)^{+i}}{T_1^0(u) \cdot (\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{3}+\frac{2}{3})\Big|_{+i}^{-i}} = 1 + \frac{T_0^1(u) \cdot 2^{+i} \cdot 2^{-i}}{T_1^0(u) \cdot (\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{3}+\frac{2}{3})\Big|_{+i}^{-i}}$$

Multiplication of both the numerator and denominator with $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix}_{+i}^{-i}$ the additional $\phi_{\pm}(u)$ terms cancel against $T_0^1(u)$ and $T_1^0(u)$ and one obtains the expression $\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^1(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^1(u)$.

$$\frac{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3}\right)\Big|_{+i}^{-i}}{\left[\frac{1}{3}_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)\right]_{+i}^{-i}} = 1 + \frac{\left[\frac{1}{2}_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2}_{+i}^{-i} + \frac{2}{3}_{+i}^{-i}\right)\right]_{+i}^{-i}}{\left[\frac{1}{3}_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}_{+i}^{-i}\right)\right]_{+i}^{-i}}.$$
(4.46)

A similar derivation for (M2) results in

$$\frac{\left|\frac{1}{3}\right|^{-2i}}{T_1^3(u)\cdot(1+2+3)\right|^0} = 1 + \frac{T_0^2(u)\cdot\left|\frac{1}{3}\right|^{-2i}}{T_1^3(u)\cdot(1+2+3)\right|^0} = 1 + \frac{T_0^2(u)\cdot\left|\frac{1}{3}\right|^{-2i}}{T_1^3(u)\cdot(1+2+3)\left|^0\right|^0}$$

realizing that

$$\boxed{\frac{1}{3}}_{+2i}^{-2i} = \frac{T_1^3(u)}{\boxed{2}}\phi_+(u+2i)\phi_+(u)\phi_-(u)\phi_-(u-2i)$$
(4.47)

one retrieves the second function for j = 2 after re-arranging the terms containing $\phi_{\pm}(u)$. This process can be repeated for all of the auxiliary functions by zeroing the tableaux and multiplying the master equations according to the table 4.1 below.

	Drop Multiply / Replace		Result	
$\mathcal{M}1$	$\boxed{2}^{-1}$ and $\boxed{3}^{-1}$	$1/[1]^{-1}$	$\mathfrak{B}^{1}_{1,1}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^{1}_{1,1}(u)$	
	1^{+1} and 3^{-1}	$\frac{1}{3}_{+1}^{-1} / \frac{1}{3}_{+1}^{-1}$	$\mathfrak{B}^1_{1,2}(u)=1+\mathfrak{b}^1_{1,2}(u)$	
	1^{+1} and 2^{+1}	$1/3^{+1}$	$\mathfrak{B}^1_{1,3}(u)=1+\mathfrak{b}^1_{1,3}(u)$	
$\mathcal{M}2$	3^{+0}	$\frac{1}{2}_{+0}^{-2} \sim 1/3^{+2}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^2(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^2(u)$	
	$\boxed{2}^{+2}$ and $\boxed{2}^{-2}$	$\frac{1}{3}_{+2}^{-2} \sim 1/\left[2\right]^{+0}$	$\mathfrak{B}^2_{1,2}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^2_{1,2}(u)$	
	1^{+0}	$\begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix}_{+2}^{+0} \sim 1/\begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-2}$	$\mathfrak{B}^2_{1,3}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^2_{1,3}(u)$	

Table 4.1: Operations needed on (M1) and (M2) to obtain all auxiliary functions for $U_q[SU(3)]$. With drop is meant set all terms to zero that contain the single box with specific shift. If it is part of product of diagrams, drop the whole product.

Chapter 5

Results for SU(3) symmetric **QTM**

In this chapter the NLIE for SU(3) symmetric QTM for rectangular representations (a, s) will be derived from the ALP appearing in the Bäcklund flow. The problem stated at the end of the previous chapter will be solved by combining the ALP of both Bäcklund flows to retrieve the missing auxiliary functions required to truncate the Y-system and define the NLIE. These NLIE will be numerically evaluated in the thermodynamic limit to obtain the free energy, susceptibility and heat capacity in the rational limit $\gamma \rightarrow 0$. Finally, the low temperature asymptotics of the leading QTM eigenvalue will be derived to confirm that it reduces to the central charge of the Wess-Zumino-Witten-Novikov (WZWN) model [73], as was found for several other instances of the NLIE [62, 76, 80, 127].

5.1 The Auxiliary functions $U_q[SU(3)]$

Now that ALP for both nesting paths and their boundary conditions are well understood the next step is to derive the auxiliary functions for the NLIE from them. Four of the auxiliary functions can be identified directly in the ALP of the single Bäcklund flows without combining them. These are the following ALP for k = m = n = 3

$$T_{k,n}(a, s, u+i)T_{k-1,n}(a-1, s+1, u-i) + T_{k,n}(a-1, s, u)T_{k-1,n}(a, s+1, u) = T_{k,n}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1,n}(a-1, s, u)$$
(5.1)

$$T_{k,n}(a, s, u-i)T_{k-1,n}(a, s+1, u) + T_{k,n}(a+1, s, u)T_{k-1,n}(a-1, s+1, u-i) = T_{k,n}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1,n}(a, s, u-i)$$
(5.2)

$$T_{n,m}(a-1, s, u)T_{n,m-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{n,m}(a, s, u-i)T_{n,m-1}(a-1, s+1, u+i) = T_{n,m}(a, s+1, u)T_{n,m-1}(a-1, s, u)$$
(5.3)

$$T_{n,m}(a, s, u+i)T_{n,m-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{n,m}(a+1, s, u)T_{n,m-1}(a-1, s+1, u+i) = T_{n,m}(a, s+1, u)T_{n,m-1}(a, s, u+i).$$
(5.4)

Which reduce to the auxiliary functions

$$\mathfrak{B}^1_{s,j}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^1_{s,j}(u) \qquad (ALP), \ j$$

$$\frac{T_s^1(u-i)F_{s-1}^0(u-i)}{T_{s-1}^0(u-i)F_s^1(u-i)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^1(u)F_s^0(u-2i)}{T_{s-1}^0(u-i)F_s^1(u-i)} + 1$$
(5.1) $j = 3$ (5.5)

$$\frac{T_s^1(u+i)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^0(u+i)}{T_{s-1}^0(u+i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u+i)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^1(u)\tilde{F}_s^0(u+2i)}{T_{s-1}^0(u+i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u+i)} + 1$$
(5.3) $j = 1$ (5.6)

$$\mathfrak{B}^2_{s,j}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}^2_{s,j}(u) \qquad (ALP), \ j$$

$$\frac{T_s^2(u+i)F_{s-1}^2(u)}{T_{s-1}^3(u+i)F_s^1(u)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^2(u+i)}{T_{s-1}^3(u+i)F_s^1(u)} + 1$$
(5.2) $j = 1$ (5.7)

$$\frac{T_s^2(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^2(u)}{T_{s-1}^3(u-i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u)\tilde{F}_s^2(u-i)}{T_{s-1}^3(u-i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u)} + 1$$
(5.4) $j = 3.$ (5.8)

Where the boundary values of $T_s^3(u), T_s^0(u), F_s^2(u), \tilde{F}_s^2(u) \dots$ are not evaluated on purpose to confirm that the final auxiliary functions multiply to $Y_s^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^3 \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u)$ for general s and a = 1, 2 later.

There are 2×8 unique ALP resulting from (4.18) and (4.28) for different choices of k, m and a (due to duplication), and thus many ways to combine these equations. Only four combinations of three functions will actually give the correct missing auxiliary functions that reduce to the known case for s = 1 [20, 32] (two of them being unique). To try all combinations would be an insurmountable task, but it becomes manageable when using the conditions 1, 2, 3 and 7* from section 3.2 as a guide. The final condition 7* is just the statement that the auxiliary functions combine to $Y_s^a(u) = \prod_{j=1}^N \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^a(u)$. The number N here is bounded to $N \geq 3$ as a result of constraint 3 stating; the NLIE serve to fix the set of unknown functions appearing in the fusion hierarchy through the auxiliary functions for the SU(3) case are: $T_s^1(u), T_s^2(u), F_s^1(u), \tilde{F}_s^1(u), Q_1(u)$ and $Q_2(u)$, so for two Y-functions with a = 1, 2that gives $N \geq 3$. For now N = 3 is taken because we would like the set of auxiliary functions to reduce to the known case of the fundamental representation in SU(3) for s = 1 [20, 32]¹. Writing out the Y-functions

$$Y_s^a(u) = y_s^a(u) + 1 (5.9)$$

$$Y_s^a(u) = \frac{T_s^a(u+i)T_s^a(u-i)}{T_s^{a-1}(u)T_s^{a+1}(u)} \qquad \qquad y_s^a(u) = \frac{T_{s+1}^a(u)T_{s-1}^a(u)}{T_s^{a-1}(u)T_s^{a+1}(u)},$$
(5.10)

¹Note that this restriction is not a necessary one, therefore it was added as optional in the list of section 3.2 (see footnote on the related page).

and substituting the previous equation and lhs of (5.5) and (5.7) into $\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^2(u) = \left(\mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^2(u)\mathfrak{B}_{s,3}^2(u)\right)^{-1}Y_s^2(u)$ implies that

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{2}(u) = \left(\frac{T_{s}^{2}(u+i)F_{s-1}^{2}(u)}{T_{s-1}^{3}(u+i)F_{s}^{1}(u)}\frac{T_{s}^{2}(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^{2}(u)}{T_{s-1}^{3}(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u)}\right)^{-1}\frac{T_{s}^{2}(u+i)T_{s}^{2}(u-i)}{T_{s}^{1}(u)T_{s}^{3}(u)}$$
(5.11)

$$=\frac{F_s^1(u)\tilde{F}_s^1(u)T_{s-1}^3(u-i)}{T_s^1(u)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^2(u)F_{s-1}^2(u)}$$
(5.12)

The condition 1 further imposes that $\mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^a(u)$ only contains unknown functions with symmetric fusion index s or smaller to avoid the infinite recursive behavior seen in the Y-functions (5.10). Finally, condition 2 is fulfilled by default because the ALP used in the derivation only contain quotients and partial sums of the unknown functions and partial eigenvalues.

Using the conditions described above one finds by trial and error that the ALP that obey these conditions are (4.29b) at k = 3, a = 2 and k = 2, a = 1 and (4.15a) at k = 3, a = 2

$$T_s^2(u-i)F_s^1(u) = T_s^1(u)F_s^2(u-i) + T_{s-1}^2(u)F_{s+1}^1(u-i)$$
(5.13)

$$T_s^2(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^2(u) = T_{s-1}^2(u)\tilde{F}_s^2(u-i) + T_{s-1}^3(u-i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u)$$
(5.14)

$$F_s^1(u-i)Q_1(u-is)\phi_-(u+is) = F_s^0(u)Q_1(u+is)\phi_-(u-is) + F_{s-1}^1(u)Q_1(u-i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_-(u+is).$$
(5.15)

To obtain the auxiliary functions combine first the equations on $T_s^2(u-i)$, re-arranging terms so the left hand side matches (5.11), where $F_{s-1}^2(u) = F_s^2(u-i)$ by virtue of (4.30a). Then restore the $\mathfrak{B} = 1 + \mathfrak{b}$ form by substituting $F_{s+1}^1(u-i)$ using the final equation resulting in

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{2}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{2}(u) + 1$$

$$\frac{\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u)F_{s}^{1}(u)T_{s-1}^{3}(u-i)}{T_{s}^{1}(u)\tilde{F}_{s-1}^{2}(u)F_{s}^{2}(u-i)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^{2}(u)F_{s+1}^{0}(u)Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+3))}{T_{s}^{1}(u)F_{s}^{2}(u-i)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s+1))} + 1.$$
(5.17)

Here the following identity was used to remove the $\tilde{F}_s^2(u)$ boundaries from the equation

$$\frac{\tilde{F}_s^2(u-i)}{\tilde{F}_{s-1}^2(u)} = \frac{Q_1(u-i(s+3))}{Q_1(u-i(s+1))}.$$
(5.18)

Finally, evaluating $Y_s^2(u) = \prod_{j=1}^3 \mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^2(u)$ for the a = 2 auxiliary functions presented above gives the desired result

$$\frac{T_s^2(u+i)T_s^2(u-i)}{T_s^1(u)}\frac{F_{s-1}^2(u)}{T_{s-1}^3(u+i)F_s^2(u-i)} = Y_s^2(u)$$
(5.19)

where the second fraction reduces to

$$\frac{F_{s-1}^2(u)}{T_{s-1}^3(u+i)F_s^2(u-i)} = \frac{1}{T_s^3(u)}$$
(5.20)

due to the boundary conditions from section 4.4.

For the other auxiliary function combine the ALPs (resp line 1 of (4.28) or the conjugate of (4.17b), (4.17a) and (4.29a))

$$T_s^1(u+i)F_s^1(u-i) = T_s^2(u)F_s^0(u) + T_{s-1}^1(u)F_{s+1}^1(u)$$
(5.21)

$$T_{s}^{1}(u+i)\dot{F}_{s-1}^{0}(u+i) = T_{s-1}^{1}(u)\dot{F}_{s}^{0}(u+2i) + T_{s-1}^{0}(u+i)\dot{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)$$
(5.22)

$$F_{s+1}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u+is)\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+2)) = F_{s}^{1}(u-i)Q_{1}(u+i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+2)) + F_{s}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is) \quad (5.23)$$

again using a similar identity

$$\frac{\tilde{F}_{s}^{0}(u+2i)}{\tilde{F}_{s-1}^{0}(u+i)} = \frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+2))}{Q_{1}(u+is)}$$
(5.24)

which results in the auxiliary function

$$\mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{1}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{1}(u) + 1 \tag{5.25}$$

$$\frac{F_s^1(u-i)\tilde{F}_s^1(u+i)T_s^0(u)}{T_s^2(u)F_s^0(u)\tilde{F}_s^0(u)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^1(u)F_s^2(u)Q_1(u-i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_-(u+is)}{T_s^2(u)F_s^0(u)Q_1(u+is)\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+2))} + 1.$$
(5.26)

The left hand side of this equation now defines $\mathfrak{B}^1_{s,2}(u)$ which combines with (5.5) and (5.6) into $Y^1_s(u)$ as desired.

5.2 Derivation of the NLIE

In this section the process described in section 3 will be followed for deriving the NLIE. For the driving term of the NLIE to have consistent results both above and below the real line after applying the Fourier transform (3.7) the auxiliary functions should be in minimal polynomial formulation (see section 2.2 for reference). Since the auxiliary functions are now known the Hirota structure of the bilinear fusion equation (2.24) is no longer needed and the extra zeros for the minimal polynomial conditions for $T'_{s}^{a}(u)$ (4.35a) can be re-introduced. To reflect this change in the auxiliary functions the notation will be changed to $B_{s,j}^{a}(u)$ and $b_{s,j}^{a}(u)$. The Y-functions are included here because they are needed to solve the s > 1 case where a pair (a = 1, 2) is needed for each level of s - 1. Considering the auxiliary functions relevant case where the auxiliary and quantum space have the same fusion content $s = s_q$ results in.

$$Y_{s}^{1}(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)T'_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)}{T'_{s-1}^{2}(u)\prod_{j=1}^{s-1}\phi_{+}(u-i2j)\phi_{-}(u+i2j)}$$
(5.27a)

$$Y_s^2(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^2(u-i)T'_{s-1}^2(u+i)}{T'_{s-1}^1(u)\prod_{j=1}^{s-1}\phi_+(u+i(2j+3))\phi_-(u-i(2j+3))}$$
(5.27b)

$$B_{s,1}^{1}(u) = \frac{T_{s}^{\prime 1}(u+i)Q_{1}(u+is)}{\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)\prod_{1 \le j \le s} \phi_{-}(u+i(2j-1))}$$
(5.27c)

$$B_{s,2}^{1}(u) = \frac{F_{s}^{1}(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)}{T_{s}^{\prime 2}(u)Q_{1}(u+is)Q_{2}(u-is)}$$
(5.27d)

$$B_{s,3}^{1}(u) = \frac{T'_{s}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u-is)}{F_{s}^{1}(u-i)\prod_{1 \le j \le s} \phi_{+}(u-i(2j-1))}$$
(5.27e)

$$B_{s,1}^2(u) = \frac{T_s'^2(u+i)Q_2(u+i(s+1))}{F_s^1(u)\prod_{1\le j\le s}\phi_+(u+i(2j+2))}$$
(5.27f)

$$B_{s,2}^{2}(u) = \frac{F_{s}^{1}(u)\bar{F}_{s}^{1}(u)}{T_{s}^{\prime 1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}$$
(5.27g)

$$B_{s,3}^2(u) = \frac{T'_s^2(u-i)Q_1(u-i(s+1))}{\tilde{F}_s^1(u)\prod_{1\le j\le s}\phi_-(u-i(2j+2))}$$
(5.27h)

$$y_s^1(u) = \frac{T_s'(u)T_{s-2}'(u)}{T_{s-1}'^2(u)\prod_{j=1}^{s-1}\phi_+(u-i2j)\phi_-(u+i2j)}$$
(5.28a)

$$y_s^2(u) = \frac{T'_s(u)T'_{s-2}(u)}{T'_{s-1}(u)\prod_{j=1}^{s-1}\phi_+(u+i(2j+3))\phi_-(u-i(2j+3))}$$
(5.28b)

$$b_{s,1}^{1}(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u+i(s+2))\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)}{\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)\prod_{1\leq j\leq s}\phi_{-}(u+i(2j-1))}$$
(5.28c)

$$b_{s,2}^{1}(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+2))Q_{2}(u+i(s+2))}{T'_{s}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u+is)Q_{2}(u-is)}\phi_{+}(u+i)\phi_{-}(u-i)$$
(5.28d)

$$b_{s,3}^{1}(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{2}(u-i(s+2))\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)}{F_{s}^{1}(u-i)\prod_{1\leq j\leq s}\phi_{+}(u-i(2j-1))}$$
(5.28e)

$$b_{s,1}^2(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^2(u)Q_2(u+i(s+3))\phi_+(u+2i)\phi_-(u-2i)}{F_s^1(u)\prod_{1\le j\le s}\phi_+(u+i(2j+2))}$$
(5.28f)

$$b_{s,2}^{2}(u) = \frac{T_{s-1}^{\prime 2}(u)Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{T_{s}^{\prime 1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}\phi_{+}(u+2i)\phi_{-}(u-2i) \quad (5.28g)$$

$$b_{s,3}^2(u) = \frac{T'_{s-1}^2(u)Q_1(u-i(s+3))\phi_-(u-2i)\phi_+(u+2i)}{\tilde{F}_s^1(u)\prod_{1\le j\le s}\phi_-(u-i(2j+2))}$$
(5.28h)

The next step is to apply the Fourier transform as described in (3.7) to all the auxiliary problems above and eliminate the unknown functions $Q_{1,2}$ the QTM eigenvalues and the Bäcklund functions to obtain the NLIE. To apply the Fourier transform all functions need to be well behaved i.e. Analytic, Non-Zero and Constant (ANZC) around the real line (which is ensured by the constraints 5 and 7). For the Q-functions and QTM eigenvalues this was already confirmed in section 2.5. For the Bäcklund and auxiliary functions the analyticity conditions were also confirmed for small s and N. The Bäcklund functions have roots gathered along lines parallel to the real axis through the following points

$$F_s^1(u), F_s^1(u): \pm 2i(s+2-k) \text{ for } s > 1$$
 (5.29)

where j = 1, ..., s, k = 1, ..., s + 1 and $s = 1, ..., s_q$ and $\pm 2i$ at s = 1. Based on studies of the root pattern of these functions at finite N one can conjecture a general structure for the roots at $N \to \infty^2$. Which results in the following analyticity strips for the auxiliary functions

$$b_{s,i}^{1}(u), B_{s,i}^{1}(u) \qquad \Im \mathfrak{m}(u) \in \left] - i, i\right[\tag{5.30a}$$

$$B_{s,j}^{2}(u), B_{s,j}^{2}(u) \qquad \Im \mathfrak{m}(u) \in]-2i, 2i[$$
(5.30b)

$$y_{s,1}^{a}(u), Y_{s,1}^{a}(u) \qquad \Im \mathfrak{m}(u) \in \left] - i(s_{q} + a - s + 1), i(s_{q} + a - s + 1)\right[, \qquad (5.30c)$$

From this point onward we shall specialize to the rational $\gamma \to 0$ limit. Applying the Fourier transform at $s_q = s$ to the auxiliary functions,

$$f[q] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \ln f(u) e^{-iqu} \frac{du}{2\pi}.$$
(5.31)

One can arrange coupled equations using the vectors

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q] \\ \vec{b}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (y_1^1[q], y_1^2[q], \dots, y_{s-1}^1[q], y_{s-1}^2[q], b_{s,1}^1[q], \dots, b_{s,3}^2[q])^T$$
(5.32)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q] \\ \vec{B}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (Y_1^1[q], Y_1^2[q], \dots, Y_{s-1}^1[q], Y_{s-1}^2[q], B_{s,1}^1[q], \dots, B_{s,3}^2[q])^T$$
(5.33)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{T'}[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix} = (T'_{1}^{1}[q], T'_{1}^{2}[q], \dots, T'_{s}^{1}[q], T'_{s}^{2}[q], F_{s}^{1}[q], \tilde{F}_{s}^{1}[q], Q_{1}[q], Q_{2}[q])^{T}$$
(5.34)

into

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q] \\ \vec{b}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}_{y}[q] + \mathcal{M}_{1}[q] \begin{pmatrix} \vec{T'}[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.35)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q] \\ \vec{B}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}_{Y}[q] + \mathcal{M}_{2}[q] \begin{pmatrix} T'[q] \\ \vec{F}[q] \\ \vec{Q}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.36)

which can be combined into coupled set of NLIE

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{y}[q] \\ \vec{b}[q] \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}[q] + \mathcal{K}[q] \begin{pmatrix} \vec{Y}[q] \\ \vec{B}[q] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.37)

²This working definition has been used for all works concerning finite sets of NLIE of this type. Explicit proof exists for the case of the $U_q[Sl(2)]$ spin-1/2 (or XXZ) chain [37].

Where $\mathcal{K}[q]$ is the Fourier transform of the integration kernel,

$$\mathcal{K}[q] = \mathcal{M}_{1}[q]\mathcal{M}_{2}^{-1}[q] =
\begin{pmatrix}
-K_{d}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\
\mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & -K_{d}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & 0 & & & & \\
0 & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\
0 & 0 & \ddots & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & 0 & 0 & 0 & \\
\vdots & & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & -K_{d}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{b}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{t}[q] \\
0 & & \dots & 0 & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{B}[q] & \\
0 & & \dots & 0 & \mathcal{K}_{a}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{B}[q] & \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.38)

Here $\mathcal{K}_{a,d,t,b}[q]$ are permutations of the same 2×2 matrix with identical entries on either the anti-diagonal (a) diagonal (d) top (t) or bottom (b) line

$$\mathcal{K}_{d}[q] = \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{q} + e^{-q} \\ e^{q} + e^{-q} & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{K}_{y_{1}}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{y_{2}}[q] \\ \mathcal{K}_{y_{2}}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{y_{1}}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.39)

$$\mathcal{K}_{a}[q] = \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \begin{pmatrix} e^{q} + e^{-q} & 1\\ 1 & e^{q} + e^{-q} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.40)

$$\mathcal{K}_t[q] = \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ e^q + e^{-q} & e^q + e^{-q} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.41)

$$\mathcal{K}_{b}[q] = \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \begin{pmatrix} e^{q} + e^{-q} & e^{q} + e^{-q} \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.42)

 $\mathcal{K}_B[q]$ is a 6 × 6 matrix that is exactly the same as the s = 1 kernel described in [20, 32], remarkably the s dependence completely cancels. We will restate the result here

.

$$\mathcal{K}_{B}[q] = \begin{pmatrix}
\mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{4}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{6}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{5}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{6}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{4}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{6}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{5}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{1}[q] \\
-\mathcal{K}_{5}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{3}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & -\mathcal{K}_{2}[q] & \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.43)

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{K}_{0}[q] &= \frac{e^{-2|q|}}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \\ \mathcal{K}_{2}[q] &= \frac{e^{3q - |q|} + 1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \\ \mathcal{K}_{2}[q] &= \frac{e^{3q - |q|} + 1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \\ \mathcal{K}_{4}[q] &= \frac{e^{-3q - 2|q|}}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \\ \mathcal{K}_{6}[q] &= \frac{\left(2e^{|q|} + e^{-|q|} + e^{-3|q|}\right)}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \\ \end{split}$$

The kernel itself is retrieved by

$$K(x) \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}[q] e^{iqx} dq.$$
(5.44)

For practical purposes, the kernel always features as part of the convolution with the logarithm of the vectors (5.33) (see (5.37)) which will be resolved in the numerical evaluation with FFT. The exception being when finding the asymptotic limits of the QTM, where the required expressions will be stated explicitly.

The driving term is given by

$$\mathcal{D}[q] = \mathcal{D}_{y}[q] - \mathcal{K}[q]\mathcal{D}_{Y}[q]$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vdots \\ \mathcal{D}_{[q]_{1}} \\ \mathcal{D}_{[q]_{1}} \\ \mathcal{D}_{[q]_{2}} \\ \mathcal$$

where the dotted entries are equal to zero. It can be shown that all the terms related to B, y and Y vanish as was also the case for the $SU(2)_s$ symmetric problem [127] (see Appendix D.1 for an explicit derivation). Only the final six components of the driving term remain. These terms result from the auxiliary functions $\mathcal{D}[q]_1 \propto b_{s,j}^1[q]$ and $\mathcal{D}[q]_2 \propto b_{s,j}^2[q]$.

Using the definition of

$$\phi_{\pm}(u) = \left(\frac{\sinh[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u \mp i\xi)]}{\sin(\gamma)}\right)^{N/2} \xrightarrow{\gamma \to 0} \left(\frac{u \mp i\xi}{2}\right)^{N/2}$$
(5.45)

where $\xi = \frac{h_R \beta}{N}$ and h_R is some constant which depends on the normalization of the Hamiltonian, the remaining driving terms can be shown to be

$$\mathcal{D}_{b_{s,j}^1}[q] = -\frac{e^q + e^{-q}}{1 + e^{2q} + e^{-2q}} iN(e^{q\xi} - e^{-q\xi})$$
(5.46)

$$\mathcal{D}_{b_{s,j}^2}[q] = -\frac{1}{1 + e^{2q} + e^{-2q}} iN(e^{q\xi} - e^{-q\xi})$$
(5.47)

when $s = s_q$. After taking the limit $N \to \infty$, taking the inverse Fourier transform and integral with respect to u one obtains

$$D_{b_{s,j}^1}(u) = -\frac{2\pi h_R \beta}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\left(\frac{\pi u}{3}\right) - 1} + c_{(1,j)}$$
(5.48)

$$D_{b_{s,j}^2}(u) = -\frac{2\pi h_R \beta}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\left(\frac{\pi u}{3}\right) + 1} + c_{(2,j)}.$$
(5.49)

in the case without external fields μ , h the constant terms $c_{(1,2,j)}$ vanish. This is again exactly the same as found in Klümper & Fujii [32] up to some factors of 2 due to the difference in our definition of the *R*-matrix (1.3).

5.3 QTM eigenvalue & asymptotic behavior

What is left express the quantum transfer matrix eigenvalue in terms of the auxiliary functions as was demonstrated in (3.14). To do this we introduce the normalization as described in section 2.3 such that the QTM is convergent in the limit $u \to \pm \infty$

$$\bar{T}_{s}^{a}(u) = \frac{T_{s}^{a}(u)}{\prod_{j=1}^{s_{q}} \phi_{+}(u + i(2j + a_{a} - 1))\phi_{-}(u - i(2j + a_{a} - 1))}$$
(5.50)

. .

To find the eigenvalue in terms of the auxiliary functions we combine the Fourier transform of $Y_s^{1,2}(u)$

$$Y_s^a(u) = \frac{T_s^a(u+i)T_s^a(u-i)}{T_s^{a+1}(u)T_s^{a-1}(u)} = B_{s,1}^a(u)B_{s,2}^a(u)B_{s,3}^a(u)$$
(5.51)

inserting values a = 1, 2 taking the Fourier transform (5.31) and combining them to cancel $T_s^2[q]$ one obtains after normalization

$$\bar{T}_{s}^{1}[q] = \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \left(T_{s}^{3}[q] + (e^{q} + e^{-q}) T_{s}^{0}[q] + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left((e^{q} + e^{-q}) B_{s,j}^{1}[q] + B_{s,j}^{2}[q] \right) \right) - \mathcal{F}_{q} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{s} \phi_{+}(u+2j)\phi_{-}(u-2j) \right],$$
(5.52)

where the boundary conditions for T_s^1 and T_s^3 can be resolved by (5.50) and (4.31)

$$\bar{T}_{s}^{1}[q] = \frac{(e^{q} - e^{-q})(e^{\xi q} - e^{-\xi q})}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \sum_{j=1}^{s} iNe^{-2j|q| + |q|} + \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{3} \left((e^{q} + e^{-q})B_{s,j}^{1}[q] + B_{s,j}^{2}[q] \right) \right)$$
(5.53)

Using the inverse Fourier transform one obtains

$$\ln T_s^1(u) = D_T(u) + \sum_{a=1}^2 \sum_{j=1}^3 \left[V^a * \ln B_{s,j}^a \right](u),$$
(5.54)

where

$$V^{1}(u) = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\left(\frac{\pi u}{3}\right) - 1}, \qquad V^{2}(u) = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\left(\frac{\pi u}{3}\right) + 1}$$
(5.55)

and the driving term in Fourier space is given by

$$D_T(u) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(e^q + e^{-q})(e^{\xi q} - e^{-\xi q})}{iq(e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1)} \sum_{j=1}^s iNe^{-2j|q| + |q|}e^{iqu}dq + c$$
(5.56)

$$\stackrel{N \to \infty}{=} 2h_R \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\beta(e^q + e^{-q})}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \sum_{j=1}^{s} e^{-2j|q| + |q|} e^{iqu} dq + c$$
(5.57)

$$D_T(0) = 4h_R \beta \int_0^\infty \frac{(1+e^{-2q})}{e^{2q}+e^{-2q}+1} \sum_{j=1}^s e^{-2jq+2q} dq + c$$
(5.58)

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{s-1} \left(\frac{2h_R\beta}{3} \left[\psi \left(1 + \frac{1}{3}n \right) - \psi \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{3}n \right) \right] \right) + c$$
(5.59)

$$=h_R\beta\left\{\ln 3(1-\delta_{0,mod_3(s)}) + \frac{\pi}{3\sqrt{3}}(\delta_{1,mod_3(s)}-\delta_{2,mod_3(s)}) + \frac{2}{3}\sum_{n=1}^s \left[\sum_{n=1}^{s+1}\frac{1}{n} - \sum_{n=1}^{s-1}\frac{1}{n} - \frac{3}{4}\frac{1}{n}\right]\right\} (5.60)$$

Which coincides with the s = 1 case. In the last line we replaced c by the asymptotic value of $\ln \bar{T}_s^1(u)$ and the limiting values of the integrals. The digamma functions were evaluated using the identity

$$\psi(x+1) = \psi(x) + \frac{1}{x},$$
(5.61)

using this fact only three possible combinations of dilogarithm functions occur.

$$\psi(1) - \psi(1/3) = \frac{3\log(3)}{2} + \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{3}}$$
(5.62)

$$\psi(1/3) - \psi(2/3) = -\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \tag{5.63}$$

$$\psi(2/3) - \psi(1) = -\frac{3\log(3)}{2} + \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{3}}$$
 (5.64)

Returning to (5.50) one wants to calculate the constant c in the previous equation. Inserting the definition of $\phi_{\pm} = \left(\frac{u \pm i\xi}{2}\right)^{N/2}$ with $\xi = \frac{h_R\beta}{N}$ into

$$\bar{T}_s^1(u) = \frac{T_s^1(u)}{\prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_+(u+i2j)\phi_-(u-i2j)}$$
(5.65)

at u = 0 and taking the log one obtains

$$\ln \bar{T}_{s}^{1}(0) = \ln T_{s}^{1}(0) - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left[\prod_{i=1}^{s} \left(i - \frac{h_{R}\beta}{2N} \right)^{2} \right]$$
(5.66)

Expanding up to leading order in 1/N

$$\ln \bar{T}_s^1(0) = \ln T_s^1(0) - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left[(s!)^2 - \sum_{i=1}^s \frac{(s!)^2}{i} \frac{h_R \beta}{2N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \right],$$
(5.67)

it is clear that $\bar{T}_s^1(0)$ has non-constant asymptotic value for $N \to \infty$. This constant results from each *R*-matrix picking up a multiplicative constant proportional to *s* at

each step of fusion in the quantum space (i.e. Trotter space of the QTM) resulting in $1 \times \cdots \times s = s!$ for each *R*-matrix. The resulting term gives $(s!)^N$ which cancels this term exactly. Canceling terms and finally taking the limit $N \to \infty$ results in

$$\ln \bar{T}_{s}^{1}(0) = \ln T_{s}^{1}(0) + \left[\sum_{n=1}^{s} \frac{1}{n}\right] \frac{h_{R}\beta}{2}$$
(5.68)

5.4 Numerical evaluation

5.4.1 Integrability, particle/hole transform.

The iterative evaluation of the integral equations derived above in some cases do not converge, due to non-contractive integral expansions. The full set of auxiliary functions has the form

$$\ln \vec{y}(u) = -\beta D(u) + [K * \ln(1 + \vec{y})](u).$$
(5.69)

where \vec{y} again indicates the composite vector of auxiliary functions y and b through (5.32). In order to understand the behavior of the integral terms we study the high temperature limit $\beta \to 0$ where the auxiliary functions can be expanded as

$$y_j = \vec{y}_{j,\infty}(1 + \beta a_j) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^2) \tag{5.70}$$

with some a_i . Linearizing the integral equations results in

$$\ln(y_{j,\infty}) + \alpha_j \beta = -\beta D_j + \sum_l K_{j,l}(0) \ln(1 + y_{\infty,l}) + \sum_l K_{j,l}(0) \frac{y_{\infty,l}}{1 + y_{\infty,l}} \beta \alpha_l, \quad (5.71)$$

the first order corrections then become

$$\alpha_j = -D_j + \sum_l K_{j,l}(0) \frac{y_{\infty,l}}{1 + y_{\infty,l}} \alpha_l.$$
(5.72)

Explicit calculations show that

$$\left| K_{j,l}(0) \frac{y_{\infty,l}}{1 + y_{\infty,l}} \right| > 1.$$
(5.73)

This is the cause of the divergent behavior which can be removed by choosing the alternative definition of auxiliary functions $\tilde{y}_s^a(u) = (y_s^a(u))^{-1}$ and $\tilde{Y}_s^a(u) = 1 + \tilde{y}_s^a(u) = Y_s^a(u)/y_s^a(u)$ (known as particle-hole transform) and keeping the same $b_{s,j}^a(u)$ and $B_{s,j}^a(u)$. This different choice of auxiliary functions only induces changes to the kernel and does not influence the driving terms (since they all vanish for non *b* terms see appendix D.1). Unfortunately, the expression for the kernel is different for each case of s > 1, the first few cases will be listed below.

Kernel for $s = 2$								
	(0	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	0	0	0)
	$ ilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$	0	0	0	0	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	$-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$
	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	0	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_4[q]$
$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}[a] =$	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	0	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_6[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$
$\mathcal{K}[q] =$	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	0	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_5[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$
	0	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_4[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$
	0	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_6[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_1[q]$
	0	$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_y[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_5[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_3[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_2[q]$	$\mathcal{K}_0[q]$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y}[q] &= \frac{1}{2\cosh q} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{3}[q] &= -\frac{e^{2|q|}}{(2\cosh(q)(1+2\cosh(2q)))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0}[q] &= \frac{1+e^{-2|q|}}{1+2\cosh(2q)} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1}[q] &= -\frac{e^{-3q-|q|}}{1+2\cosh(2q)} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1}[q] &= -\frac{e^{-3q-|q|}}{1+2\cosh(2q)} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2}[q] &= -\frac{e^{3q-|q|}}{1+2\cosh(2q)} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{6}[q] &= -e^{-|q|} - \frac{e^{2|q|}}{(2\cosh(q))(1+2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{6}[q] &= -e^{-|q|} - \frac{e^{2|q|}}{(2\cosh(q))(1+2\cosh(2q))} \\ \end{split}$$

Kernel for s = 3

$$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}[q] = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,3}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,3}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{3,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.74)

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,1}[q] = \begin{pmatrix} -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \\ -\mathcal{K}_{y_2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.75)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,2}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,1}[q] = -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,2}^T[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,3}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{3,1}[q] = -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,3}^T[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_0[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_1[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_1[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_2[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_0[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_1[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,3}[q] = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_4[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] &= \frac{1}{1+2\cosh(2q)} & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_3[q] = \frac{e^{3|q|}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] &= \frac{2\cosh(q)}{1+2\cosh(2q)} & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_4[q] = \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{-7q} + e^{-5q} + e^{-3q} - e^q - e^{-q}}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{-3q}}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_6[q] &= \frac{e^{2|q|} + 3 + 2e^{-2|q|} + e^{-4|q|}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_5[q] = \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{-7q} + e^{-5q} + e^{-3q} - e^q - e^{-q}}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{-3q}}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_6[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{-6q} + e^{-4q} + e^{-2q} - 1}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{-4q} + e^{-2q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_6[q] &= \frac{e^{-|q|}(1+e^{-4|q|})(1+2e^{2|q|}+2e^{-4|q|})}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_2[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{6q} + e^{4q} + e^{2q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{6q} + e^{4q} + e^{2q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_6[q] &= \frac{e^{-|q|}(1+e^{-4|q|})(1+2e^{2|q|}+2e^{-4|q|})}{(1+2\cosh(q))^2} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_2[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{6q} + e^{4q} + e^{2q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{6q} + e^{4q} + e^{2q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))^2} \end{cases} \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

Kernel for s = 4

$$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}[q] = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,3}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,3}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{3,1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.76)

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,1}[q] = \begin{pmatrix}
-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] \\
\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\
-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -2\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\
\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & -2\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] \\
-\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \\
\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\
\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\
\end{array}$$
(5.77)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,2}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1,3}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] & -\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2,2}[q] &= \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1}[q] \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2}[q] & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0}[q] \end{pmatrix} \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_1}[q] &= \frac{1}{2\cosh(2q)} & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_2}[q] = \frac{(1+2\cosh(2q))}{(2\cosh q)(2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_3}[q] &= \frac{\cosh q}{\cosh(2q)} & \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{y_4}[q] = \frac{1}{(2\cosh q)(2\cosh(2q))} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0}[q] &= \frac{e^{-4|q|} + e^{-2|q|} + 2 + e^{2|q|}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{1}[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{-6q} + e^{-2q} - 1}{(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & \frac{e^{-4q}}{(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{2}[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{4q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & \frac{e^{6q} + e^{2q} - 1}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{3}[q] &= -\frac{e^{4|q|}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{4}[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{8q} + e^{-6q} + e^{-4q} - 1 - e^{2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{-8q} + e^{-6q} + e^{-4q} - 1 - e^{2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{8q} + e^{6q} + e^{4q} - 1 - e^{-2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{5}[q] &= \begin{cases} q \ge 0 & -\frac{e^{8q} + e^{6q} + e^{4q} - 1 - e^{-2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{8q} + e^{6q} + e^{4q} - 1 - e^{-2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ q < 0 & -\frac{e^{8q} + e^{6q} + e^{4q} - 1 - e^{-2q}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{6}[q] &= -\frac{e^{-6|q|} + 2e^{-4|q|} + 3e^{-2|q|} + 3 + 2e^{2|q|} + 2e^{4|q|}}{(2\cosh q)(1+2\cosh(2q))(2\cosh(2q))} \end{split}$$

5.4.2 Numerical evaluation

The equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} \ln \vec{y} \\ \ln \vec{b} \end{pmatrix}(u) = \mathcal{D}(u) + \left[\mathcal{K} * \begin{pmatrix} \ln \vec{Y} \\ \ln \vec{B} \end{pmatrix} \right](u)$$
(5.78)

and their derivatives were solved numerically using the method described in (3.1) for $s \leq 4$. Here $\mathcal{D}(u)$ is given by (5.48) and (5.49) and the kernels are presented in the previous section. The results were used to compute the transfer matrix eigenvalue and its derivatives through

$$\ln T_s^1(u) = D_T(u) + \sum_{a=1}^2 \sum_{j=1}^3 \left[V^a * \ln B_{s,j}^a \right](u),$$
(5.79)

to derive the free energy, entropy and specific heat for SU(3) symmetric QTM with non-fundamental representations

$$f = -\frac{1}{\beta} \ln T_s^a(0), \qquad S = -\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial T}\right)_{\mu}, \qquad C = -T\left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial T^2}\right)_n.$$

The results are presented in figure 5.1 below. For the s = 4 case not all thermodynamic properties could be found up to the desired precision within a finite time. This is due to the number of equations (5.78) increasing as $o_d(6+2s)$ where o_d is the order of the derivative in β as a result of the connection of the auxiliary functions and their derivatives through (3.17).



Figure 5.1: All of the above curves are accurate up to 10^{-8} . Higher precision can be obtained by increasing the number of iterations. Unfortunately for s = 4 the number of iterations becomes excessively large for obtaining acceptable accuracy of the capacity, so it is only shown for T > 2.

5.5 Low temperature asymptotics

Following [62, 76, 80, 127] we will evaluate the QTM eigenvalue (5.54) in the low temperature limit $T \to 0$. Like in the $SU(2)_s$ case the auxiliary functions in the $SU(3)_s$ case show sharp crossover behavior at the points

$$u = \pm \frac{3}{\pi} (u + \log(\beta h_R \pi)).$$
 (5.80)

such that $|b_{s,j}^a|, |\log B_{s,j}^a| \ll 1$ if $|u| \ll \pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_R \pi))|$ and $\mathcal{O}(1)$ if $|u| \gg \pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_R \pi)))$. In analogy to the $SU(2)_s$ case we will introduce the scaling functions

$$lb_{j}^{a\pm}(u) = \log b_{s,j}^{a}(\pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_{R}\pi)))$$
(5.81)

$$lB_{j}^{a\pm}(u) = \log B_{s,j}^{a}(\pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_{R}\pi)))$$
(5.82)

$$ly_k^{a\pm}(u) = \log y_k^a(\pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_R \pi)))$$
(5.83)

$$lY_k^{a\pm}(u) = \log Y_k^a(\pm \frac{3}{\pi}(u + \log(\beta h_R \pi)))$$
(5.84)

where $1 \leq j \leq 3$, $1 \leq k \leq s - 1$. Making the substitution (5.80) into the relation for $\log T_s^1(u)$ (5.54), one can expand up to first order in β to obtain the first correction term

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\frac{1}{\beta h_R \pi^2} \left[e^{\frac{\pi}{3}u} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-y} \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} lB_j^{a+}(y) dy + e^{-\frac{\pi}{3}u} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-y} \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} lB_j^{a-}(y) dy \right].$$
(5.85)

The integrals can be done especially following the technique in [83, 127]. If the kernel obeys the symmetry $\mathcal{K}_{i,j}(u) = K_{j,i}(-u)$ and the driving terms decay exponentially (especially (5.50)), one can derive an analytical expression for the previous equation, the result will be expressed in terms of functions F_{\pm} which are solved by means of dilogarithm functions. Because all kernels proposed above obey the needed symmetry condition this method can also be applied in the case studied here. To begin the derivation the following vectors are introduced

$$\overrightarrow{lA^{\pm}} = \left(lY_1^{1^{\pm}}(u), \dots lY_{s-1}^{2^{\pm}}(u), lB_1^{1^{\pm}}(u), \dots, lB_3^{2^{\pm}}(u) \right)$$
(5.86)

$$\overline{lA^{\pm'}} = \left(\partial_u lY_1^{1\pm}(u), \dots, \partial_u lY_{s-1}^{2\pm}(u), \partial_u lB_1^{1\pm}(u), \dots, \partial_u lB_3^{2\pm}(u)\right).$$
(5.87)

which are the Fourier transforms of (5.32) with substitution (5.80) and their derivatives.

Introducing the limit and change of coordinates (5.80) into the NLIE results in

$$\begin{pmatrix} \overline{ly^{\pm}}(u) \\ \overline{lb^{1\pm}}(u) \\ \overline{lb^{2\pm}}(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}e^{-u} \\ -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}e^{-u} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\mathcal{K}} * \left(\begin{array}{c} \overline{lY^{\pm}} \\ \overline{lB^{1\pm}} \\ \overline{lB^{2\pm}} \end{array} \right) \end{bmatrix} (u)$$
(5.88)

where

$$\bar{K}(u) = \frac{3}{\pi} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{3}{\pi}u\right).$$
(5.89)

Again following [83, 127] take the difference of the derivative of the NLIE (5.88) multiplied by (5.86) and subtract the NLIE (5.88) multiplied by (5.87). The lhs of

the resulting equation is

$$LHS = \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{s-1} \left[\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} ly_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right) lY_{j}^{a\pm}(u) - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u} lY_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right) ly_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right] + \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left[\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u} lb_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right) lB_{j}^{a\pm}(u) - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u} lB_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right) lb_{j}^{a\pm}(u) \right],$$
(5.90)

now integrate the resulting expression and define

$$F_{\pm} \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [(5.90)] \, du. \tag{5.91}$$

The rhs of (5.88) then contains terms of the form

$$\int du \frac{dy}{2\pi} lA_i^{\pm}(u) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{i,j}(u-y)\right) lA_j^{\pm}(y) - \int du \frac{dy}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u} lA_i^{\pm}(u)\right) \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{j,i}(u-y) lA_j^{\pm}(y).$$
(5.92)

By using the symmetry of the kernel $\partial_x \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{i,j}(x-y) = -\partial_y \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{i,j}(x-y) = -\partial_y \bar{\mathcal{K}}_{j,i}(y-x)$ and integration by parts it can be shown that all terms containing the kernel cancel. The remaining terms on the rhs result from the driving terms which combined with (5.91) results in

$$F_{\pm} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}} \int e^{-y} \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} l B_{j}^{a\pm}(y) dy.$$
 (5.93)

These quantities are the amplitudes occurring in the correction term (5.85). The problem of finding the correction term is now reduced to finding an explicit analytic expression for (5.91), i.e. the integral of (5.90). Fortunately, the integrals to be taken are complete differentials. Changing variables in (5.91) from x to the auxiliary functions $y_j, b_1^1, \ldots, b_3^2$, the sums in (5.91) are

$$\sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{a_{j}^{a}(-\infty)}^{a_{j}^{a}(\infty)} \frac{\log(1+a)}{a} - \frac{\log a}{1+a} da = 2 \sum_{a=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left[L_{+}(a_{j}^{a\pm}(\infty)) - L_{+}(a_{j}^{a\pm}(-\infty)) \right],$$
(5.94)

where a_j^a denotes any of the functions $y_j, b_1^1, \ldots, b_3^2$ and $L_+(z)$ is related to Rogers dilogarithm function L(x) by $L_+(z) = L(z/(1+z))$ [73] with,

$$L(z) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^z \left(\frac{\log(1-x)}{x} + \frac{\log(x)}{1-x} \right) dx$$
(5.95)

The final unknowns in this equation are the asymptotic values of the auxiliary functions $(a_j^{a\pm}(\pm\infty))$. For $x \to \infty$ these values can be directly extracted by substitution into the equations (5.27),

$$y_j^{1\pm}(\infty) = y_j^{2\pm}(\infty) = \frac{(j+3)(j)}{2}$$
 (5.96a)

$$b_{s,1}^{1}{}^{\pm}(\infty) = b_{s,3}^{1}{}^{\pm}(\infty) = b_{s,1}^{2}{}^{\pm}(\infty) = b_{s,3}^{2}{}^{\pm}(\infty) = \frac{s}{2}$$
(5.96b)

$$b_{s,2}^{1}^{\pm}(\infty) = b_{s,2}^{2}^{\pm}(\infty) = \frac{s}{s+2}$$
 (5.96c)

The case $u \to \pm \infty$ is obtained by taking the limit in (5.88) and using

$$\lim_{x \to \pm\infty} [f * g](x) = g(\pm\infty) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \frac{dx}{2\pi},$$
(5.97)

where the integral is just 2π times the inverse Fourier transform (5.44) at q = 0. This results in

$$b_{s,1}^{1}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = b_{s,3}^{1}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = b_{s,1}^{2}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = b_{s,3}^{2}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = b_{s,2}^{1}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = b_{s,2}^{2}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = 0$$
(5.98)

and the coupled set of equations for $y_j^{1,2^{\pm}}(-\infty)$ (See appendix D.2), which result in

$$y_j^{a\pm}(-\infty) = \frac{\sin\left(\frac{(j+3)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{j\pi}{s+3}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{s+3}\right)}.$$
(5.99)

Combining the boundary values and the equations (5.91) and (5.94) the expression for F_{\pm} can be expressed in explicit terms of dilogarithm functions

$$F_{\pm} = 2\sum_{j=1}^{s-1} \left[L\left(\frac{(j+3)j}{(j+2)(j+1)}\right) - L\left(\frac{\sin\left(\frac{(j+3)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{j\pi}{s+3}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{(j+1)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{(j+1)\pi}{s+3}\right)}\right) \right] + 4L\left(\frac{s}{s+2}\right) + 8L\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{s}{s+1}\right)$$
(5.100)

Using the identities

$$L(x) + L(1-x) = L(1) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} \qquad \qquad 0 < x < 1 \qquad (5.101)$$

and the definition [72-74]

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{m=1}^{s} L\left(\frac{\sin k\phi \cdot \sin(n-k)\phi}{\sin(m+k)\phi \cdot \sin(m+n-k)\phi}\right) =: \frac{\pi^2}{6}c(\phi, n, s)$$
(5.102)

where $\phi = \frac{(j+1)\pi}{n+s}$ where n = 3 for SU(3), s is the fusion level. Then $c(0, n, s) = \frac{(n^2-1)s}{n+s}$ is the central charge of the SU(n) level s WZWN model [72–74]. The second term in the sum can be simplified as

$$-\sum_{a=1}^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{s-1}L\left(\frac{\sin\left(\frac{(j+3)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{j\pi}{s+3}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{(j+2)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{(j+1)\pi}{s+3}\right)}\right)$$
(5.103)

$$=\sum_{a=1}^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{s}\left[L\left(\frac{\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{s+3}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{(j+2)\pi}{s+3}\right)\sin\left(\frac{(j+1)\pi}{s+3}\right)}\right)-L(1)\right]=\frac{\pi^{2}}{6}\frac{8s}{s+3}-2sL(1) \quad (5.104)$$

Straight forward application of the identities in [72–74] show the -2sL(1) cancels exactly the remaining terms in (5.100) and the expression for F_{\pm} becomes

$$F_{\pm} = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{8s}{s+3}.$$
 (5.105)

This results in the low temperature correction term

$$f = -\frac{1}{\beta} \ln T_s^1(0) \sim e_0 - \frac{1}{4} \frac{1}{\beta^2 h_R} c(0,3,s), \qquad c(s) = \frac{8s}{s+3}, \tag{5.106}$$

which is related to the central charge of the WZNW model, as predicted by conformal field theory [2, 13] and properly reduces to the (s = 1, a = 1) case presented in [103].

Chapter 6

Bäcklund formalism for $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric models

In the previous section it was demonstrated how conjugate Bäcklund flows with separate boundary conditions can be used to generate a closed set of auxiliary linear problems in $U_q[SU(3)]$. To generalize this method to higher ranks, the method for the $U_q[SU(3)]$ symmetric case can be broken up into three steps:

- 1. Finding the adjacent flows \mathcal{B}_k and $\dot{\mathcal{B}}_m$ and the resulting auxiliary linear problems (4.29).
- 2. Finding the correct boundary conditions (4.35) which allow for the explicit formulation of the auxiliary linear problems in terms of unknown functions consistent with the QTM eigenvalue.
- 3. Connecting the flows generated by \mathcal{B}_k and \mathcal{B}_m through combining the explicit auxiliary linear problems (as was done in section 5.2).

Step 1. was already partially solved in the previous section by the introduction of the adjacent flow $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$. The introduction of $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ was motivated by the auxiliary linear problems generated through \mathcal{B}_k alone not displaying the properties known for a closed set introduced in section 3.2. By including the adjacent flow these conditions can be satisfied and the resulting equations form a generalization of the known solution for $U_q[SU(3)]$ [32] for arbitrary s. For $U_q[SU(n)]$ similar problems occur. Using the results from the previous chapter for the $U_q[SU(n)]$ case allows for the formulation of two complex conjugate nesting paths that follow from the consecutive application of exclusively one of the flows \mathcal{B}_k or $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$. These paths do not traverse all the nodes and boundaries of the nesting diagram (figure 6.1) resulting in equations that do not form a closed set or factorize the Y-system. The missing Bethe equations relating to $Q_2 \dots Q_{n-1}$ in $U_q[SU(n)]$ follow from the unknown functions on the inner boundary at the bottom edge of the nesting diagram. To traverse the inner nodes and solve step 1. the mixed nesting paths following from the combined application of both \mathcal{B}_k and $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ need to be considered. As with the introduction of the adjacent flow



Figure 6.1: Nesting diagram of the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric transfer matrix eigenvalue using the Bäcklund transform. In the dashed triangle the $U_q[SU(3)]$ sub-problem for $G_s^a(u)$ is indicated. It is clear from the diagram that the combined flows of \mathcal{B}_k and $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ are needed to reach the unknown function $\bar{F}_s^a(u)$ (4.35).

in $U_q[SU(3)]$ this combined flow requires a reevaluation of the boundary conditions to identify the new unknown functions with the correct (partial) eigenvalues. The formulation of these boundary conditions is executed in step 2. and will be the topic of the following subsections resulting in the generalized boundary conditions and method for the generation of the over-complete set of explicit auxiliary functions for $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric problems. The large number of resulting auxiliary functions makes step 3. (combining them to create a closed set that truncates the Y-system) an increasingly difficult task. Some progress is made towards the last step for $U_q[SU(4)]$ and shall be discussed in the latter part of this section. A complete solution or generalized method to obtain closed sets of auxiliary functions for $U_q[SU(n)]$ however shall remain open.

6.1 The $U_q[SU(4)]$ case

6.1.1 Adjacent flows and boundary conditions

This section will address the combination of the adjacent flows in a single nesting path (step 1.) and the derivation of the related boundary conditions (step 2.) for $U_q[SU(4)]$. For the ease of reading the results will be presented first, comprising the boundary conditions on $Q_k(u)$ and $\tilde{Q}_m(u)$ followed by their identification to the Qfunctions as they appear in the transfer matrix eigenvalues of the nested Bethe ansatz. The actual derivation of these boundary conditions applies the reverse process, where the eigenvalues are found from the nested Bethe ansatz and and their non-explicit expressions such as (4.36) from Bäcklund flow respectively. Then the consistent set of boundary conditions is obtained by the identification of these eigenvalue expressions, as was demonstrated in section 4.2.

Using the equations (6.20), the non-explicit auxiliary problems (4.29) and the familiar nesting paths from the previous section $F(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} G(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} T(u)$ and $\tilde{F}(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_k} \tilde{G}(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_k} T(u)$, the unknown functions for the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric problem

$$T_{k,m}(a,s,u) = \begin{cases} T_s^a(u) & k = 4, \ m = 4\\ G_s^a(u) & k = 3, \ m = 4\\ \hat{G}_s^a(u) & k = 4, \ m = 3\\ F_s^a(u) & k = 2, \ m = 4\\ \tilde{F}_s^a(u) & k = 4, \ m = 2 \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

can be written down in non-explicit form (i.e. in terms of the functions above without the boundary conditions filled in, see (4.36) and (4.38)). Comparing these expressions with the explicitly known solutions for $T_s^a(u)$ from the fusion hierarchy directly results in the following boundary conditions for $U_q[SU(4)]$.

(k,m)	0	1	2	3	4
$Q_k(u)$	$Q_0(u) = 1$	$Q_1(u)$	$Q_2(u)$	$Q_3(u)$	$Q_4(u) \sim \phi_+(u)$
$\tilde{Q}_m(u)$	$\tilde{Q}_0(u) = 1$	$Q_3(u)$	$Q_2(u)$	$Q_1(u)$	$\tilde{Q}_4(u) \sim \phi(u)$

Table 6.1: Boundary conditions for the $U_q[SU(4)]$ problem.

These explicit auxiliary problems resulting from these non-mixed paths, do not form a closed set or reproduce the known auxiliary functions for [20]. This is because these equations only reach the outer two branches of the nesting graph in figure 6.1. To reach the inner branches of this graph the sub-problems for $G_s^a(u)$ and $\hat{G}_s^a(u)$ with a = 1, 2 can be considered as separate SU(3) sub-problems. For these sub-problems the new boundary conditions in table 6.1 need to be confirmed to give the correct explicit expressions for the new unknown functions $G_s^a(u)$, $\hat{G}_s^a(u)$ and

$$T_{3,3}(a,s,u) \equiv \bar{F}_s^a(u).$$
 (6.2)

Since $G_s^a(u)$ and $\hat{G}_s^a(u)$ are again conjugates and this problem is very similar in both cases as well as for a = 1, 2, this check shall only be done for the former in the case where a = 1.

The closed form non-explicit expression for $G_s^1(u)$ shall be derived as it appears in the expression for $T_s^1(u)$ in the Bäcklund flow and compared to the same eigenvalue from the fusion hierarchy. First the straight forward nesting path $F(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} G(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} T(u)$ will be taken to derive T and G, which is equal to applying twice the auxiliary functions (4.29a) and (5.1). The second path will be a combined path $\overline{F}(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m} G(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_k} T(u)$ where all auxiliary functions at the first level for (k,m) = (4,3) shall be given by (4.15a) and (4.17a), at the second level for (k,m) = (4,4) by (4.29a) and (5.1) and the boundary conditions taken from table 6.1 (see figure 6.2 below for an illustration of the paths considered). Starting with the first nesting path at the lowest level, $G_s^1(u)$ can be obtained from (5.1) for k = 3

$$G_s^1(u) = F_s^1(u) \frac{Q_3(u-i(s-1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))} + G_{s-1}^1(u+i) \frac{Q_2(u-i(s+1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))}.$$
 (6.3)

Here $F_s^1(u)$ can be replaced by the expression resulting from \mathcal{B}_k at k = 2 (resp (4.29a) and (5.1))

$$F_s^1(u) = F_{s-1}^1(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u+i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))} + Q_2(u+i(s+1))\tilde{Q}_4(u+i(s-1))\frac{Q_1(u-i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))}.$$
(6.4)

Filling the expression for $F_s^1(u)$ in into (6.3) results in

$$\begin{aligned} G_s^1(u) &= G_{s-1}^1(u+i) \frac{Q_2(u-i(s+1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))} \\ &+ Q_3(u-i(s-1)) \frac{F_{s-1}^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))} \frac{Q_1(u+i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))} \\ &+ Q_3(u-i(s-1)) \tilde{Q}_4(u+i(s-1)) \frac{Q_1(u-i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))} \frac{Q_2(u+i(s+1))}{Q_2(u-i(s-1))}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.5)$$

The similarities between this expression and the $U_q[SU(3)]$ eigenvalue $T_s^1(u)$ (4.36) are clear. Continuing with the second level resulting from (5.1) at k = 3, $G_s^1(u)$ can



Figure 6.2: Different nesting paths leading to the same solution for $T_s^a(u)$. Path 1 shows the path obtained by the straight forward application of the single flow $F(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} G(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} T(u)$ associated with the auxiliary functions (4.29a) and (5.1). Path 2 $\overline{F}(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_m} G(u) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B}_k} T(u)$ describes the combined application of adjacent flows which contain the conjugate branch of the $U_q[SU(3)]$ sub-problem and require the alternative boundary conditions given in table 6.1.

be connected to the eigenvalue $T_s^1(u)$

$$T_s^1(u) = G_s^1(u) \frac{Q_4(u-i(s-1))}{Q_3(u-i(s-1))} + T_{s-1}^1(u+i) \frac{Q_3(u-i(s+1))}{Q_3(u-i(s-1))}.$$
 (6.6)

Combining all equations and substituting (6.5) into the expression above one obtains the closed form non-explicit expression

$$T_{s}^{1}(u) = T_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)\frac{Q_{3}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))} + G_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)\frac{Q_{4}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} + F_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)\frac{Q_{4}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u-i(s-1))} + \tilde{Q}_{4}(u+i(s-1))\frac{Q_{4}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u-i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} + \tilde{Q}_{4}(u+i(s-1))\frac{Q_{4}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))}.$$
(6.7)

The previous expression is a straight forward generalization of the closed form eigenvalue presented for the $U_q[SU(3)]$ case (4.36). Solving for the unknown functions by identification of the previous expression with $T_s^1(u)$ from the fusion hierarchy results in $Q_4(u) = \bar{\phi}_+(u)$, $\bar{Q}_4(u) = \bar{\phi}_-(u)$ (see (2.26b)) and the other $Q_k(u)$ being equal to the familiar Q-functions. The previous check can again be repeated for all eigenvalues $T_s^a(u)$ with a = 1, 2, 3 in the fusion hierarchy, for brevity only the familiar s = 1 case is displayed below

$$T_{1}^{1}(u) = \phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u-2i)\frac{Q_{1}(u+2i)}{Q_{1}(u)} + \phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{1}(u-2i)}{Q_{1}(u)}\frac{Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{2}(u)} +\phi_{+}(u)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{2}(u-2i)}{Q_{2}(u)}\frac{Q_{3}(u+2i)}{Q_{3}(u)} + \phi_{+}(u+2i)\phi_{-}(u)\frac{Q_{3}(u-2i)}{Q_{3}(u)} = \lambda_{1}(u) + \lambda_{2}(u) + \lambda_{3}(u) + \lambda_{4}(u).$$
(6.8)

To check that these boundaries generalize to arbitrary s the previous expression can be plugged into the fusion hierarchy together with $T_1^2(u)$, $T_1^0(u)$ and $T_0^1(u)$, leading to the expressions

$$T_{s}^{1}(u) = T_{s-1}^{1}(u+i) \frac{Q_{3}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1)) \frac{G_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))} \frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1)) \frac{F_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} \frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u-i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s-1)) \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1)) \frac{Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))} \frac{Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s-1)) \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1)) \frac{Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))} \frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s-1))}.$$

$$(6.9)$$

To obtain the full set of $\tilde{Q}_m(u)$ boundary conditions in table 6.1 the previous derivation has to be repeated with the adjacent auxiliary linear problems (4.15a) and (4.17a) to create the adjacent flow along path $\tilde{F}(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m} \hat{G}(u) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m} T(u)$. Since a similar derivation was sketched for the $U_q[SU(3)]$ case in section 4.3 and shall not be repeated here.

If the boundary conditions in table 6.1 are correct at all nodes of the nesting diagram the same expression for $T_s^1(u)$ should also be reconstructed by path 2. Using the new boundary conditions in combination with the auxiliary linear problems (4.15a) and (4.17a) for the Bäcklund transform along $G_s^1(u) \stackrel{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m}{\to} \bar{F}_s^1(u)$ an expression can be constructed relating $\bar{F}(u)$ to $G_s^1(u)$ and finally $T_s^1(u)$. Consider k = 3 and m = 2, 3 for ALP in the adjacent flow (4.17a), applying the boundary conditions $T_{3,2}(1,s,u) = Q_2(u+i(s+1))Q_3(u-i(s+1))$ and $T_{3,2}(0,s,u) = Q_2(u+is)Q_3(u-is)$ results in

$$G_s^1(u)\bar{F}_{s-1}^0(u) = G_{s-1}^1(u-i)\bar{F}_s^0(u+i) + G_{s-1}^0(u)\bar{F}_s^1(u)$$
(6.10a)

$$\bar{F}_{s}^{1}(u)Q_{2}(u+i(s-1)) = \bar{F}_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))$$

$$+ Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))Q_{2}(u-i(s+1)).$$
(6.10b)

The final set can be combined for s and s + 1 resulting in

$$\frac{\bar{F}_{s}^{1}(u)Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))-\bar{F}_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))} = \frac{\bar{F}_{s+1}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))-\bar{F}_{s}^{1}(u-2i)Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u-i(s+3))}$$
(6.11)

which can be used to find $\bar{F}_1^1(u)$ at s = 0, making the previous expression a closed set of equations for arbitrary s. In the case of s = 1 the relation of $\bar{F}_1^1(u)$ with two of the partial eigenvalues in (6.8) is easily recognized

$$\bar{F}_{1}^{1}(u) = \frac{\bar{F}_{0}^{1}(u+i)Q_{2}(u-2i) + \bar{F}_{0}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{2}(u)}$$

$$= \frac{Q_{1}(u)Q_{2}(u-2i)Q_{3}(u+2i) + Q_{1}(u-2i)Q_{2}(u+2i)Q_{3}(u)}{Q_{2}(u)}$$

$$= \frac{Q_{1}(u)Q_{3}(u)}{\phi_{-}(u)\phi_{+}(u)}(\lambda_{2}(u) + \lambda_{3}(u)).$$
(6.12)

Using the equation (6.10a) an alternative expression of $G_s^1(u)$ can be derived

$$G_s^1(u) = G_{s-1}^1(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u+i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))} + \bar{F}_s^1(u)\frac{\bar{\phi}_-(u+i(s-1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))}.$$
(6.13)

Substitution of $\bar{F}_s^1(u)$ from (6.10b)

$$G_s^1(u) = G_{s-1}^1(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u+i(s+1))}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_-(u+i(s-1))Q_3(u-i(s-1))\frac{Q_2(u-i(s+1))}{Q_2(u+i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_-(u+i(s-1))Q\frac{\bar{F}_{s-1}^1(u-i)}{Q_1(u+i(s-1))}\frac{Q_2(u+i(s+1))}{Q_2(u+i(s-1))}$$

$$(6.14)$$

and substitution of the previous expression into (6.6) results in the alternative formulation for $T_s^1(u)$ through path 2

$$T_{s}^{1}(u) = T_{s-1}^{1}(u+i)\frac{Q_{3}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))} + G_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)\frac{Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))}\frac{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1))\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s-1))\frac{Q_{3}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))} + \bar{\phi}_{-}(u+i(s-1))\frac{\bar{F}_{s-1}^{1}(u-i)}{Q_{1}(u+i(s-1))}\frac{Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{Q_{2}(u+i(s-1))}\frac{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-i(s-1))}{Q_{3}(u-i(s-1))}.$$

$$(6.15)$$

Naturally this expression is not the same as (6.9) because the partial eigenvalues related to the unknown function $\bar{F}_{s-1}^1(u)$ are different from $F_{s-1}^1(u)$ (connecting to $\lambda_2(u), \lambda_3(u)$ and $\lambda_1(u), \lambda_2(u)$ respectively). For explicit values of s these expressions (6.9) and (6.15) again coincide which can be easily checked for s = 1 (6.8).

Similar derivations can be done for the conjugate $U_q[SU(3)]$ sub-problem for $\hat{G}(u)$, connecting $\hat{G}(u)$ to $\bar{F}(u)$ and $Q_2(u)Q_1(u)$ or $\tilde{F}(u)$ and $\phi_+(u)Q_3(u)$ respectively. This derivation shall not be repeated here. Instead, the complete set of auxiliary problems in explicit form will be presented from where all the necessary closed form expressions of the unknown functions can easily be obtained.

6.1.2 Explicit auxiliary linear problems



Figure 6.3: Nesting paths for the auxiliary linear problems of $U_q[SU(4)]$ that can be reached through the Bäcklund equations (4.28) of one of the flows \mathcal{B}_k with the boundary conditions 6.1. The conjugate / adjacent flow $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ would give the same diagram but mirrored in the vertical axis.

The straight and combined paths illustrated in the previous section (figure 6.2) only consist of one of the flows \mathcal{B}_k or $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ at each level (k, m). To iteratively write

down all equations resulting from all combinations of paths a diagram as in figure 6.3 can be constructed for each of the flows \mathcal{B}_k and $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_m$ connecting all the nodes that can be reached through one of them respectively. The resulting explicit auxiliary linear problems associated with this diagram are be obtained through evaluating (4.28) with boundary conditions 6.1 between every set of nodes resulting in the the 28 equations written below.

An equal set of equations exists for the conjugate of (4.28) in analogy to (4.15a) and (4.17a), resulting in the total number of 50 unique explicit auxiliary equations (the latter expressions containing F, \bar{F} , \hat{F} are self conjugate and do not add to this total). From these equations closed expressions for all the unknown functions

$$T_{k,m_s}^{a}(u) = \begin{cases} T_s^{a}(u) & k = 4, \ m = 4\\ G_s^{a}(u) & k = 3, \ m = 4\\ \hat{G}_s^{a}(u) & k = 4, \ m = 3\\ F_s^{a}(u) & k = 2, \ m = 4\\ \bar{F}_s^{a}(u) & k = 3, \ m = 3\\ \tilde{F}_s^{a}(u) & k = 4, \ m = 2 \end{cases}$$
(6.16)

for arbitrary a and s can be derived.

The first auxiliary linear problems for (k, m), a = (4, 4), 1 and (4, 4), 3 in the table above are a direct generalization of (5.7) and (5.5). These are the auxiliary functions resulting from the factorizations of the $T_s^3(u)$ and $T_s^1(u)$ eigenvalues which for s = 1reduce to auxiliary linear problems found in [20]

$$B_{1,4}^{(1)}(u) = b_{1,4}^{(1)}(u) + 1 \qquad \frac{1+2+3+4}{1+2+3} \bigg|_{u-i} = \frac{4}{1+2+3} \bigg|_{u-i} + 1 \qquad (6.17)$$

$$B_{1,1}^{(3)}(u) = b_{1,1}^{(3)}(u) + 1 \qquad \frac{\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|_{3}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{2}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2}}{\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2}}\right|_{u+i} = \frac{\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|_{3}^{2}}{\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2} + \left|\frac{1}{3}\right|_{4}^{2}} + 1. \quad (6.18)$$

For the derivation of the closed set of auxiliary linear problems the equations presented above in table 6.2 need to be combined into mixed equations containing auxiliary linear problems form both flows. Due to the large number of equations the author was unable to achieve this, even with the known solutions of s = 1 from [20] as a guide. Certainly with the large amount of equations it is possible to derive the *s* independent analogs of [20] but it is not a constructive way forward to do this for arbitrary $U_q[SU(n)]$. This process is further hampered by the fact that the known solutions that truncate the Y-system from [20] contain unknown functions that play a role in the generalization of (6.17) and (6.18) to $T_1^2(u)$ which do not appear naturally in the Bäcklund flow (but can be constructed from a combination of them)

$$B_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) = b_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) + 1$$

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg|_{u+i} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg|_{u+i} + 1.$$
(6.19)

$$\begin{array}{ll} (k,m) \ a \\ \hline (4,4) \ 3 & T_s^3(u+i)Q_3(u+i(s+2)) = \bar{\phi}_+(u+i(s+4))G_s^2(u) + T_{s-1}^3(u)Q_3(u+i(s+4)) \\ (4,4) \ 3 & T_s^3(u)G_s^2(u) = T_s^2(u)Q_3(u+i(s+3))\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+5)) + T_{s-1}^3(u+i)G_s^2(u-i) \\ (4,4) \ 3 & T_s^3(u-i)G_s^2(u) = T_s^3(u)G_s^1(u) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_{s+1}^2(u) \\ (4,4) \ 2 & T_s^2(u+i)G_s^2(u-i) = T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^2(u) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_s^2(u+i) \\ (4,4) \ 2 & T_s^2(u+i)G_s^2(u-i) = T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^2(u) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_s^2(u+i) \\ (4,4) \ 2 & T_s^2(u+i)G_s^2(u) = T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^2(u-i) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_s^2(u-i) \\ (4,4) \ 2 & T_s^2(u+i)G_s^1(u) = T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^2(u-i) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_{s+1}^2(u-i) \\ (4,4) \ 2 & T_s^2(u-i)G_s^1(u) = T_{s-1}^2(u)G_s^2(u-i) + T_{s-1}^2(u)G_{s+1}^2(u-i) \\ (4,4) \ 1 & T_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u-is) = \bar{\phi}_+(u-is)G_s^1(u-i) + T_{s-1}^1(u)G_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,4) \ 1 & T_s^1(u+i)G_{s-1}^1(u) = T_{s-1}^2(u)Q_3(u-is)\bar{\phi}_-(u+is) + T_{s-1}^1(u)G_s^1(u+i) \\ (4,4) \ 1 & T_s^1(u+i)G_s^1(u-i) = T_s^2(u)Q_3(u-is)\bar{\phi}_-(u+is) + T_{s-1}^1(u)G_{s+1}^1(u) \\ (4,4) \ 1 & T_s^1(u+i)G_s^1(u-i) = T_s^2(u)Q_3(u-is)\bar{\phi}_-(u+is) + T_{s-1}^1(u)G_{s+1}^1(u) \\ (4,4) \ 1 & T_s^1(u+i)G_s^1(u-i) = G_s^1(u)Q_2(u+i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+4)) + G_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (3,4) \ 2 & G_s^2(u+i)F_{s-1}^1(u) = G_{s-1}^1(u)Q_2(u+i(s+2))\bar{\phi}_-(u-i(s+4)) + G_{s-1}^2(u)F_{s+1}^1(u-i) \\ (3,4) \ 1 & G_s^1(u-i)F_s^1(u) = G_s^2(u)Q_2(u-is)\bar{\phi}_-(u+is) + G_{s-1}^1(u)F_s^1(u+i) \\ (3,4) \ 1 & G_s^1(u+i)F_s^1(u-i) = \bar{G}_s^2(u)Q_3(u+i(s+1))Q_1(u-i(s+3)) + \bar{G}_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,3) \ 2 & \bar{G}_s^2(u-i)\bar{F}_s^1(u) = G_s^2(u)Q_3(u+i(s+1))Q_1(u-i(s+4)) + G_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,3) \ 2 & \bar{G}_s^2(u-i)\bar{F}_s^1(u) = G_s^2(u)Q_3(u+i(s+1))Q_1(u-i(s+4)) + G_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,3) \ 1 & \bar{G}_s^1(u+i)F_s^1(u-i) = \bar{G}_s^2(u)Q_3(u+i(s+2))Q_1(u-i(s+4)) + G_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,3) \ 1 & \bar{G}_s^1(u+i)F_s^1(u-i) = \bar{G}_s^2(u)Q_3(u-i(s+2)) + \bar{G}_{s-1}^2(u)F_s^1(u)F_s^1(u-i) \\ (4,3) \ 1 & \bar{G}_s^1(u-i)G_3(u-is) = \bar{\phi}_+(u-is)F_s^1(u-i) + G_{s-1}^2(u)Q_3(u-i(s+2)) \\ (4,3) \ 1 & \bar{G}_s^1(u-i)F_s^1(u) = \bar{G}_s^2(u)Q_3(u-i(s+2))Q$$

Table 6.2: Unique auxiliary linear problems resulting from (4.28) and boundary conditions in table 6.1 and (4.31) for Bäcklund flow \mathcal{B}_k in $U_q[SU(4)]$ (see figure 6.3).

Obtaining auxiliary linear problems containing complicated functions of the type displayed in the denominator above from the Bäcklund flow is almost impossible without prior knowledge. For the higher rank problems some of this knowledge might still be obtained from the pictorial approach, which shall be discussed in the case of $U_q[SU(4)]$ after deriving the extension of the previous results to $U_q[SU(n)]$.

6.2 Auxiliary linear problems and boundary conditions for $U_q[SU(n)]$



Figure 6.4: Nesting paths for the Bäcklund flow in $U_q[SU(n)]$ that can be reached through the auxiliary linear problems (6.22a)-(6.22d) with boundary conditions 6.3.

To close the discussion on the application of the Bäcklund equations to higher rank problems the generalization of the previous results to $U_q[SU(n)]$ shall be presented here. Reiterating the general boundary conditions presented in section 4.4

$$T_{k,m}(k,s,u) = T_{k,m}(m,s,u) = Q_k(u+i(s+k))\tilde{Q}_m(u-i(s+k))$$
(6.20a)

$$T_{k,m}(0,s,u) = Q_k(u-is)\tilde{Q}_m(u+is)$$
 (6.20b)

$$T_{k,m}(a,0,u) = Q_k(u+ia)\tilde{Q}_m(u-ia)$$
 (6.20c)

$$T_{k,m}(a,s,u) = 0, \quad if \quad a < 0, \quad a > n, \quad or, \quad s < 0 \quad \& \quad a > 0.$$
 (6.20d)

The pattern for extending the boundary conditions for the combined nesting paths on the Q-functions in table 6.1 is easily spotted, leading to the generalized boundary conditions in the following table.

(k,m)	0	1	2		n-1	n
$Q_k(u)$	$Q_0(u) = 1$	$Q_1(u)$	$Q_2(u)$		$Q_{n-1}(u)$	$Q_n(u) \sim \phi_+(u)$
$\tilde{Q}_m(u)$	$\tilde{Q}_0(u) = 1$	$Q_n(u)$	$Q_{n-1}(u)$		$Q_1(u)$	$\tilde{Q}_n(u) \sim \phi(u)$

Table 6.3: Boundary conditions for the SU(n) problem where the numbered Q_1, \ldots, Q_n are the Q-functions as they appear in the nested Bethe ansatz.

The outer boundaries in Q are again given by

$$Q_n(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_+(u+i(2j-s_q-1)) \equiv \bar{\phi}_+(u)$$
(6.21a)

$$\tilde{Q}_n(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{s_q} \phi_-(u - i(2j - s_q - 1)) \equiv \bar{\phi}_-(u)$$
(6.21b)

$$Q_0(u) = \tilde{Q}_0(u) = 1.$$
 (6.21c)

Applying the previous boundary conditions to the non-explicit auxiliary problems resulting from (4.28)

$$T_{k}(a, s, u+i)T_{k-1}(a, s, u-i) =$$

$$T_{k}(a, s-1, u)T_{k-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{k}(a+1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s, u)$$

$$T_{k}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1}(a, s, u-i) =$$

$$T_{k}(a, s, u-i)T_{k-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{k}(a+1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i)$$

$$T_{k}(a, s, u-i)T_{k-1}(a-1, s, u) =$$

$$T_{k}(a-1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a, s, u-i) + T_{k}(a, s-1, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i)$$

$$T_{k}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1}(a-1, s, u) =$$

$$T_{k}(a-1, s, u)T_{k-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{k}(a, s, u+i)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i)$$

$$T_{k}(a, s+1, u)T_{k-1}(a, s+1, u) + T_{k}(a, s, u+i)T_{k-1}(a-1, s+1, u-i)$$

the explicit auxiliary linear problems connecting the nodes in figure 6.4 can be derived in the same spirit as in the previous section. Here the index of m is dropped $T_k(a, s, u) = T_{k,m}(a, s, u)$ since it is constant for all equations. For completeness the normalization of the transfer matrix eigenvalues is restated which is needed to restore its analyticity properties when applying the Fourier transform for deriving the integral equations (see section 5.3)

$$T_{n,n}(a, s, u) = T'_{n,n}(a, s, u) \times \prod_{j=1}^{s_q - s} \phi_+(u + i(2j + s - s_q - 1 + a))\phi_-(u - i(2j + s - s_q - 1 + a))$$
(6.23a)
$$T'_{n,n}(a, 0, u) = 1.$$
(6.23b)

A short disclaimer is warranted for the results presented above. The closed form expressions for the transfer matrix eigenvalues following from (6.22a)-(6.22d) with boundary conditions in table 6.3 were not checked against the explicit expressions



Figure 6.5: Illustration of the tetrahedral nature of the unknown functions for the Bäcklund flow of $U_q[SU(3)]$ and $U_q[SU(4)]$. For increased rank another equilateral triangle of unknown functions with sides n is added to the tetrahedrons displayed above resulting in T_n unknowns.

in the nested Bethe ansatz for any transfer matrix eigenvalue with rank higher than SU(5). For the $s \neq 1$ cases they were only compared in the SU(4) and lower rank cases. The structure of the resulting equations is however consistent. As demonstrated in (6.6) the transfer matrix eigenvalues appear as a sum of a term related to a single partial eigenvalue λ_1 or λ_n and another term that is related to $T_{n-1,m'}(a,s,u)$ where 1 < m' < n + 1. The reduced eigenvalue $T_{n-1,m'}(a,s,u)$ itself again possesses the same factorization properties as a result of the explicit auxiliary linear problem but with $n \to n-1$. In this way the equations are consistent with the nesting procedure.

Writing out equations (6.22a)-(6.22d) for several cases of SU(n) a pattern is quite easily spotted. At the boundary in a = 0, n for fixed k and m the two equations reducing to re-factorizations of $T_{k,m}(1, s, u)$ and $T_{k,m}(n, s, u)$ in each pair of nodes appear as duplicates among the four equations (already in non-explicit form), whereas all other equations are unique. As a result there are 2(2k-1) total equations for each pair of nodes in figure 6.4. Summing over all the pairs of nodes results in

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} 2(2j-1) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} 2(j-1)^2 \equiv 2a_{sq}(n-1)$$
(6.24)

equations, where the latter expression is equal to two times the square pyramidal numbers¹. Using the observation from the previous chapter that the lowest or SU(2) level auxiliary functions related to F, \bar{F} , \tilde{F} are self-conjugate and equal in number for both flows along k and its conjugate m makes the total combined number

Total # explicit ALP for $SU(n) = 4a_{sq}(n-1) - 2^{n-1}$.. (6.25)

¹The square pyramidal number $a_{sq}(n)$ being equal to the number of stacked spheres that construct a pyramid with square base and height n [1].
Interestingly the relation to pyramidal numbers does not end here, because the explicit auxiliary linear problems result in the closed form expressions for the unknown functions which are $T_n = \frac{n(n+1)(n+2)}{6}$ in number (excluding the Q-functions). Where T_n is the tetrahedral or triangular pyramidal number. Why this should be the case is most easily demonstrated using a diagrammatic method as illustrated in figure 6.5. Including *Q*-functions this gives a total number of unknowns

Total # of unknown functions in the Bäcklund flow =
$$T_n + n$$
. (6.26)

This finishes the discussion on the auxiliary linear problems for $U_q[SU(n)]$ in the Bäcklund flow. Because the number of equations and unknowns grow very rapidly there was no attempt made to combine them into a closed set as for $U_a[SU(4)]$. To give some suggestions for further development the next sections shall be used to demonstrate how the pictorial method can help in combining the auxiliary linear problems for SU(4) and higher rank cases.

Pictorial approach for $U_q[SU(4)]$ 6.3

6.3.1Unknown functions in the pictorial approach

In the pictorial approach the unknown functions from the Bäcklund flow represent the following diagrams for s = 1. Unknown functions of $U_q[SU(2)]$ type

$$\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} = \frac{\phi_+(u)F_1^1(u)}{Q_2(u)} \qquad \qquad \boxed{\frac{1}{3}}_{\underline{4}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{3}}_{\underline{4}} = \frac{\phi_+(u+4i)F_1^1(u-2i)}{Q_2(u)} \tag{6.27}$$

$$\boxed{2} + \boxed{3} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u)\phi_{+}(u)\bar{F}_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u)Q_{3}(u)} \qquad \boxed{\frac{1}{2}}_{4} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}}_{4} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-4i)\phi_{+}(u+4i)\bar{F}_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u-2i)Q_{3}(u+2i)} \qquad (6.28)$$

$$\underline{3} + \underline{4} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u)\tilde{F}_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{2}(u)} \qquad \qquad \underline{1} \\ \underline{3} \\ \underline{4} + \underline{2} \\ \underline{3} \\ \underline{4} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-4i)\tilde{F}_{1}^{1}(u+2i)}{Q_{2}(u)}. \tag{6.29}$$

Unknown functions of $U_q[SU(3)]$ type

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\boxed{1} + \boxed{2} + \boxed{3} = \frac{\phi_{+}(u)G_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{3}(u)} & \boxed{\frac{1}{4}} + \boxed{\frac{2}{4}} + \boxed{\frac{3}{4}} = \frac{\phi_{+}(u+3i)G_{1}^{1}(u-i)}{Q_{3}(u+i)} & (6.30) \\
\boxed{2} + \boxed{3} + \boxed{4} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u)\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u)} & \boxed{\frac{1}{4}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{3}} + \boxed{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u+i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)} & (6.31)
\end{array}$$

$$\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)G_{1}^{1}(u+i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)} \quad (6.31)$$

$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3} = \frac{\phi_+(u+i)G_1^2(u)}{Q_3(u+i)} \quad \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{3} = \frac{\phi_+(u+4i)G_1^2(u-i)}{Q_3(u+2i)} \quad (6.32)$$

$$\frac{3}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{2}{3} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-i)\hat{G}_{1}^{2}(u)}{Q_{1}(u-i)} \quad \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} = \frac{\phi_{-}(u-4i)\hat{G}_{1}^{2}(u+i)}{Q_{1}(u-2i)}.$$
 (6.33)

These terms are easily identified as part of the transfer matrix eigenvalues for s = 1

$$T_{1}^{3}(u) = \phi_{+}(u+2i)\phi_{-}(u-4i)\frac{Q_{3}(u+4i)}{Q_{3}(u+2i)} + \phi_{+}(u+4i)\phi_{-}(u-4i)\frac{Q_{2}(u+2i)}{Q_{2}(u)}\frac{Q_{3}(u)}{Q_{3}(u+2i)} + \phi_{+}(u+4i)\phi_{-}(u-4i)\frac{Q_{1}(u)}{Q_{1}(u-2i)}\frac{Q_{2}(u-2i)}{Q_{2}(u)} + \phi_{+}(u+4i)\phi_{-}(u-2i)\frac{Q_{1}(u-4i)}{Q_{1}(u-2i)} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}$$
(6.34)

$$\begin{split} T_1^2(u) &= \phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-3i)\frac{Q_2(u+3i)}{Q_2(u+i)} \\ &+ \phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-3i)\frac{Q_1(u+i)}{Q_1(u-i)}\frac{Q_2(u-i)}{Q_2(u+i)}\frac{Q_3(u+3i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \\ &+ \phi_+(u+i)\phi_-(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u-3i)}{Q_1(u-i)}\frac{Q_3(u+3i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \\ &+ \phi_+(u+3i)\phi_-(u-3i)\frac{Q_1(u+i)}{Q_1(u-i)}\frac{Q_2(u+i)}{Q_2(u-i)}\frac{Q_3(u-i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \\ &+ \phi_+(u+3i)\phi_-(u-i)\frac{Q_1(u-3i)}{Q_2(u-i)}\frac{Q_2(u+i)}{Q_2(u-i)}\frac{Q_3(u-i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \\ &+ \phi_-(u-i)\phi_+(u+3i)\frac{Q_2(u-3i)}{Q_2(u-i)} \end{aligned} \tag{6.35}$$

$$&= \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4} \\ T_1^1(u) &= \phi_+(u)\phi_-(u-2i)\frac{Q_1(u+2i)}{Q_1(u)} + \phi_+(u)\phi_-(u)\frac{Q_1(u-2i)}{Q_1(u)}\frac{Q_2(u+2i)}{Q_2(u)} \\ &+ \phi_+(u)\phi_-(u)\frac{Q_2(u-2i)}{Q_2(u)}\frac{Q_3(u+2i)}{Q_3(u)} + \phi_+(u+2i)\phi_-(u)\frac{Q_3(u-2i)}{Q_3(u)} \\ &= 1 + 2 + 3 + 4 \end{split}$$

In applying the pictorial approach we attempt to find all combinations of unknown functions that truncate the $T_2^a(u)$ term on the rhs of the bilinear fusion relation. As described in section 4.6 this can be achieved by considering the bilinear fusion relation as a master equation from which Young diagrams are deleted until this truncation is achieved. In practice the resulting expressions always contained bilinear sums of the unknown functions that appear in the Bäcklund flow. In the $U_q[SU(4)]$ case, for the first time, this is no longer the case and the following additional unknown functions appear:

$$\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}, \qquad \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}. \tag{6.37}$$

These unknown functions do not appear directly in the Bäcklund flow but can be constructed using the auxiliary functions for (4,2), 2 with lhs $T_s^2(u+i)G_{s-1}^2(u)$ and

 $T_s^2(u)G_{s-1}^1(u)$ from table 6.2 and substituting the $G_s^2(u)$ terms in the rhs with the first equation of (3, 4), 2 resulting in the following expressions

$$\frac{T_s^2(u)G_{s-1}^2(u-i)Q_2(u+is)}{T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^1(u-i)Q_2(u+is) + T_{s-1}^2(u-i)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u+i(s+2))} = \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u-i)G_{s-1}^2(u-i)Q_2(u+i(s+2))}{T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^1(u-i)Q_2(u+is) + T_{s-1}^2(u-i)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u+i(s+2))} + 1$$
(6.38)

$$\frac{T_s^2(u)G_{s-1}^1(u)Q_2(u+is)}{T_{s-1}^2(u+i)G_s^1(u-i)Q_2(u+is) + T_{s-1}^1(u)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u+i(s+2))}$$

$$\frac{T_{s-1}^1(u)G_{s-1}^2(u-i)Q_2(u+i(s+2))}{T_{s-1}^2(u+i)G_s^1(u-i)Q_2(u+is) + T_{s-1}^1(u)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u+i(s+2))} + 1.$$
(6.39)

For s = 1 the numerator reduces to

$$\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4} = \begin{cases} \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u+i)G_s^1(u-i)}{G_{s-1}^1(u)} + \frac{T_{s-1}^1(u)}{G_{s-1}^1(u)} \left(\frac{Q_3(u+i(s+2))F_s^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u+is)}\right) \\ \frac{T_{s-1}^3(u)G_s^1(u-i)}{G_{s-1}^2(u-i)} + \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u-i)}{G_{s-1}^2(u-i)} \left(\frac{Q_3(u+i(s+2))F_s^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u+is)}\right). \\ (6.40)$$

leading to the auxiliary function

$$B_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) = b_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) + 1$$

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg|_{u+i} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg|_{u+i} + 1.$$
(6.41)

Again this is one of the familiar factorizations of the $T_1^2(u)$ eigenvalue similar to the functions (6.17) and (6.18) that also appear in [20]. Similarly upon substituting instead $G_s^1(u)$ in the rhs using the first equation of (3, 4), 1 gives

$$\frac{T_s^2(u)G_{s-1}^2(u-i)Q_2(u-is)}{T_{s-1}^2(u-i)G_s^2(u)Q_2(u-is) + T_{s-1}^3(u)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u-is)} = \frac{T_{s-1}^3(u)G_{s-1}^1(u)Q_2(u-i(s+2))}{T_{s-1}^2(u-i)G_s^2(u)Q_2(u-is) + T_{s-1}^3(u)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u-is)} + 1$$
(6.42)

$$\frac{T_s^2(u)G_{s-1}^1(u)Q_2(u-is)}{T_{s-1}^1(u)G_s^2(u)Q_2(u-is) + T_{s-1}^2(u+i)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u-is)} = \frac{T_s^2(u+i)G_{s-1}^1(u)Q_2(u-i(s+2))}{T_{s-1}^1(u)G_s^2(u)Q_2(u-is) + T_{s-1}^2(u+i)F_s^1(u-i)Q_3(u-is)} + 1$$
(6.43)

$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} \stackrel{s=1}{=} \begin{cases} \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u-i)G_s^2(u)}{G_{s-1}^2(u-i)} + \frac{T_{s-1}^3(u)}{G_{s-1}^2(u-i)} \left(\frac{Q_3(u-is)F_s^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u-is)}\right) \\ \frac{T_{s-1}^1(u-i)G_s^2(u)}{G_{s-1}^1(u)} + \frac{T_{s-1}^2(u+i)}{G_{s-1}^1(u)} \left(\frac{Q_3(u-is)F_s^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u-is)}\right), \end{cases}$$

$$(6.44)$$

For s = 1 these expressions again reduce an auxiliary linear problem familiar from [20]

$$B_{1,6}^{(2)}(u) = b_{1,6}^{(2)}(u) + 1$$

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}} \bigg|_{u-i} = \frac{\frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}} \bigg|_{u-i} + 1.$$
(6.45)

Together with the conjugate expressions there are four different ways to express each of the auxiliary functions that result from the factorization of $T_s^2(u)$. As for the auxiliary linear problems (6.17) and (6.18) these expressions reduce to the *s* independent Bethe equations associated with $\bar{F}(u)$, thereby fulfilling one of the constraints that was addressed in the introduction. In the next section it will be shown which Young diagrams to delete from the bilinear fusion or master equations such that they factorize into expressions containing only sums and products of the unknown functions presented above.

6.3.2 Pictorial approach solution for SU(4) and comparison to known solution

Starting from the master equations for $U_q[SU(4)]$ (below) and striking the boxes as indicated in table 6.4 results in a super-set of the equations of [20].

$$\begin{split} (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{2}} + \underline{\mathbf{3}} + \underline{\mathbf{4}})|^{-i} \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{2}} + \underline{\mathbf{3}} + \underline{\mathbf{4}})|^{+i} &= \qquad (\mathcal{M}\mathbf{1}) \\ T_1^0(u) \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{1}} + \underline{\mathbf{2}} + \underline{\mathbf{2}} + \underline{\mathbf{3}} + \underline{\mathbf{4}})|^{-i}_{+i} + \\ T_0^1(u) \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{l}}\mathbf{1} + \underline{\mathbf{12}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{14}} + \underline{\mathbf{22}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{24}} + \underline{\mathbf{33}} + \underline{\mathbf{34}} + \underline{\mathbf{44}})|^{(1,-i)} \\ (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{1}} + \underline{\mathbf{12}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{14}} + \underline{\mathbf{22}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{24}} + \underline{\mathbf{33}} + \underline{\mathbf{34}} + \underline{\mathbf{44}})|^{0} = \qquad (\mathcal{M}\mathbf{2}) \\ (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{4}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{24}} + \underline{\mathbf{34}})|_0^0 \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{14}} + \underline{\mathbf{22}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{24}} + \underline{\mathbf{33}} + \underline{\mathbf{44}} + \underline{\mathbf{34}})|_{+2i}^0 = \qquad (\mathcal{M}\mathbf{2}) \\ (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{2}} + \underline{\mathbf{3}} + \underline{\mathbf{4}})|^0 \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{l}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{23}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}} + \underline{\mathbf{13}}$$

	Drop	Multiply / Replace	Result		
$\mathcal{M}1$	$4^{-i}, 3^{-i} \text{ and } 2^{-i}$	$1/1^{-i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{(1)}(u)$		
	$[\underline{4}^{-i}, [\underline{3}^{-i} \text{ and } \underline{1}^{+i}]$	$1/\left[\frac{1}{4}\right]_{+i}^{-i}$	$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$		
	1^{+i} , 2^{+i} and 4^{-i}	$1/\left[\frac{1}{4}\right]_{+i}^{-i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$		
	$1^{+i}, 2^{+i} \text{ and } 3^{+i}$	$1/4^{+i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,4}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(1)}(u)$		
$\mathcal{M}2$	$\boxed{4}^0$ and $\boxed{3}^0$	$1/\frac{1}{20}^{-2i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$\underline{4}^{+2i}$ and $\underline{3}^{+2i}$	$1/\frac{1}{2}_{+2i}^{0}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$[4]^0, [2]^{-2i} \text{ and } [2]^{+2i}$	$4^{+2i}/1^{-2i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$3^{-2i}, 2^{-2i}, 2^{+2i}$ and 3^{+2i}	$1/\left(\underline{1}^{-2i}\cdot\underline{4}^{+2i}\right)$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$\underline{4}^0$ and $\underline{1}^0$	$\left(1^{-2i} \cdot 4^{+2i}\right)$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,4}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$1^0, 3^{-2i} \text{ and } 3^{+2i}$	$1^{-2i}/4^{+2i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,5}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,5}^{(2)}(u)$		
	1^{-2i} and 2^{-2i}	$1/\frac{3}{40}^{-2i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u)$		
	$\boxed{1}^0$ and $\boxed{2}^0$	$1/\overline{\frac{3}{4}}_{0}^{-2i}$	$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u)$		
$\mathcal{M}3$	$\boxed{4}^{+i}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \end{bmatrix} -i \sim 1/[4]^{+3i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(3)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{(3)}(u)$		
		3 +i -3i $-i$	1,1 ()		
	3^{-i} and 3^{+3i}	$\frac{1}{4}_{+3i}^{3i} \sim 1/\frac{2}{3}_{+i}^{i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u)$		
	2^{-3i} and 2^{+i}	$\frac{1}{4}_{+3i}^{-3i} \sim 1/\frac{2}{3}_{+i}^{-i}$	$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u) = 1 + \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u)$		
	1^{-i}	$ \underbrace{ \begin{smallmatrix} 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ +3i \end{smallmatrix}^{-i} \sim 1/1^{-3i} $	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,4}^{(3)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(3)}(u)$		

Table 6.4: Operations needed on $(\mathcal{M}1)$, $(\mathcal{M}2)$ and $(\mathcal{M}3)$ to obtain auxiliary functions for $U_q[SU(4)]$. The functions match the equations in [20] except for the functions $\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$, $\mathfrak{B}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u)$, and $\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u)$ as described in tables below.

Tableau representation	Function		
$\frac{1+2+3+4}{2+3+4}\bigg _{+i} = 1 + \frac{1}{2+3+4}\bigg _{i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{(1)}(u)$		
$\frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right)}{\left \frac{1}{4} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)\right _{+i}^{-i}} = 1 + \frac{\left \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{4}\right }{\left \frac{1}{4} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)\right _{+i}^{-i}}$	$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$		
$\frac{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)}{\left \frac{1}{4} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)\right _{+i}^{-i}} = 1 + \frac{\left \frac{1}{3} \cdot \frac{3}{4}\right }{\left \frac{1}{4} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)\right _{+i}^{-i}}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$		
$\frac{1+2+3+4}{1+2+3}\bigg _{-i} = 1 + \frac{4}{1+2+3}\bigg _{-i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,4}^{(1)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(1)}(u)$		

Table 6.5: Resulting equations from $(\mathcal{M}1)$ using the method in table 6.4.

Tableau representation	Function
$\frac{\frac{1}{4} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right)} \bigg _{+2i}^{0} = 1 + \left. \frac{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{4}}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right)} \right _{+2i}^{0}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg _{0}^{-2i} = 1 + \frac{\frac{1}{2}}{\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}} \bigg _{0}^{-2i}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\left(\frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)} \Big _{+2i}^{0} = 1 + \frac{\frac{1}{3} \cdot \frac{3}{4}}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)}$	$\left. \underbrace{\left. \right)}_{+2i} \right _{+2i}^{0} \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{(1+2+3)\cdot(2+3+4)}{(2+3)\cdot(1+2+3+4)}\bigg _0 = 1 + \frac{1\cdot 4}{(2+3)\cdot(1+2+3+4)}$	$\bigg _0 \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\begin{pmatrix} 1\\2\\3\\3\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4\\4$	$\frac{2}{3} \\ 0 \\ \begin{pmatrix} 2\\ 3\\ 4 \end{pmatrix} \end{vmatrix}_{0} = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)} \bigg _{0}^{-2i} = 1 + \frac{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{4}}{\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)}$	$\left.\underbrace{\left.\right)}_{0}\right _{0}^{-2i}\qquad\mathfrak{B}_{1,5}^{(2)}(u)=1+\mathfrak{b}_{1,5}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}} \bigg _{+2i}^{0} = 1 + \frac{\frac{3}{4}}{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}} \bigg _{+2i}^{0}$	$\mathfrak{B}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \mathfrak{b}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u)$
$\frac{\frac{2}{3} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)} \bigg _{0}^{-2i} = 1 + \frac{\frac{2}{3} \cdot \frac{3}{4}}{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{3}{4}\right)} \bigg _{0}^{-2i}$	$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u) = 1 + \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u)$

Table 6.6: Resulting equations from (M2) using the method in table 6.4.



Table 6.7: Resulting equations from $(\mathcal{M}3)$ using the method in table 6.4.

Using the pictorial method nearly all auxiliary functions from [20] are reproduced with the exception of the following functions

$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}$$
(6.46)

$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) = \frac{\left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}{\left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}.$$
(6.47)

These auxiliary functions can be constructed by a combination of the functions obtained by the pictorial method as follows

$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) = \mathfrak{B}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u-i)\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) \left[\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u+i)\right]^{-1}$$
(6.48)

$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) = \bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u+i)\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u) \left[\mathfrak{B}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u-i)\right]^{-1}.$$
(6.49)

the rhs of the equations $\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) + 1$ and $\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) = \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) + 1$ should be derived by hand to contain only quotients of products of the unknown functions presented above. An alternative formulation of the equations presented above exists which instead replace the unknown functions $\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u)$ and $\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u)$

$$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) = \bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u-i)\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(1)}(u) \left[\mathfrak{B}_{1,6}^{(2)}(u+i)\right]^{-1}$$
(6.50)

$$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) = \mathfrak{B}_{1,0}^{(2)}(u+i)\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(3)}(u) \left[\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{(2)}(u-i)\right]^{-1}$$
(6.51)

resulting in

$$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u) = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}$$
(6.52)

$$\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u) = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}{\left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{2}{3}\right)_{+i}^{-i} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{4} + \frac{3}{4}\right)_{+i}^{-i}}.$$
(6.53)

Considering the different formulations $\mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u)$, $\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u)$, $\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,2}^{(1)}(u)$ and $\bar{\mathfrak{B}}_{1,3}^{(3)}(u)$ there are four different ways to combine these functions with $\mathfrak{B}_{s,j}^{(a)}(u)$ in the tables above to create a closed set of auxiliary functions that truncate the s = 1 Y-system for $U_q[SU(4)]$ (where only two are self conjugate).

6.4 Conclusion

There are several ways forward for the inquiry presented in this work. First is the continuation of the methods pioneered above by finding the s-independent auxiliary linear problems that close the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric Y-system through combination of the explicit auxiliary linear problems found in the Bäcklund flow. Here the additional equations (6.52) and (6.53) appearing in the pictorial method may be some guide on what unknown functions to look for in this challenging task of combining fifty equations into a set of fourteen. The issue with this method is that it does not scale well to enable reaching the ultimate goal of finding a general formulation for the closed set of auxiliary equations for arbitrary $U_q[SU(n)]$ (see Table 6.8 below). Furthermore it requires the additional solution of the pictorial method as a guide on what the auxiliary linear problems should look like.

n	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Number of unknown Bäcklund functions	2	6	13	24	40	62	91
Number of ALP	2	16	50	112	210	352	546

Table 6.8: Above the progression of the number of unknown functions and explicit auxiliary linear functions appearing in the Bäcklund flow are displayed according to (6.26) and (6.25).

With this rapid growth of equations in mind expecting that the solution of the-s independent $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric problem will elucidate the way forward for higher rank is maybe wishful thinking. Nevertheless, the author is certain that the final number of auxiliary functions must lie somewhere between the numbers presented above.

The second approach is the direct integration of the explicit auxiliary linear problems for $U_q[SU(n)]$ as they appear in the Bäcklund flow. This method may hold some potential and was attempted by the author in the case of $U_q[SU(4)]$ before the full set of auxiliary functions as a result of the combined paths (presented in section 6.1.2) was known. This method is again a complete study by itself for several reasons. First the quotients of the auxiliary linear problems have to be picked to create equations of the form $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{b} + 1$. Then there is the issue of combining these equations (using the methods described in section 5.1 and section 6.3.1) because the system of equations is massively over-determined (cf table 6.2) with fifty equations as opposed to the thirteen unknown Bäcklund functions. On top of that there is the problem of introducing additional unknown functions that do not appear directly in the Bäcklund flow because the thirteen that appear naturally in this method are known not be sufficient to close the set of equations (see previous section). And finally, there is the issue of solving the analyticity conditions that may occur with the introduction of these new functions when integrating them. This direct integration method in a way gives more freedom but makes the problem less constrained, which is opposite of what we are trying to achieve in this work; a single systematic method to derive the closed set of auxiliary linear problems that truncate the Y-system. Naturally, one can just try to introduce unknown functions that multiply out to the Y-functions to solve the analyticity issue and the issue of unknown functions at the same time. Yet again this is plagued by the same problems that come with combining the huge number of equations.

Finally there is the approach of relying on the pictorial method exclusively. In hindsight this is maybe the method that yields the most promise for future inquiries. First of all because it seems (at least for $U_q[SU(4)]$) to immediately result in equations that include the complete set of known unknowns $T_s^a(u)$, $G_s^a(u)$, $\hat{G}_s^a(u)$,... and the additional unknown functions (6.37) as well as (up to multiplication) resulting in all equations that are known to truncate the $U_q[SU(4)]$ symmetric Y-system [20]. Unfortunately, this course of inquiry was not pursued beyond $U_q[SU(4)]$ due to time constraints and in favor of finalizing the Bäcklund flow formulation due to its *s*-independent nature. Nevertheless, the pictorial method should not be constrained to a finite *s* alone because the master equations still hold in all cases. In the *s*independent case the problem of truncation should only be solved for $s \to s - 1$, which requires thorough study of the allowed filling of the Young tableaux in context of the Hirota/fusion equation.

In closing, the study of the application of Bäcklund flows to integrable quantum systems has been a fruitfully endeavor. The main results thereof being the generalized formulation of the auxiliary linear problems in the Bäcklund flow for $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric systems (section 6.2) and the *s*-independent formulation of the non-linear integral equations (section 5.2). The author hopes that this work paves the way for the recognition and development of a the new suite of tools related to the Bäcklund method in quantum integrable systems. And, most of all that these tools include a comprehensive method to derive the auxiliary linear problems that result in the finite sets of NLIE which can be integrated numerically for arbitrary temperatures, for this is the most efficient method of analyzing thermodynamic properties in $U_q[SU(n)]$ symmetric quantum integrable systems.

List of publications

Other publications by the author

- E. Stouten, P.W. Clayes, J.-S. Caux, V. Gritsev, *Integrability and duality in spin chains*, Phys. Rev. B **99**, 075111 (2019).
- E. Stouten, P.W. Clayes, M. Zvonarev, J.-S. Caux, V. Gritsev, Something interacting and solvable in 1D, J. Phys. A: Mathematical and Theoretical 51, 485204 (2018).

Appendix A

Fusion

In this Appendix we review some of the techniques of fusion to the R-matrix with weights given by (1.1). We apply various concepts introduced in [65, 145, 155], all concepts in this appendix were well known before and given here to fix notations in a clear way.

Let $R_{ij}(u) \in End(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathbb{C}^n)$ be the *R*-matrix acting in the fundamental representation of $U_q[SU(n)]$ defined by (1.3) and the weights (1.1). This *R*-matrix has two degenerate points at $u = \pm 2$ which can be used to define the projection operators.

$$\mathcal{P}_{ij}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2\cos\gamma}\check{R}_{ij}(\pm 2) \tag{A1}$$

The projection operator is defined by the following relations

$$\mathcal{P}^+ + \mathcal{P}^- = \mathbb{I}_{n^2} \qquad \mathcal{P}^+ \mathcal{P}^- = 0 \qquad (\mathcal{P}^\pm)^2 = \mathcal{P}^\pm$$
(A2)

$$\mathcal{P}_{ij}^{+}\check{R}_{ij}(-2) = \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}\check{R}_{ij}(2) = 0 \iff \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{\pm}R_{ji}(\mp 2) = 0$$
(A3)

The final equality follows from

$$R_{ij}(2)R_{ji}(-2) = \check{R}_{ij}(2)\check{R}_{ij}(-2) = 0.$$
(A4)

We also note that the following equations hold due to the Yang-Baxter equation

$$R_{12}(\pm 2)R_{13}(u)R_{23}(u\mp 2) = R_{23}(u\mp 2)R_{13}(u)R_{12}(\pm 2), \tag{A5}$$

and

$$\mathcal{P}_{12}^{\pm}R_{13}(u\pm 2)R_{23}(u)\mathcal{P}_{12}^{\mp} = 0.$$
(A6)

The previous equation shows that the *R*-matrices leave the space $C^{m_{\pm}} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{n}$ invariant with $m_{\pm} = \frac{n(n\pm 1)}{2}$. Similarly for the quantum space one obtains:

$$\mathcal{P}_{23}^{\pm}R_{13}(u)R_{12}(u\mp 2)\mathcal{P}_{23}^{\mp} = 0 \tag{A7}$$

which shows that the *R*-matrices leave the space $\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m_{\pm}}$ invariant. Using this we construct *R*-matrices with fused representations as

$$R_{\{i\},j}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^{\pm} R_{i_1,j}(u \mp 2) R_{i_2,j}(u) \mathcal{P}_{i_1,i_2}^{\pm} \in End(\mathbb{C}^{m_{\pm}} \otimes \mathbb{C}^n),$$
(A8)



Figure A1: Left: Shifts in arguments of the *R*-matrix when fusing in the first space. Fusion along the second space has the same shifts with opposite sign. Right: Illustration of the labeling of a non rectangular Young tableau, these figures were recreated from [65, 102, 154].

and

$$R_{i,\{j\}}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^{\pm} R_{i,j_2}(u) R_{i,j_1}(u \pm 2) \mathcal{P}_{j_1,j_2}^{\pm} \in End(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m_{\pm}}).$$
(A9)

To obtain yet higher representations in the quantum and auxiliary space one can again find the degenerate points of the fused *R*-matrices and construct projection operators. The degenerate points of (A8) are at u = 2 and u = -4, when considering fusion using \mathcal{P}^+ once (called symmetric fusion from now on). This process can be repeated to fuse the *R*-matrices together symmetrically and anti-symmetrically up to an arbitrary fusion-level. To keep track of the level of fusion the Yangian analogue of the Young tableaux will be used again as in chapter 2 where the horizontal boxes / symmetric fusion (see figure A1 or [63, 91, 96, 128, 141] and [145] for the *q*-deformed case). Let the first space of R_{ij} indicate the auxiliary space and the second the quantum space. Then λ (μ) is the Young diagram associated with the highest weight of the algebra with dimension equal to that of the Young diagram in which the *R*matrix acts in the auxiliary (quantum) space. If $R(u) \in End (V_\lambda \otimes V_\mu)$ then it is indicated with superscripts as

$$R^{(\lambda,\mu)}(u) \in End\left(V_{\lambda} \otimes V_{\mu}\right). \tag{A10}$$

In this work mainly rectangular Young tableaux are considered, these are indicated by their height a obtained by anti-symmetric fusion, and their width s by symmetric fusion in the tuple (a, s). For non-rectangular diagrams it is useful to introduce some extra notation for λ following [102]. Let the Young diagram be made up of n rows of width $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \ldots \lambda_n$ which have height $\mu_1 \leq \mu_2 \cdots \leq \mu_n$ (which will be denoted as $(\{\mu_1, \ldots\}, \{\lambda_1, \ldots\})$ in a tuple, see figure A1). Using this notation an *R*-matrix with arbitrary representation can be conveniently written as a product of *R*-matrices with



Figure A2: *R*-matrix with single symmetric fusion in both quantum and auxiliary space reduces to the permutation operator at u = 0. Here $R_{\{12\},\{34\}}^{(1,2)(1,2)}(u) = P_{34}^+ P_{12}^+ R_{1,4}(u-2)R_{2,4}(u)R_{1,3}(u)R_{2,3}(u+2)P_{12}^+ P_{34}^+$ with $R_{i,j}(u) = R_{i,j}^{(1,1)(1,1)}(u)$.

a lower representation following from [65, 155]

$$R^{(\lambda),1}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{\lambda} \left[\bigotimes_{\{i,j\} \in \lambda}^{\leftarrow} R(u_{ij}) \right] \mathcal{P}_{\lambda}$$
(A11)

$$R^{1,(\mu)}(u) = \mathcal{P}_{\mu} \left[\bigotimes_{\{i,j\}\in\mu}^{\rightarrow} R(v_{ij})\right] \mathcal{P}_{\mu}.$$
 (A12)

Here the product is taken in lexicographic order over the diagram in figure A1 where u_{ij} are the shifts in the argument, for the fusion in the quantum space v_{ij} have the same shifts with opposite signs. We use the convention that the indices indicating the auxiliary space $a R_{a,q}(u)$ increase left to right in this product and right to left for the quantum space q.

Using (A11) and (A12) the matrix $R^{(1,2),(1,2)}(u)$ can be constructed as in figure A2. The shifts in u in (A8) and (A9) are chosen slightly different from the convention in the literature. This choice is important because the permutation operator is used for the construction of the Perk-Schultz Hamiltonian and for this choice of shifts only $R^{(\lambda,\lambda)}(0) = \mathbb{P}$ is the permutation operator in the vector space $V_{\lambda} \otimes V_{\lambda}$. The convention of the shifts agree with the direct derivation of the *R*-matrix discussed in [88] if $R^{\lambda,\mu}(u)$ with $\lambda = \mu$. If $\lambda \neq \mu$ and $\lambda = 1$ we have to introduce the shift $u \rightarrow u - s_q + a_q$, this shift will later cancel with the one in (2.23) (see the discussion in section 2.2), such that when $a = a_q$ and $s = s_q$ the transfer matrices are again constructed from *R*-matrices that obey the desired permutation property at u = 0. When fusing *R*-matrices additional zeros occur due to (A3) which turn the *R*-matrix into the zero matrix at specific points, these zeros are thus superfluous and should be extracted [155]. In the case of symmetric fusion in the auxiliary space (A8) an overall factor of $\sin \left[\frac{\gamma}{2}(v+2)\right]/\sin(\gamma)$ needs to be extracted. For an arbitrary rectangular diagram the zeros are extracted by introducing the following norm

$$R^{(a_q,s_q)}(u) \to R^{(a_q,s_q)}(u) \ 2^{a_q s_q} \left(\frac{\sin[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u)]}{\sin\gamma}\right) \left(\prod_{p=1}^{s_q} \prod_{q=1}^{a_q} \frac{\sin[\frac{\gamma}{2}(u-2p+2q)]}{\sin\gamma}\right)^{-1}$$
(A13)

which is similar to that of [65]. These zeros along with any additional zeros introduced by the fusion in the auxiliary space will be extracted by in overall norm $\Phi(a, s, a_q, s_q, u)$ in (2.15) and subsequent formulas in section 2.2.

Using the fused R-matrices, transfer matrices with higher representations can be constructed by

$$T^{\lambda}(u) := \operatorname{Tr}_{a} R_{a,N}^{(1,1)(a_{q},s_{q})}(u - s_{q} + a_{q}) \dots R_{a,1}^{(1,1)(a_{q},s_{q})}(u - s_{q} + a_{q}).$$
(A14)

Dropping the shifts and the label of the auxiliary space the definition of fusion for the R-matrices can be used to derive the following bilinear-linear "fusion relation" (this only happens in auxiliary space due to cyclicity of the trace on \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{\pm})

$$T^{(1,1)}(u+2)T^{(1,1)}(u) = \operatorname{Tr}_{i} \left[R_{i,N}(u+2)R_{i,N-1}(u+2)\dots\right] \operatorname{Tr}_{j} \left[R_{j,N}(u)R_{j,N-1}(u)\dots\right]$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{i,j} \left[(R_{i,N}(u+2)R_{j,N}(u))(R_{i,N-1}(u+2)R_{j,N-1}(u))\dots\right]$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{i,j} \left[(\mathcal{P}^{+}_{ij} + \mathcal{P}^{-}_{ij})(R_{i,N}(u+2)R_{j,N}(u))(\mathcal{P}^{+}_{ij} + \mathcal{P}^{-}_{ij})\dots\right]$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{i,j} \left[R^{(1,2)}_{\{i\},N}(u+2)R^{(1,2)}_{\{i\},N-1}(u+2)\dots\right]$$

$$+ \operatorname{Tr}_{i,j} \left[R^{(2,1)}_{\{i\},N-1}(u)R^{(2,1)}_{\{i\},N}(u)\dots\right]$$

$$= T^{(1,2)}(u+2) + T^{(2,1)}(u)$$
(A15)

Such that

$$T^{(1,1)}(u)T^{(1,1)}(u-2) = T^{(1,2)}(u) + T^{(2,1)}(u-2)$$
(A16)

which is the result (2.5a). Rewriting the previous equation in the determinant form (2.8b) repeated application of the fusion relations can be used to determine that the overall zeros that are introduced by fusion in quantum and auxiliary space result in those presented in section 2.2.

Appendix B

Nested Bethe ansatz for the QTM in $U_q[SU(3)]$

In this appendix the QTM eigenvalue and Bethe equations for different embeddings will explicitly be derived for the SU(3) symmetric system using nested Bethe Ansatz (NABA). In this chapter the monodromy matrix $\mathcal{T}(u)$ (1.51) will be considered and the following shorthand for the entries of the *R*-matrix (1.1) is used, $R^{\alpha\alpha}_{\alpha\alpha}(u,v) = f(u,v)$, $R^{\alpha\beta}_{\alpha\beta}(u,v) = h(u,v)$ and $R^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta\alpha}(u,v) = g(u,v)$ when $\alpha > \beta$ and $R^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta\alpha}(u,v) = \bar{g}(u,v)$ when $\alpha < \beta$. We will mainly follow the derivation in [35].

B.1 First embedding scheme $\mathbb{B}(u) = (B_1(u), B_2(u))$

Let the monodromy matrix in the first embedding scheme take the form of (1.55)

$$\mathcal{T}(u) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{T}_1^{-1}(u) & \mathcal{T}_2^{-1}(u) & \mathcal{T}_3^{-1}(u) \\ \mathcal{T}_1^{-2}(u) & \mathcal{T}_2^{-2}(u) & \mathcal{T}_3^{-2}(u) \\ \mathcal{T}_1^{-3}(u) & \mathcal{T}_2^{-3}(u) & \mathcal{T}_3^{-3}(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) & B_1(u) & B_2(u) \\ C_1(u) & D_1^{-1}(u) & D_2^{-1}(u) \\ C_2(u) & D_1^{-2}(u) & D_2^{-2}(u) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B1)

Then the action of this monodromy matrix on the highest weight state $|0\rangle$ yield nonzero entries only on and above the diagonal as in (1.51). Considering the highest weight state to be of the form (1.52) the entries above the diagonal of the monodromy matrix will be considered to have non-zero action on the highest weight state (1.52) with all operators and are not fixed to any model except at the end of the calculation. In other words only the vacuum expectation value of the monodromy matrix is fixed. Second: the operators of the monodromy matrix will obey the Yang-Baxter algebra with *R*-matrix (1.1) and can be constructed from either the regular Lax operator (1.49) or that of the QTM (1.50). Then at the end the vacuum expectation values (1.53) will be fixed, which differ only slightly for different models with the same *R*-matrix as intertwiner.

The Nested Bethe Ansatz solves the following eigenvalue problem

$$tr\mathcal{T}(z)|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle = \Lambda(z)|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle.$$
(B2)

where $|\Psi(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle$ is a general Bethe vector containing all possible species of particles $\{(1, 0, 0)^T, (0, 1, 0)^T, (0, 0, 1)^T\}$. First consider the creation of any species¹ different from $|0\rangle$ generated by $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha+1}^1(u) = B_{\alpha}(u)$ where α indicates the particle type

$$B_1(u_1)\dots B_1(u_a)|0\rangle, \quad a = 0, 1, \dots N.$$
 (B3)

Rearranging similar operators in matrices $\mathbb{B}(u) = (B_1(u), B_2(u))$ the commutation relations for the relevant elements of the monodromy matrix are found using the Yang-Baxter Algebra

$$\mathbb{B}(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}(u) = (\mathbb{B}(u) \otimes \mathbb{B}(z)) \frac{\check{r}(z, u)}{f(z, u)}$$
(B4)

$$A(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}(u) = \frac{f(u,z)}{h(u,z)} \mathbb{B}(u) \otimes A(z) - \frac{g(u,z)}{h(u,z)} \mathbb{B}(z) \otimes A(u)$$
(B5)

$$\mathbb{D}(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}(u) = \frac{1}{h(z,u)} \mathbb{B}(u) \otimes \mathbb{D}(z)\check{r}(z,u) - \frac{g(z,u)}{h(z,u)} \mathbb{B}(z) \otimes \mathbb{D}(u),$$
(B6)

where

$$\check{r}(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} f(u,v) & & \\ & \bar{g}(u,v) & h(u,v) & \\ & h(u,v) & g(u,v) & \\ & & f(u,v) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B7)

Because the state (B3) is not an eigenstate of $Tr(\mathcal{T}(z))$ one needs to consider the general state as a linear combination of these operators given by the vector $\mathbb{F}(\{u\}, \{v\})$

$$|\Psi(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle = \mathbb{B}(u_1)\dots\mathbb{B}(u_a)\mathbb{F}(\{u\},\{v\})|0\rangle, \tag{B8}$$

where a = #u, b = #v will label the Bethe roots. Using the commutation relations

¹see Section 1.3.2 for the definition of $\mathbb{A}(u)$, $\mathbb{B}(u)$, $\mathbb{C}(u)$ and $\mathbb{D}(u)$ and \bar{u}

one obtains the action of the transfer matrix on the previous state

$$A(z) \left[\bigotimes_{j=1}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{j}(u_{j}) \right] = \left[\bigotimes_{j=1}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{j}(u_{j}) \right] A(z) \frac{f(\bar{u}, z)}{h(\bar{u}, z)} - \sum_{j=1}^{a} \left\{ \mathbb{B}_{j}(z) \otimes \left[\bigotimes_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{k}(u_{k}) \right] \right\} S_{j-1}(\{u_{k}\}_{k=1}^{j}) \times A(u_{j}) \frac{g(u_{j}, z)}{h(u_{j}, z)} \frac{f(\bar{u}_{j}, u_{j})}{h(\bar{u}_{j}, u_{j})}$$
(B9)
$$\mathbb{D}(z) \otimes \left[\bigotimes_{j=1}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{j}(u_{j}) \right] = \left\{ \mathbb{I}_{2} \otimes \left[\bigotimes_{j=1}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{j}(u_{j}) \right] \right\} \tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z) \frac{1}{h(z, \bar{u})} - \sum_{j=1}^{a} \left\{ \mathbb{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{B}_{j}(z) \otimes \left[\bigotimes_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{k}(u_{k}) \right] \right\} P_{01} S_{j-1}^{(0)}(\{u_{k}\}_{k=1}^{j}) \times \operatorname{tr} \left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(u_{j}) \right) \frac{\bar{g}(z, u_{j})}{h(z, u_{j})} \frac{1}{h(u_{j}, \bar{u}_{j})},$$
(B10)

ignoring the unwanted terms (containing $\mathbb{B}(z)$) in the same spirit as the scalar algebraic Bethe Ansatz the following partial eigenvalue is found

$$\Lambda(z) = \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi})\frac{f(\bar{u},z)}{h(\bar{u},z)} + \frac{1}{h(z,\bar{u})}\tilde{\Lambda}(z).$$
(B11)

Here $\tilde{\Lambda}(z)$ is the eigenvalue of the SU(2) subspace given by the action of the monodromy matrix $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(z)$). For further details of the calculation and definition of the vacuum subspace we refer to [35, 86, 114, 120, 121]. We will repeat some of the definitions of [35] used here. Using the conventional embedding of linear operators into tensor product spaces,

$$\check{r}_{j-1,j}(z,u) = \mathbb{I}_2^{\otimes (j-2)} \otimes \check{r}(z,u) \otimes \mathbb{I}_2^{\otimes (a-j)}$$
(B12)

for j = 1, ..., a being an element of $(End(\mathbb{C}^2))^{\otimes a}$. The operators $S_{j-1}(\{u_k\}_{k=1}^j)$ are defined as

$$S_{j-1} = \check{r}_{1,2}(u_1, u_j)\check{r}_{2,3}(u_2, u_j) \dots \check{r}_{j-1,j}(u_{j-1}, u_j) \frac{1}{f(\bar{u}_j, u_j)},$$
(B13)

where again j = 1, ..., a, and $S_0 = id$. The embedding of the object is denoted by a super script

$$S_{j-1}^{(0)} = \mathbb{I}_2 \otimes s_{j-1}.$$
 (B14)

The regular form of r(z, u) is obtained in the usual fashion

$$r(z,u) = P\check{r}(z,u),\tag{B15}$$

where P is the permutation matrix of $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$. The monodromy matrix of the SU(2) subspace is then given by

$$\mathcal{T}^{(0)}(z, \{u\}) = r_{0,a}(z, u_a) \dots r_{0,1}(z, u_1)$$
(B16)

and combining it with $\mathbb{D}(z)$ one defines

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z) = \left[\mathbb{D}(z) \otimes \mathbb{I}_2^{\otimes a}\right] \mathcal{T}^{(0)}(z).$$
(B17)

To solve the problem of diagonalization of the action of $\operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}(z)$ on $|\Psi(\{u\}, \{v\})\rangle$ the SU(2) subspace has to be diagonalized w.r.t. the action of $\mathbb{D}(z)$. The diagonalization is obtained by solving the algebraic Bethe Ansatz (ABA) problem of rank n-1 generated by $\operatorname{tr} \tilde{\mathcal{T}}(z)$ where n is the rank of the original problem. In the case of SU(3) this would be an SU(2) problem which can be solved by the familiar SU(2) ABA process, however more steps are necessary for n > 2.

Introducing the monodromy matrix of the subspace as

$$\mathcal{T}^{(0)}(z,\{u\}) = \begin{pmatrix} A^{(0)}(z) & B^{(0)}(z) \\ C^{(0)}(z) & D^{(0)}(z) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z,\{u\}) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{A}(z) & \tilde{B}(z) \\ \tilde{C}(z) & \tilde{D}(z) \end{pmatrix}$$
(B18)

this operator again satisfies a Yang-Baxter relation $\check{r}(z, u)(\tilde{T}(z) \otimes \tilde{T}(u)) = (\tilde{T}(u) \otimes \tilde{T}(z))\check{r}(z, u)$. For the action of the SU(2) monodromy to again be upper triangular, and given by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z,\{u\})|\hat{\Omega}\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi})f(z,\bar{u}) & *\\ 0 & \alpha_3(z,\bar{\xi})h(z,\bar{u}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B19)

the highest weight state must be that of highest weight given by

$$|\hat{\Omega}\rangle = |\hat{\Omega}^{(a)}\rangle \otimes |0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}^{\otimes a} \otimes |0\rangle.$$
 (B20)

Because the QTM obeys the same Yang-Baxter Algebra the action of $\mathcal{T}^{(0)}(z, \{u\})$ is the same. The only difference is in the parameters $\alpha_{1,2}(z, \bar{\xi})$ due to the action of $\mathbb{D}(z)$ on the vacuum, it gives the same relations as above and no highest weight state (B20) needs to be considered. Using the relevant relations following from the SU(2) Yang-Baxter Algebra

$$\tilde{B}(z)\tilde{B}(u) = \tilde{B}(u)\tilde{B}(z)$$
(B21)

$$\tilde{A}(z)\tilde{B}(u) = \frac{f(u,z)}{h(u,z)}\tilde{B}(u)\tilde{A}(z) - \frac{g(u,z)}{h(u,z)}\tilde{B}(z)\tilde{A}(u)$$
(B22)

$$\tilde{D}(z)\tilde{B}(u) = \frac{f(z,u)}{h(z,u)}\tilde{B}(u)\tilde{D}(z) - \frac{\bar{g}(z,u)}{h(z,u)}\tilde{B}(z)\tilde{D}(u)$$
(B23)

the action on an arbitrary state is given by the products (note the bar in the argument of $\tilde{B}(\bar{v})$ for multiplication)

$$\tilde{A}(z)\tilde{B}(\bar{v}) = \tilde{B}(\bar{v})\tilde{A}(z)\frac{f(\bar{v},z)}{h(\bar{v},z)} - \sum_{k=1}^{b} \left[\tilde{B}(z)\tilde{B}(\bar{v}_{k})\right]\tilde{A}(v_{k})\frac{g(v_{k},z)}{h(v_{k},z)}\frac{f(\bar{v}_{k},v_{k})}{h(\bar{v}_{k},v_{k})}$$
(B24)

$$\tilde{D}(z)\tilde{B}(\bar{v}) = \tilde{B}(\bar{v})\tilde{D}(z)\frac{f(z,\bar{v})}{h(z,\bar{v})} - \sum_{k=1}^{b} \left[\tilde{B}(z)\tilde{B}(\bar{v}_{k})\right]\tilde{D}(v_{k})\frac{\bar{g}(z,v_{k})}{h(z,v_{k})}\frac{f(v_{k},\bar{v}_{k})}{h(v_{k},\bar{v}_{k})}, \quad (B25)$$

where $\{v_k\}_{k=1}^b$ are the roots of the second Bethe equations. The action of the operators $\left(\tilde{A}(z) + \tilde{D}(z)\right)$ on an arbitrary state

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z)\right)\tilde{B}(v_1)\ldots\tilde{B}(v_b)|\hat{\Omega}\rangle = \tilde{\Lambda}(z)\tilde{B}(v_1)\ldots\tilde{B}(v_b)|\hat{\Omega}\rangle \tag{B26}$$

fixes the form of

$$\mathbb{F}(\bar{u},\bar{v}) = \tilde{B}(v_1)\dots\tilde{B}(v_b)|\hat{\Omega}^{(a)}\rangle$$
(B27)

since it needs to be an eigenvector of $\operatorname{tr}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(a)}(z)\right)$ the operators and $\tilde{B}_i(v_i)$ should be creation operators of the SU(2) subspace in the sense of scalar ABA. For a single site these are given by

$$\tilde{B}(v_1) = T_2^2(v_1)g(v,u)e_2^1 + T_3^2(v)(h(v,u)e_1^1 + f(v,u)e_2^2)$$
(B28)

following from (B18). The eigenvalue of a general $\mathbb{F}(\{u\}, \{v\})$ is given by

$$\tilde{\Lambda}(z) = \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi})f(z,\bar{u})\frac{f(\bar{v},z)}{h(\bar{v},z)} + \alpha_3(z,\bar{\xi})h(z,\bar{u})\frac{f(z,\bar{v})}{h(z,\bar{v})}$$
(B29)

if the Bethe Ansatz equations generated by the unwanted terms of the SU(2) subspace

$$\frac{\alpha_2(v_k,\bar{\xi})f(v_k,\bar{u})}{\alpha_3(v_k,\bar{\xi})h(v_k,\bar{u})} = -\left(\frac{\bar{g}(z,v_k)h(v_k,z)h(\bar{v}_k,v_k)}{g(v_k,z)h(z,v_k)h(v_k,\bar{v}_k)}\right)\frac{f(v_k,\bar{v}_k)}{f(\bar{v}_k,v_k)} \tag{B30}$$

are satisfied, the term in brackets vanishes for the choice (1.33). The complete eigenvalue then becomes

$$\Lambda(z) = \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi}) \frac{f(\bar{u},z)}{h(\bar{u},z)} + \frac{1}{h(z,\bar{u})} \left\{ \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi}) f(z,\bar{u}) \frac{f(\bar{v},z)}{h(\bar{v},z)} + \alpha_3(z,\bar{\xi}) h(z,\bar{u}) \frac{f(z,\bar{v})}{h(z,\bar{v})} \right\}.$$
(B31)

Provided the Bethe equations

$$\frac{\alpha_1(u_j,\bar{\xi})}{\alpha_2(u_j,\bar{\xi})} = -\frac{f(\bar{v},u_j)}{h(\bar{v},u_j)} \frac{f(u_j,\bar{u}_j)}{f(\bar{u}_j,u_j)}$$
(B32)

$$\frac{\alpha_2(v_k,\bar{\xi})}{\alpha_3(v_k,\bar{\xi})} = -\frac{f(v_k,\bar{v}_k)}{f(\bar{v}_k,v_k)} \frac{h(v_k,\bar{u})}{f(v_k,\bar{u})}$$
(B33)

hold. The first Bethe equation was obtained by recognizing that the unwanted terms of the commutators of (B10) have a common factor

$$[A(z) + \mathbb{D}(z)]_{unw.} \left[\bigotimes_{j=1}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{j}(u_{j}) \right] |0\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{a} \left\{ \mathbb{B}_{j}(z) \otimes \left[\bigotimes_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{a} \mathbb{B}_{k}(u_{k}) \right] \right\} S_{j-1}$$
$$\times \left(\frac{g(u_{j}, z)}{h(z, u_{j})h(\bar{u}_{j}, u_{j})} \right) \left\{ f(\bar{u}_{j}, u_{j})A(u_{j}) - \operatorname{tr}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(u_{j})\right) \right\} |0\rangle$$
(B34)

where the last term containing $\alpha_2(z)$ is then obtained by evaluating $\tilde{\Lambda}(z)$ at $z = u_j$ and using h(u, u) = 0

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(u_j)\right)|0\rangle = \tilde{\Lambda}(z)|_{z=u_j} = \alpha_1(u_j, \bar{\xi})f(u_j, \bar{u}_j)\frac{f(\bar{v}, u_j)}{h(\bar{v}, u_j)}.$$
(B35)

B.2 Second embedding scheme $\mathbb{B}(u) = (B_1(u), B_2(u))^T$

Now consider the different embedding of the transfer matrix

$$\mathcal{T}'(u) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}'(u) & \mathbb{B}'(u) \\ \mathbb{C}'(u) & D(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A'_1^1(u) & A'_2^1(u) & B'_1(u) \\ A'_1^2(u) & A'_2^2(u) & B'_2(u) \\ C'_1(u) & C'_2(u) & D'(u) \end{pmatrix}$$
(B36)

where again the highest weight state $|0\rangle$ is chosen such that the action of $\mathcal{T}'(u)$ results in an upper triangular matrix. In this case the raising operator is of the form

$$\mathbb{B}'(u) = \begin{pmatrix} B'_1(u) \\ B'_2(u) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} T^1_3(u) \\ T^2_3(u) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B37)

Now the Bethe vectors are

$$|\Psi'(\{u\},\{v\})\rangle = \left(\mathbb{B}'_1(v_1)\mathbb{B}'_2(v_2)\dots\mathbb{B}'_b(v_b)\right)^T\mathbb{F}'(\bar{u};\bar{v})|0\rangle \tag{B38}$$

where T stands for the transposed in the space $V_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes V_b$ (where each $V_k \sim \mathbb{C}^2$) which is introduced to make a proper multiplication with $|0\rangle$ which is a column vector as well as $\mathbb{B}'_1(v_1)\mathbb{B}'_2(v_2)\dots\mathbb{B}'_b(v_b)$. Although this form of the Bethe vector looks very different it is in fact exactly the same as the one considered for the previous embedding (for a sketch of why this is true and does not result in different rapidities see Section B.3).

Using the Yang-Baxter algebra in this case gives a slightly different set of relevant commutators

$$\mathbb{B}'(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}'(v) = \frac{\check{r}(v,z)}{f(v,z)} \mathbb{B}'(v) \otimes \mathbb{B}'(z)$$
(B39)

$$\mathbb{A}'(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}'(v) = \frac{\check{r}(v,z)}{h(v,z)} \mathbb{B}'(v) \otimes \mathbb{A}'(z) - \frac{g(v,z)}{h(v,z)} \mathbb{B}'(z) \otimes \mathbb{A}'(v)$$
(B40)

$$D'(z)\mathbb{B}'(v) = \frac{f(z,v)}{h(z,v)}\mathbb{B}'(v)D'(z) - \frac{\bar{g}(z,v)}{h(z,v)}\mathbb{B}'(z)D'(v)$$
(B41)

But the operators that are needed are those that contain a transpose $\mathbb{B}_{j}^{t_{j}}(v_{j})$ instead. Introducing the transpose only changes the structure of the following commutators

$$\mathbb{B}^{t_{i}}(v_{i})\mathbb{B}^{t_{j}}(v_{j}) = \mathbb{B}^{t_{j}}(v_{j})\mathbb{B}^{t_{i}}(v_{i})\frac{\check{r}(v,z)}{f(v,z)}$$
(B42)
$$\mathbb{A}_{0}^{\prime}(z) \otimes \mathbb{B}_{j}^{\prime t_{j}}(v_{j}) = (\mathbb{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{B}_{j}^{\prime t_{0}}(v_{j}))r_{0j}^{\prime}(z,v_{j})(\mathbb{A}_{0}^{\prime}(z) \otimes \mathbb{I}_{2})\frac{1}{h(v_{j},z)}$$
(B43)
$$- (\mathbb{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{B}_{j}^{\prime t_{0}}(z))P_{0,j}^{t_{j}}(\mathbb{A}_{0}^{\prime}(v_{j}) \otimes \mathbb{I}_{2})\frac{g(v_{j},z)}{h(v_{j},z)}$$
(B43)

Here

$$r'_{ij}(z,v) = r^{t_j}_{ij}(-z,-v) = \begin{pmatrix} f(-z,-v) & 0 & 0 & g(-z,-v) \\ 0 & h(-z,-v) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h(-z,-v) & 0 \\ \bar{g}(-z,-v) & 0 & 0 & f(-z,-v) \end{pmatrix}$$
(B44)

The eigenvalue problem of interest now is

$$tr\left(\mathcal{T}'(z)\right)|\Psi'_{a,b}(\bar{u},\bar{v})\rangle = \Lambda'(z)|\Psi'_{a,b}(\bar{u},\bar{v})\rangle \tag{B45}$$

Using the commutators to obtain the relevant relations,

$$\mathbb{A}'_{0}(z)\mathbb{B}'_{1}^{t_{1}}(v_{1})\dots\mathbb{B}'_{b}^{t_{b}}(v_{b}) = \mathbb{B}'_{1}^{t_{1}}(v_{1})\dots\mathbb{B}'_{b}^{t_{b}}(v_{b})\frac{r'_{0,1}(z,v_{1})}{h(v_{1},z)}\dots\frac{r'_{0,b}(z,v_{b})}{h(v_{b},z)}\mathbb{A}'_{0}(z) -\sum_{k=1}^{b}\mathbb{B}'_{1}^{t_{1}}(v_{1})\dots\mathbb{B}'_{k}^{t_{k}}(z)\dots\mathbb{B}'_{b}^{t_{b}}(v_{b})\frac{g(v_{k},z)}{h(v_{k},z)} \times\frac{r'_{0,b}(v_{k},v_{b})}{h(v_{b},v_{k})}\dots\frac{r'_{0,k-1}(v_{k},v_{k-1})}{h(v_{k-1},v_{k})}P_{0,k}^{t_{k}}\frac{r'_{0,k+1}(v_{k},v_{k+1})}{h(v_{k+1},v_{k})}\dots\frac{r'_{0,1}(v_{k},v_{1})}{h(v_{1},v_{k})}\mathbb{A}'_{0}(v_{k})$$
(B46)

$$\mathbb{D}_{0}(z)\mathbb{B}_{1}^{\prime t_{1}}(v_{1})\dots\mathbb{B}_{b}^{\prime t_{b}}(v_{b}) = \mathbb{B}_{1}^{\prime t_{1}}(v_{1})\dots\mathbb{B}_{b}^{\prime t_{b}}(v_{b})\frac{f(z,\bar{v})}{h(z,\bar{v})}D^{\prime}(z)$$
(B47)

$$-\sum_{k=1} \mathbb{B}_{1}^{\prime t_{1}}(v_{1}) \dots \mathbb{B}_{k}^{\prime t_{k}}(z) \dots \mathbb{B}_{b}^{\prime t_{b}}(v_{b}) \frac{\bar{g}(z, v_{k})}{h(z, v_{k})} \frac{f(v_{k}, \bar{v}_{k})}{h(v_{k}, \bar{v}_{k})} D^{\prime}(v_{k})$$
(B48)

the partial eigenvalue now is

$$\Lambda'(z) = \frac{1}{h(\bar{v}, z)} \tilde{\Lambda}'(z) + \alpha_3(z, \bar{\xi}) \frac{f(z, \bar{v})}{h(z, \bar{v})}.$$
(B49)

Where $\tilde{\Lambda}'(z)$ is the eigenvalue of the transfer matrix generated by the SU(2) subspace

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(b)}(z) = r'_{0,1}(z, v_1) \dots r'_{0,b}(z, v_b) \left[\mathbb{A}(z) \otimes \mathbb{I}_2^{\otimes b} \right].$$
(B50)

This operator now acts on the quantum space

$$|\hat{\Omega}'\rangle = |\hat{\Omega}^{(b)}\rangle \otimes |0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}^{\otimes b} \otimes |0\rangle$$
 (B51)

which differs from (B20) because the problem considered (B50) has to result in an upper triangular matrix when acting on the highest weight state

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(b)}(z,\{v\})|\hat{\Omega}'\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi})h(-z,-\bar{v}) & *\\ 0 & \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi})f(-z,-\bar{v}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B52)

Remarkably this monodromy also obeys the same Yang-Baxter equation as before where the SU(2) r-matrix is the intertwiner since $r_{12}(u, v)r'_{13}(u, w)r'_{23}(v, w) =$ $r'_{23}(v,w)r'_{13}(u,w)r_{12}(u,v)$. As a result the entries of the monodromy (B50) obey the same SU(2) Yang-Baxter algebra (B25) as before and the action of the SU(2)subspace operator acts on an arbitrary state as

$$tr\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(b)}(z)\right)\tilde{B}'(u_1)\dots\tilde{B}'(u_a)|\hat{\Omega}'\rangle = \tilde{\Lambda}'(z)\tilde{B}'(u_1)\dots\tilde{B}'(u_a)|\hat{\Omega}'\rangle.$$
(B53)

The eigenvalue $\tilde{\Lambda}'(z)$ is then solved in a similar way as above using the operator commutators (B25):

$$\tilde{\Lambda}'(z) = \alpha_1(z,\bar{\xi})h(-z,-\bar{v})\frac{f(\bar{u},z)}{h(\bar{u},z)} + \alpha_2(z,\bar{\xi})f(-z,-\bar{v})\frac{f(z,\bar{u})}{h(z,\bar{u})}$$
(B54)

$$\Lambda'(z) = \frac{1}{h(\bar{v}, z)} \left\{ \alpha_1(z, \bar{\xi}) h(-z, -\bar{v}) \frac{f(\bar{u}, z)}{h(\bar{u}, z)} + \alpha_2(z, \bar{\xi}) f(-z, -\bar{v}) \frac{f(z, \bar{u})}{h(z, \bar{u})} \right\} + \alpha_3(z, \bar{\xi}) \frac{f(z, \bar{v})}{h(z, \bar{v})}.$$
(B55)

Which under the condition (which is correct for (1.33))

$$h(\bar{v}, z) = h(-z, -\bar{v}) \tag{B56}$$

$$f(\bar{v}, z) = f(-z, -\bar{v}) \tag{B57}$$

is the same eigenvalue (B31) as the other nesting only with the order of the brackets $\{\ldots\}$ reversed. The Bethe equations therefore also stay the same since they are the equations that require the transfer matrix eigenvalue to be free of poles.

$$Res_{z=u_i}(\Lambda(z)) = 0, \qquad Res_{z=v_j}(\Lambda(z)) = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, a, \ j = 1, \dots, b$$
 (B58)

Where $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^a$ and $\{v_j\}_{j=1}^b$ are the solutions to the Bethe equations

Alternatively the Bethe equations can be derived using the unwanted terms which are again given by (B25) because the intertwiner of (B44) is the same as for r(u, v). The only difference is the action of $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{(b)}(z)$ and the nested system now runs over the other roots $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^a$ resulting in

$$\frac{\alpha_1(u_j, \bar{\xi})}{\alpha_2(u_j, \bar{\xi})} = -\frac{f(\bar{v}, u_j)}{h(\bar{v}, u_j)} \frac{f(u_j, \bar{u}_j)}{f(\bar{u}_j, u_j)}$$
(B59)

$$\frac{\alpha_2(v_k,\xi)}{\alpha_3(v_k,\bar{\xi})} = -\frac{h(v_k,\bar{u})}{f(v_k,\bar{u})} \frac{f(v_k,\bar{v}_k)}{f(\bar{v}_k,v_k)}.$$
(B60)

B.3 Yang-Baxter Algebra and Bethe vectors of different embeddings

Here we will give an example to make the equivalence of the Bethe vectors (B8) and (B38) insightful. A proof exists for general Bethe vectors due to the recursion formula of Bethe vectors see [126], note this proof is only true for models with generalized parameters $\frac{\alpha_i(z,\bar{\xi})}{\alpha_{i+1}(z,\bar{\xi})} \neq \kappa$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ with rank n and $\kappa \in \mathbb{C}$.

Recalling (B8) and (B18) the Bethe vector with one solution in each set of Bethe equations $\{u_1\}, \{v_1\}$ gives

$$|\Psi_{1,1}(u_1,v_1)\rangle = \mathbb{B}_1(u_1)\dot{B}(v_1)|0\rangle \otimes |\Omega\rangle.$$
(B61)

We take $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(v_1) = [\mathbb{D}(z) \otimes \mathbb{I}_2^a] \mathcal{T}^{(0)}(v_1)$ to find

$$\tilde{B}(v_1) = T_2^2(v_1)g(v_1, u_1)e_2^1 + T_3^2(v_1)(f(v_1, u_1)e_2^2 + h(v_1, u_1)e_1^1).$$
(B62)

Using the action of

$$\tilde{B}(v_1)|\Omega\rangle = T_2^2(v_1)g(v_1, u_1) \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + T_3^2(v_1)g(v_1, u_1) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(B63)

and $\mathbb{B}(u_1) = (B_1(u_1), B_2(u_1))$ one obtains

$$|\Psi_{1,1}(u_1, v_1)\rangle = T_2^1(u_1)T_3^2(v_1)h(v_1, u_1)|0\rangle + T_3^1(u_1)T_2^2(v_1)g(v_1, u_1)|0\rangle$$
(B64)

Repeating the previous calculation for the other embedding (B38) with the same Bethe roots $\{u_1\}, \{v_1\}$

$$|\Psi_{1,1}'(u_1;v_1)\rangle = (\mathbb{B}_1'(v_1))^T \tilde{B}'(u_1)|0\rangle \otimes |\Omega'\rangle$$
(B65)

Now using (B50) one obtains

$$\tilde{B}'(u_1) = T_2^2(u_1)g(-u_1, -v_1)e_1^2 + T_2^1(u_1)(f(-u_1, -v_1)e_1^1 + h(-u_1, -v_1)e_2^2), \quad (B66)$$

repeating by similar means as the other nesting and using the symmetry properties of (1.33) one obtains

$$|\Psi_{1,1}'(u_1;v_1)\rangle = T_3^2(v_1)T_2^1(u_1)h(v_1,u_1)|0\rangle + T_3^1(v_1)T_2^2(u_1)\bar{g}(v_1,u_1)|0\rangle$$
(B67)

Using the Yang-Baxter algebra the equivalence of (B64) and (B67) is easily proved

$$\begin{split} T_3^1(u)T_2^2(v)g(v,u) + T_2^1(u)T_3^2(v)h(v,u) &= \\ T_3^2(v)T_2^1(u)h(v,u) + T_3^1(v)T_2^2(u)\bar{g}(v,u). \end{split}$$

Just to show that this also holds for $a \neq b$ consider the Bethe roots $\{u_1, u_2\}, \{v_1\}$. We want to calculate

$$|\Psi_{2,1}(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1) = \mathbb{B}_1(u_1) \otimes \mathbb{B}_2(u_2)\tilde{B}(v_1)|0\rangle \otimes |\Omega\rangle.$$
(B68)

The SU(2) subspace operator turns out to be

$$\tilde{B}(v_{1}) = \left[[\mathbb{D}(v_{1}) \otimes \mathbb{I}_{2}^{\otimes 2}] r_{0,2}(v_{1}, u_{2}) r_{0,1}(v_{1}, u_{1}) \right]_{1}^{2} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} h(v_{1}, u_{1})h(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ h(v_{1}, u_{1})g(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{2}^{2}(v_{1}) & h(v_{1}, u_{1})f(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) & 0 & 0 \\ g(v_{1}, u_{1})f(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{2}^{2}(v_{1}) & g(v_{1}, u_{1})\overline{g}(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) & f(v_{1}, u_{1})h(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) & 0 \\ 0 & g(v_{1}, u_{1})h(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{2}^{2}(v_{1}) & f(v_{1}, u_{1})g(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) & f(v_{1}, u_{1})f(v_{1}, u_{2})T_{3}^{2}(v_{1}) \end{array} \right)$$
(B69)

Therefore the action on $|\Omega\rangle = (1,0,0,0)^T$ is

$$\mathbb{F}_{2,1}(\{u_1, u_2\}, v_1) = \tilde{B}(v_1) |\Omega\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} h(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_2^3(v_1) \\ h(v_1, u_1)g(v_1, u_2)T_2^2(v_1) \\ g(v_1, u_1)f(v_1, u_2)T_2^2(v_1) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(B70)

Resulting in

$$\begin{split} |\Psi_{2,1}(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1)\rangle &= \left(h(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^1(u_2)T_3^2(v_1) \right. \\ &+ h(v_1, u_1)g(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_1)T_3^1(u_2)T_2^2(v_1) \\ &+ g(v_1, u_1)f(v_1, u_2)T_3^1(u_1)T_2^1(u_2)T_2^2(v_1)\right) |0\rangle \end{split}$$
(B71)

The other Bethe vector is

$$|\Psi_{1,2}'(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1) = (\mathbb{B}_1'(v_1))^T \tilde{B}'(u_1) \tilde{B}'(u_2) |0\rangle \otimes |\Omega\rangle.$$
 (B72)

Where the SU(2) subspace operator is given by

$$\tilde{B}'(u_1) = \left[r_{0,1}(u_1, v_1)[\mathbb{A}(u_1) \otimes \mathbb{I}_2]\right]_1^2 = \left(\begin{array}{cc} f(-u_1, -v_1)T_2^1(u_1) & g(-u_1, -v_1)T_2^2(u_1) \\ 0 & h(-u_1, -v_1)T_2^1(u_1) \end{array}\right), \tag{B73}$$

then by the same reasoning as before

$$\mathbb{F}'_{1,2}(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1) = \tilde{B}'(u_1)\tilde{B}'(u_2)|\Omega\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} f(v_1, u_1)f(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^1(u_2) & f(v_1, u_1)\bar{g}(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^2(u_2) + \bar{g}(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_2^2(u_1)T_2^1(u_2) \\ 0 & h(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^1(u_2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B74)

Applying this to $|0\rangle$ and applying $(\mathbb{B}'_1(v_1))^T$ results in

$$|\Psi_{1,2}'(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1\rangle = (f(v_1, u_1)\bar{g}(v_1, u_2)T_3^1(v_1)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^2(u_2) + \bar{g}(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_3^1(v_1)T_2^2(u_1)T_2^1(u_2) + h(v_1, u_1)h(v_1, u_2)T_3^2(v_1)T_2^1(u_1)T_2^1(u_2)) |0\rangle.$$
(B75)

All that remains is to commute all $T_3^a(v_1)$ to the right using the Yang-Baxter equations. Using the same commutator as before the second line can be rewritten

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi_{1,2}'(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1) &= \left(f(v_1, u_1) \bar{g}(v_1, u_2) T_3^1(v_1) T_2^1(u_1) T_2^2(u_2) \right. \\ &+ h(v_1, u_2) \left[T_3^1(u_1) T_2^2(v_1) g(v_1, u_1) \right. \\ &+ T_2^1(u_1) T_3^2(v_1) h(v_1, u_1) \right] T_2^1(u_2) \right) |0\rangle. \end{aligned} \tag{B76}$$

Using the equation

$$f(v_1, u_1)T_3^1(v_1)T_2^1(u_1) = h(v_1, u_1)T_2^1(u_1)T_3^2(v_1) + g(v_1, u_1)T_3^1(u_1)T_2^2(v_1)$$
(B77)

results in

$$\begin{split} |\Psi_{1,2}'(\{u_1,u_2\};v_1\rangle &= \left(\bar{g}(v_1,u_2)\left[h(v_1,u_1)T_2^1(u_1)T_3^1(v_1)\right.\\ &+ g(v_1,u_1)T_3^1(u_1)T_2^1(v_1)\right]T_2^2(u_2) \\ &+ h(v_1,u_2)\left[T_3^1(u_1)T_2^2(v_1)g(v_1,u_1)\right.\\ &+ T_2^1(u_1)T_3^2(v_1)h(v_1,u_1)\right]T_2^1(u_2)\right)|0\rangle. \end{split}$$

Clearly these terms can be rearranged using the Yang-Baxter algebra, the term leading with $\bar{g}(v_1, v_2)g(v_1, u_1)$ can be canceled against the term containing $h(v_q, u_q)g(v_1, u_1)$ by

$$\bar{g}(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(v_1)T_2^2(u_2) = f(v_1, u_2)T_2^1(u_2)T_2^2(v_1) - h(v_1, u_2)T_2^2(v_1)T_2^1(u_2).$$
(B78)

The other terms can be rearranged using

$$\begin{split} h(v_1, u_2) T_3^2(v_1) T_2^1(u_2) + \bar{g}(v_1, u_2) T_3^1(v_1) T_2^2(u_2) = \\ h(v_1, u_2) T_2^1(u_2) T_3^2(v_1) + g(v_1, u_2) T_3^1(u_2) T_2^2(v_1). \end{split}$$

This results in the Bethe vector $|\Psi_{2,1}(\{u_1, u_2\}; v_1)\rangle$ thus the two vectors are the same.

Appendix C

Auxiliary functions in previous works

C.1 $U_q[SU(2)]$ case

Remarkably the $U_q[SU(2)]$ case is the only representation for which the auxiliary functions were found for non-fundamental representations previous to this work $[127]^1$. The fundamental case was first described in [82].

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{B}^{a}_{s,j}(u) &= \mathfrak{b}^{a}_{s,j}(u) + 1 \\ \mathfrak{B}^{1}_{s,1}(u) &\equiv \frac{T^{1}_{s}(u+i)Q(u+is)}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)Q(u-is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+2))} \\ \mathfrak{B}^{1}_{s,2}(u) &\equiv \frac{T^{1}_{s}(u-i)Q(u-is)}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+2))Q(u+is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-is)} \\ \mathfrak{b}^{1}_{s,1}(u) &\equiv \frac{T^{1}_{s-1}(u)Q(u+i(s+2))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)Q(u-is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+2))} \\ \mathfrak{b}^{1}_{s,2}(u) &\equiv \frac{T^{1}_{s-1}(u)Q(u-i(s+2))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+2))Q(u+is)\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-is)} \end{split}$$

¹For the row-to-row formulation of the NLIE at roots of unity for higher rank models are described in [143].

C.2 $U_q[SU(3)]$ case

Below are the equations derived in section 5.1 which reduce to the equations presented in [20, 32] for s = 1.

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^{1}(u) &= \frac{T_{s}^{1}(u+i)Q_{1}(u+is)}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{1}(u) &= \frac{F_{s}^{1}(u-i)\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)}{T_{s}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u+is)Q_{2}(u-is)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{s,3}^{1}(u) &= \frac{T_{s}^{1}(u-i)Q_{2}(u-is)}{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-is)F_{s}^{1}(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{s,1}^{2}(u) &= \frac{T_{s}^{2}(u+i)Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))}{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+3))F_{s}^{1}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{s,2}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u)F_{s}^{1}(u)}{T_{s}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{s,3}^{2}(u) &= \frac{T_{s}^{2}(u-i)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+3))\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u)} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{b}_{s,1}^{1}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u+i(s+2))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u+is)\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{1}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+2))Q_{2}(u+i(s+2))}{T_{s}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u+is)Q_{2}(u-is)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{s,3}^{1}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{1}(u)Q_{2}(u-i(s+2))}{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u-is)F_{s}^{1}(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{s,1}^{2}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{2}(u)Q_{2}(u+i(s+3))}{\bar{\phi}_{+}(u+i(s+3))F_{s}^{1}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{s,2}^{2}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u+i(s+1))Q_{2}(u-i(s+1))}{T_{s}^{1}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+1))Q_{2}(u+i(s+1))} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{s,3}^{2}(u) &= \frac{T_{s-1}^{2}(u)Q_{1}(u-i(s+3))}{\bar{\phi}_{-}(u-i(s+3))\tilde{F}_{s}^{1}(u)} \end{split}$$

C.3 $U_q[SU(4)]$ case

The equations from [20] in the notation of chapter 6 are

$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^{1}(u) = \frac{T_{1}^{1}(u+i)Q_{1}(u+i)}{\phi_{-}(u+i)\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u+i)} \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{1,2}^{1}(u) = \frac{\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u+i)X_{2}^{2}(u)}{Q_{1}(u+i)\hat{F}_{1}^{1}(u+i)}$$
$$\mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^{1}(u) = \frac{\hat{F}_{1}^{1}(u+i)G_{1}^{1}(u-i)}{Q_{3}(u-i)X_{2}^{2}(u)} \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{1,4}^{1}(u) = \frac{T_{1}^{1}(u-i)Q_{3}(u-i)}{\phi_{+}(u-i)G_{1}^{1}(u-i)}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^2(u) &= \frac{Q_2(u+2i)T_1^2(u+i)}{X_2^2(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^2(u) &= \frac{G_1^1(u)\hat{G}_1^1(u)}{\tilde{F}_1^1(u)T_1^1(u)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{1,5}^2(u) &= \frac{\hat{F}_1^1(u)X_1^2(u-i)}{Q_2(u-2i)\hat{G}_1^1(u)\hat{G}_1^2(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{1,1}^3(u) &= \frac{T_1^3(u+i)Q_3(u+3i)}{\phi_+(u+5i)G_1^2(u)} \\ \mathfrak{B}_{1,3}^3(u) &= \frac{X_1^2(u)\hat{G}_1^2(u)}{Q_1(u-3i)\hat{F}_1^1(u+i)T_1^2(u)} \\ \end{split}$$

Where

$$\begin{split} X_1^2(u) &= \frac{\phi_-(u+i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \left(G_1^2(u) + \frac{Q_3(u-i)F_1^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u-i)} \right) \\ X_2^2(u) &= \frac{\phi_-(u+3i)}{Q_3(u+i)} \left(G_1^1(u-i) + \frac{Q_3(u+3i)F_1^1(u-i)}{Q_2(u+i)} \right) \end{split}$$

as presented in (6.40) and (6.44).

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{1}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)Q_{1}(u+3i)}{\phi_{-}(u+i)\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{1}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)Q_{2}(u+3i)\hat{G}_{1}^{2}(u)}{Q_{1}(u+i)F_{1}^{1}(u+i)T_{1}^{2}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{1}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)Q_{2}(u-3i)Q_{3}(u+3i)}{Q_{1}(u-i)X_{2}^{2}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{1}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-i)\phi_{+}(u+i)Q_{2}(u-3i)}{\phi_{+}(u-i)G_{1}^{1}(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{2}(u+4i)}{X_{2}^{2}(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{1}(u+2i)Q_{2}(u-2i)Q_{3}(u+4i)}{Q_{2}(u+2i)G_{1}^{1}(u)\hat{G}_{1}^{2}(u+i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{1}(u-4i)Q_{3}(u-2i)}{\tilde{F}_{1}^{1}(u)T_{1}^{1}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{1}(u-4i)Q_{3}(u+4i)}{\tilde{F}_{1}^{1}(u)T_{1}^{3}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,5}^{2}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{1}(u-4i)Q_{2}(u+2i)Q_{3}(u-2i)}{Q_{2}(u-2i)\hat{G}_{1}^{1}(u)G_{1}^{2}(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,6}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-2i)\phi_{+}(u+2i)Q_{2}(u-4i)}{X_{1}^{2}(u-i)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{+}(u+3i)Q_{3}(u+5i)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{2}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{+}(u+3i)Q_{1}(u-5i)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{2}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{+}(u+3i)Q_{1}(u-5i)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_{-}(u-3i)\phi_{1}(u)G_{1}^{3}(u)}{\phi_{+}(u+5i)G_{1}^{3}(u)} \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,1}^{3}(u) &= \frac{\phi_$$

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{b}_{1,2}^3(u) &= \frac{\phi_-(u-3i)\phi_+(u+3i)Q_2(u+3i)Q_3(u-i)}{Q_3(u+3i)X_1^2(u)}\\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,3}^3(u) &= \frac{\phi_-(u-3i)\phi_+(u+3i)Q_2(u-3i)G_1^1(u+i)}{Q_3(u+3i)T_1^2(u)}\\ \mathfrak{b}_{1,4}^3(u) &= \frac{\phi_-(u-3i)\phi_+(u+3i)Q_1(u-5i)}{\phi_-(u-5i)\hat{G}_1^2(u)} \end{split}$$

Appendix D

Details of the NLIE derivation for SU(3)

D.1 Driving term for the *y* and *Y*-functions

Looking at the form of $\mathcal{D}[q]$ the components of this vector occur in four regular patterns. Three of those are given by the driving terms of the auxiliary functions related to the *y*-functions which make up the first 2(s-1) components

$$\begin{pmatrix} (D[q])_1\\ (D[q])_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_1^1}[q]\\ D_{y_1^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{K}_d[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{Y_1^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_2^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad j = 1$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} (D[q])_{2j-1}\\ (D[q])_{2j} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_j^1}[q]\\ D_{y_j^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{K}_a[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{Y_{j-1}^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_{j-1}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad 1 < j < s - 1$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} (D[q])_{2j-1}\\ (D[q])_{2j} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_j^1}[q]\\ D_{y_j^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{K}_a[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{Y_{j-1}^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_{j-1}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad 1 < j < s - 1$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} (D[q])_{2s-3}\\ (D[q])_{2s-2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_{s-1}^1}[q]\\ D_{y_{s-1}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{K}_a[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{Y_{s-2}^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_{s-2}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad 1 < j < s - 1$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} (D[q])_{2s-3}\\ (D[q])_{2s-2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_{s-1}^1}[q]\\ D_{y_{s-1}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{K}_a[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{Y_{s-2}^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_{s-2}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad 1 < j < s - 1$$

$$- \mathcal{K}_a[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{y_{s-1}^1}[q]\\ D_{Y_{s-1}^2}[q] \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{K}_b[q] \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{B_{(s,1)}^1}[q]\\ \mathcal{D}_{B_{(s,2)}^1}[q] \end{pmatrix} \qquad j = s - 1.$$

The driving terms related to all the y-functions (the first 2(s-1)) vanish in the

following way:

$$\begin{split} (\mathcal{D}[q])_1 &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln\left[\frac{T_0^1(u)}{T_1^0(u)}\right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du + \frac{1}{e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1} \times \\ &\left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln\left[\frac{1}{T_1^0(u)}\right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du + (e^q + e^{-q}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln\left[\frac{1}{T_1^3(u)}\right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du \\ &- (e^q + e^{-q}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln\left[\frac{1}{T_2^0(u)}\right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln\left[\frac{1}{T_2^3(u)}\right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du \Big]. \end{split}$$

By multiplying the whole equation with $(e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1)$ and using the identity for shifts of the Fourier transform

$$e^{q} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_{u} \ln f(u) \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du \right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_{u} \ln f(u-i) \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du$$

yields

$$\begin{aligned} &(e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1)(\mathcal{D}[q])_1 = \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \partial_u \ln \left[-\frac{T_0^1(u)T_0^1(u+2i)T_0^1(u-2i)T_2^0(u+i)T_2^0(u-i)T_2^3(u)}{T_1^0(u)T_1^0(u+2i)T_1^0(u-2i)T_1^0(u)T_1^3(u+i)T_1^3(u-i)} \right] \frac{e^{-iqu}}{2\pi} du \end{aligned}$$

These equations can be simplified using the bilinear fusion relation and the identity (as a result of the boundary conditions (4.31))

$$\frac{T_0^1(u)T_0^1(u+2i)T_0^1(u-2i)}{T_0^0(u+i)T_0^0(u-i)T_0^3(u)} = 1$$
(D1)

Thus

$$(e^{2q} + e^{-2q} + 1)(\mathcal{D}[q])_1 = 0.$$
 (D2)

D.2 Derivation of the limiting behavior of $y_j^{a \pm}(-\infty)$

From here on we will suppress unused labels of $y_j^{a\pm}(-\infty)$ for brevity.

$$(y_0^a) = 0$$
 $(y_s^a) = 0$ (D3a)

$$(y_j^1)^3 = \frac{(1+y_{j-1}^1)^2(1+y_{j-1}^2)(1+y_{j+1}^1)^2(1+y_{j+1}^2)}{(1+y_j^1)(1+y_j^2)^2}$$
(D3b)

$$(y_j^2)^3 = \frac{(1+y_{j-1}^1)(1+y_{j-1}^2)^2(1+y_{j+1}^1)(1+y_{j+1}^2)^2}{(1+y_j^1)^2(1+y_j^2)} \qquad 0 < j < s$$
(D3c)

Solving the first few terms numerically it is observed that $y_j^{1\pm}(-\infty) = y_j^{2\pm}(-\infty)$. Also the coupled equations can be recombined into polynomial equations, these have a finite set of solutions, the numerical evaluation of these equations show that there is only one positive solution to these equations, this means there is only one solution to this set. Substituting this into the previous equations greatly reduces the complexity.

$$(y_0^a) = 0$$
 $(y_s^a) = 0$ (D4a)

$$(y_j^a) = \frac{(1+y_{j-1}^a)(1+y_{j+1}^a)}{(1+y_j^a)} \qquad \qquad 0 < j < s \tag{D4b}$$

Again these equations can be numerically solved and we see for j = 1 and arbitrary s some special values arise.

These solutions are similar to those in the SU(2) case at certain values of s. Using the SU(2) case as a starting point we made a initial guess for s = 2

$$y_1 = \frac{\sin\frac{2\pi}{5}\sin\frac{4\pi}{5}}{\left(\sin\frac{2\pi}{5}\right)^2}, \qquad s = 2,$$
 (D6)

and iterated this solution to find

$$y_1 = \frac{\sin\frac{2\pi}{s+3}\sin\frac{4\pi}{s+3}}{\left(\sin\frac{2\pi}{s+3}\right)^2}.$$
 (D7)

Now solving for the other y_j using the previous solution as an initial condition the following solution is found

$$y_{j+1}^{a}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) = \begin{cases} y_{j}^{a}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) + \left[1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\frac{j+1}{2}} 2\cos\left(2\pi\frac{2n}{s+3}\right)\right] & j \text{ odd} \\ y_{j}^{a}{}^{\pm}(-\infty) + \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\frac{j}{2}} 2\cos\left(2\pi\frac{2n-1}{s+3}\right)\right] & j \text{ even} \end{cases}$$
(D8)

$$y_0^{a\pm}(-\infty) = 0.$$
 (D9)

This set of equations can be rewritten using geometric series in $exp\left(\frac{2\pi}{s+3}\right)$ which result in the solution given in section 5.5.
Bibliography

- Milton Abramowitz and Irene Stegun. Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Vol. 10. National Bureau of Standards, 1964. ISBN: 0-486-61272-4.
- [2] Ian Affleck. 'Universal term in the free energy at a critical point and the conformal anomaly'. In: *Physical Review Letters*. 56th ser. 746 (17th Feb. 1986). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.746.
- [3] Alexander Alexandrov et al. 'Classical tau-function for quantum spin chains'. In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2013.9 (2013), p. 64. ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2013)064. arXiv: 1112.3310.
- [4] Neil W. Ashcroft and N. David Mermin. Solid State Physics. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1976. ISBN: 0-03-049346-3.
- [5] Olivier Babelon, Denis Bernard and Michel Talon. Introduction to Classical Integrable Systems. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 2003. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511535024.
- [6] H. M. Babujan. 'Exact Solution of the Isotropic Heisenberg Chain with Arbitrary Spins'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 215.3 (1983), pp. 317–446. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(83)90668-5.
- H.M. Babujian and A.M. Tsvelick. 'Heisenberg magnet with an arbitrary spin and anisotropic chiral field'. In: *Nuclear Physics B* 265.1 (1986), pp. 24–44. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90405-0.
- [8] R. J. Baxter. Exactly Solved Models in Statistical Mechanics. Academic Press, London, 1982. ISBN: 0-486-46271-4.
- [9] Rodney J. Baxter. 'Partition Function of the Eight-Vertex Lattice Model'. In: *Annals of Physics (N.Y.)* 70.1-2 (1972), pp. 193–228. DOI: 10.1006/aphy. 2000.6010.
- [10] V. V. Bazhanov and N. Reshetikhin. 'Restricted solid-on-solid models connected with simply laced algebras and conformal field theory'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 23.9 (1990), pp. 1477–1492. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/23/9/012.
- [11] H. Bethe. 'Zur Theorie der Metalle'. In: Zeitschrift für Physik 71 (1931), pp. 205–226. DOI: 10.1007/BF01341708.

- Immanuel Bloch, Jean Dalibard and Wilhelm Zwerger. 'Many-body physics with ultracold gases'. In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 80 (3 2008), pp. 885–964. DOI: 10. 1103/RevModPhys.80.885.
- [13] Cardy J. L. Blöte H. and M. P Nightingale. 'Conformal invariance, the cientral charge, and universal finit-size amlitudes at criticality'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 56 (7 1986), pp. 742–745. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.742.
- Olalla A. Castro-Alvaredo, Benjamin Doyon and Takato Yoshimura. 'Emergent Hydrodynamics in Integrable Quantum Systems Out of Equilibrium'. In: *Phys. Rev. X* 6 (4 2016), p. 041065. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevX.6.041065. arXiv: 1605.07331.
- [15] Jean-Sébastien Caux and Fabian H.L. Essler. 'Time evolution of local observables after quenching to an integrable model'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 110.25 (2013), p. 257203. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.257203. arXiv: 1301.3806.
- [16] Jean-Sébastien Caux and Jorn Mossel. 'Remarks on the notion of quantum integrability'. In: Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2011.02 (2011), P02023. DOI: 10.1088/1742-5468/2011/02/p02023. arXiv: 1012.3587.
- [17] Marc Cheneau et al. 'Light-cone-like spreading of correlations in a quantum many-body system'. In: *Nature* 481.7382 (2012), pp. 484–487. DOI: 10.1038/ nature10748.
- I. V. Cherednik. 'An analogue of the character formula for Hekke algebras'. In: *Functional Analysis and Its Applications* 21.2 (1987), pp. 172–174. DOI: 10.1007/BF01078042.
- [19] Dimtry Chernyak, Sébastien Laurent and Dmytro Volin. 'Completeness of Wronskian Bethe equations for rational gl(m|n) spin chains'. In: (2020). arXiv: 2004.02865.
- [20] Jens Damerau and Andreas Klümper. 'Nonlinear integral equations for the thermodynamics of the sl(4)-symmetric Uimin-Sutherland model'. In: J. Stat. Mech. 06.12 (2006), P12014. DOI: 10.1088/1742-5468/2006/12/P12014. arXiv: cond-mat/0610559v3.
- H.J. De Vega. 'Yang-Baxter algebras, integrable theories and quantum groups'. In: International Journal of Modern Physics A 04.10 (1989), pp. 2371-2463. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X89000959. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217751X89000959.
- [22] C. Destri and H.J. De Vega. 'Light-cone lattice approach to fermionic theories in 2D: The massive Thirring model'. In: *Nuclear Physics B* 290 (1987), pp. 363
 -391. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(87)90193-3.
- [23] C Destri and H J de Vega. 'Light-cone lattices and the exact solution of chiral fermion and sigma models'. In: *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General* 22.9 (1989), pp. 1329–1353. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/22/9/022.

- [24] C. Destri and H. J. de Vega. 'New thermodynamic Bethe ansatz equations without strings'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 69 (16 1992), pp. 2313-2317. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.69.2313.
- [25] V. G. Drinfel'd. 'Hopf algebras and the quantum Yang-Baxter equation'. In: Yang-Baxter Equation in Integrable Systems. 1985, pp. 264–268. DOI: 10.1142/ 9789812798336_0013.
- [26] V. G. Drinfel'd. 'Quantum groups'. In: Journal of Soviet Mathematics 41.2 (1988), pp. 898–915. DOI: 10.1007/BF01247086.
- [27] Maxime Dugave et al. 'Asymptotics of correlation functions of the Heisenberg-Ising chain in the easy-axis regime'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 49.7 (2016), 07LT01. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/49/7/07lt01. arXiv: 1507.05279.
- [28] J. Eisert, M. Friesdorf and C. Gogolin. 'Quantum many-body systems out of equilibrium'. In: *Nature Physics* 11.2 (2015), pp. 124–130. DOI: 10.1038/ nphys3215. arXiv: 1408.5148.
- [29] F.H.L. Essler et al. The One-Dimensional Hubbard Model. Cambridge University Press, 2005. ISBN: 9781139441582.
- [30] L. D. Faddeev. 'How Algebraic Bethe Ansatz works for integrable model'. In: In: Symétries quantiques (Les Houches). 1996, pp. 149–219. arXiv: hep-th/9605187v1.
- [31] Ludwig D. Faddeev and Leon A. Takhtajan. Hamiltonian Methods in the Theory of Solitons. Vol. 26. Springer Series in Soviet Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-69969-9.
- [32] Akira Fujii and Andreas Klümper. 'Anti-symmetrically fused model and nonlinear integral equations in the three-state Uimin-Sutherland model'. In: Nucl. Phys. B 546.3 (1999), pp. 751–764. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00081-4. arXiv: cond-mat/9811234v1.
- [33] Clifford S. Gardner et al. 'Method for Solving the Korteweg-deVries Equation'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 19 (19 1967), pp. 1095–1097. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 19.1095.
- [34] M. Gaudin. The Bethe Wavefunction. Cambridge University Press, 2014. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107053885.
- [35] Frank Göhman. 'Algebraic Bethe ansatz for the gl(1|2) generalized model and Lieb-Wu equations'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 620.3 (2002), pp. 501–518. DOI: 10. 1016/S0550-3213(01)00497-7. arXiv: cond-mat/0108486.
- [36] Frank Göhman, Andreas Klümper and Alexander Seel. 'Integral representations for correlation functions of the XXZ chain at finite temperature'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37.31 (2004), pp. 7625–7652. DOI: 10.1088/0305– 4470/37/31/001. arXiv: hep-th/0405089.
- [37] Frank Göhman et al. 'Thermodynamics of the spin-1/2 Heisenberg-Ising chain at high temperatures: a rigorous approach'. In: (2018). arXiv: 1811.12020.

- [38] F. Göhmann, A. Seel and J. Suzuki. 'Correlation Functions of the Integrable Isotropic Spin-1 Chain at Finite Temperature'. In: J. Stat. Mech. 1742-5468.P11011 (Nov. 2010). DOI: 10.1088/1742-5468/2010/11/P11011. arXiv: 1008.4440v3.
- [39] Frank Göhmann and Junji Suzuki. 'Quantum spin chains at finite temperatures'. In: New Trends in Quantum Integrable Systems. World Scientific Publishing Co., 2010, pp. 81–100. DOI: 10.1142/9789814324373_0005. arXiv: 1002.3194.
- [40] Nikolay Gormov, Vladimir Kazakov and Pedro Vieira. 'Finite Volume Spectrum of 2D Field Theories from Hirota Dynamics'. In: *JHEP* 0912 (2009), p. 060. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2009/12/060. arXiv: 0812.5091.
- [41] M. Gring et al. 'Relaxation and Prethermalization in an Isolated Quantum System'. In: *Science* 337.6100 (Sept. 2012), pp. 1318–1322. DOI: 10.1126/ science.1224953.
- [42] Nikolay Gromov et al. 'Solving the AdS/CFT Y-system'. In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2012.7 (2012), p. 23. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2012)023. arXiv: 1110.0562.
- [43] Xi-Wen Guan, Zhong-Qi Ma and Brendan Wilson. 'One-dimensional multicomponent fermions with δ-function interaction in strong- and weak-coupling limits: κ-component Fermi gas'. In: *Phys. Rev. A* 85 (3 2012), p. 033633. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.85.033633. arXiv: 1201.4629.
- [44] W. Heisenberg. 'Zur Theorie des Ferromagnetismus'. In: Zeitschrift für Physik 49.619-636 (1928). DOI: 10.1007/BF01328601.
- [45] J. Hietarinta. 'Introduction to the Hirota bilinear method'. In: Integrability of Nonlinear Systems. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1997, pp. 95–103. ISBN: 978-3-540-69521-9. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0113694. arXiv: solvint/9708006.
- [46] J. Hietarinta, N. Joshi and F. W. Nijhoff. Discrete Systems and Integrability. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2016. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107337411.
- [47] Sebastian Hild et al. 'Far-from-Equilibrium Spin Transport in Heisenberg Quantum Magnets'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 113 (14 2014), p. 147205. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.113.147205.
- [48] A. Himeda, T. Kato and M. Ogata. 'Stripe States with Spatially Oscillating d-Wave Superconductivity in the Two-Dimensional t-t'-J Model'. In: Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (11 2002), p. 117001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.88.117001.
- [49] R. Hirota. 'Direct Methods in Soliton Theory'. In: Solitons. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1980, pp. 157–176. ISBN: 978-3-642-81448-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-81448-8_5.
- [50] Ryogo Hirota. 'Discret Analogue of a Generalized Toda Equation'. In: Journal of the Physical Society of Japan 50.11 (1981), pp. 3785–3791. DOI: 10.1143/ JPSJ.50.3785.

- [51] Ryogo Hirota. 'Discrete Two-Dimensional Toda Molecule Equation'. In: Journal of the Physical Society of Japan 56.12 (1987), pp. 4285–4288. DOI: 10.1143/JPSJ.56.4285. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1143/JPSJ.56.4285.
- [52] Ryogo Hirota. The Direct Method in Soliton Theory. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2004. DOI: 10.1017 / CB09780511543043.
- [53] S. Hofferberth et al. 'Non-equilibrium coherence dynamics in one-dimensional Bose gases'. In: *Nature* 449.7160 (2007), pp. 324–327. DOI: 10.1038 / nature06149.
- [54] J. Hubbard. 'Electron Correlations in Narrow Energy Bands'. In: JSTOR 276.1365 (1963), pp. 238–257.
- [55] Enej Ilievski and Tomaž Prosen. 'Thermodyamic Bounds on Drude Weights in Terms of Almost-conserved Quantities'. In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 318.3 (2013), pp. 809–830. ISSN: 1432-0916. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-012-1599-4. arXiv: 1111.3830.
- [56] Enej Ilievski et al. 'Quasilocal charges in integrable lattice systems'. In: Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2016.6 (2016), p. 064008. DOI: 10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/064008. arXiv: 1603.00440.
- [57] A. G. Izergin and V. E. Korepin. 'The quantum inverse scattering method approach to correlation functions'. In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 94.1 (1984), pp. 67–92. DOI: 10.1007/BF01212350.
- [58] Introduction to the Bethe Ansatz Solvable Models. University of Florence, Dipartimento di Fisica, Dottorato di Ricerca in Fisica. Lectures given in 1998-1999 by Anatoli G. Izergin, 2000.
- [59] Yuzhu Jiang, Peng He and Xi-Wen Guan. 'Universal low-energy physics in 1D strongly repulsive multi-component Fermi gases'. In: *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical* 49.17 (2016), p. 174005. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/49/17/174005. arXiv: 1602.02507.
- [60] M Jimbo and T Miwa. 'Solitons and Infinite Dimensional Lie Algebras'. In: Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci 19.3 (1983), pp. 943–1001. DOI: 10.2977/prims/ 1195182017.
- [61] Michio Jimbo. 'Aq-difference analogue of U(g) and the Yang-Baxter equation'. In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 10.1 (1985), pp. 63–69. DOI: 10.1007/ BF00704588.
- [62] G. Jüttner, A. Klümper and J Suzuki. 'Exact termodynamics and Luttinger liquid properties of the integrable t – J model'. In: Nucl. Phys. B 3.487 (1997), pp. 650–674. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(96)00627-X.
- [63] G. Jüttner, A. Klümper and J. Suzuki. 'From fuision hierarchy to excited state TBA'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 521.3 (1998), pp. 581–600. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00772-4. arXiv: hep-th/9707074v1.

- [64] Vladimir Kazakov, Sebastien Laurent and Zengo Tsuboi. 'Baxter's Q-operators and operational Bäcklund flow for quantum (super)-spin chains'. In: *Commun. Math. Phys.* 311.3 (2012), pp. 787–814. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-012-1428-9. arXiv: 1010.4022.
- [65] Vladimir Kazakov, Alexander Sorin and Anton Zabrodin. 'Supersymmetric Bethe Ansatz and Baxter Equations from Discrete Hirota Dynamics'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 790.3 (2008), pp. 345–413. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2007.06.025. arXiv: hep-th/0703147.
- [66] Vladimir Kazakov and Pedro Vieira. 'From characters to quantum (super)spin chains via fusion'. In: *JEHP* 2008.10 (2008), p. 050. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/10/050. arXiv: 0711.2470.
- [67] B. Keimer et al. 'From quantum matter to high-temperature superconductivity in copper oxides'. In: *Nature* 518.7538 (2015), pp. 179–186. DOI: 10.1038/ nature14165.
- [68] Toshiya Kinoshita, Trevor Wegner and David S. Weiss. 'Observation of a One-Dimensional Tonks-Girardeau Gas'. In: Science 305.5687 (2004), pp. 1125– 1128. DOI: 10.1126/science.1100700.
- [69] Toshiya Kinoshita, Trevor Wenger and David S. Weiss. 'A quantum Newton's cradle'. In: *Nature* 440.7086 (2006), pp. 900–903. DOI: 10.1038/nature04693.
- [70] A. N. Kirillov and N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'Exact solution of the integrable XXZ Heisenberg model with arbitrary spin. I. The ground state and the excitation spectrum'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 20.6 (1987), pp. 1565–1585. DOI: 10. 1088/0305-4470/20/6/038.
- [71] A. N. Kirillov and N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'The Yangians, Bethe Ansatz and combinatorics'. In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 12.3 (Oct. 1986), pp. 199–208. DOI: 10.1007/BF00416510.
- [72] A.N. Kirillov. 'Dilogarithm Identities and Spectra in Conformal Field Theory'. In: (1992). arXiv: hep-th/9211137.
- [73] Anatol N. Kirillov. 'Dilogarithm Identities'. In: Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement 118 (Jan. 1995), pp. 61–142. ISSN: 0375-9687. DOI: 10.1143/PTPS. 118.61.
- [74] A.N. Kirilov. 'Identities for the Rogers dilogarithm functions connected with simple Lie algebras'. In: *Journal of Soviet Mathematics* 47.2 (1989), pp. 2450– 2459. DOI: 10.1007/BF01840426.
- [75] A. Klümper. 'Free energy and correlation lengths of quantum chains related to restricted solid-on-solid lattice models'. In: Ann. Physik 504.7 (1992), pp. 540– 553. DOI: 10.1002/andp.19925040707.
- [76] A. Klümper. 'Free energy and correlation lengths of quantum chains related to restricted sollid-on-solid lattice models'. In: Ann. Phys. (Leipzig). 1st ser. (4th Sept. 1992), pp. 540–553.
- [77] A. Klümper and R.Z. Bariev. 'Exact thermodynamics of the Hubbard chain: free energy and correlation lengths'. In: *Nuclear Physics B* 458.3 (1996), pp. 623 –639. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(95)00560-9.

- [78] A. Klümper and T. Batchelor. 'An analytic treatment of finite-size corrections in the spin-1 antiferromagnetic XXZ chain'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 23.5 (1990), pp. L189–L195. DOI: 10.1088/0305– 4470/23/5/002.
- [79] A. Klümper and P. A. Pearce. 'Conformal weights of the RSOS lattice models and their fusion hierarchies'. In: *Physica A* 183.3 (1992), pp. 304–350. DOI: 10.1016/0378-4371(92)90149-K.
- [80] A. Klümper, T. Wehner and J. Zittartz. 'Thermodynamics of the quatnum Perk-Schultz model'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 30.6 (1997), pp. 1897–1912. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/30/6/016.
- [81] Andreas Klümper. 'Integrability of quantum chains: Theory and applications to the spin-1/2 XXZ chain'. In: Lect. Notes Phys. 645 (2004), pp. 349–379. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0119598. arXiv: cond-mat/0502431v1.
- [82] Andreas Klümper. 'Thermodynamics of the anisotropic spin-1/2 Heisenberg Chain and related quantum chains'. In: Zeitschrift für Physik B 91.4 (1993), pp. 507–519. DOI: 10.1007/BF01316831. arXiv: cond-mat/9306019.
- [83] Andreas Klümper, Paul A. Pearce and Murray T. Batchelor. 'Central charges of the 6- and 19-vertex models with twisted boundary conditions'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 24.13 (1991), pp. 3113–3133. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/24/ 13/025.
- [84] V.E. Korepin, N.M. Bogoliubov and A.G. Izergin. Quantum Inverse Scattering Method and Correlation Functions. 1st. Cambridge University Press, 1993. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511628832.
- [85] I. Krichever et al. 'Quantum Integrable Models and Discrete Classical Hirota Equations'. In: Commun. Math. Phys. 188.2 (1997), pp. 267–304. DOI: 10. 1007/s002200050165. arXiv: hep-th/9604080v1.
- [86] P. P. Kulish and N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'Diagonalisation of GL(N) invariant transfer matrices and quantum N-wave system (Lee model'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 16.16 (1983), pp. L591–L596. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/16/16/ 001.
- [87] P. P. Kulish and N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'GL₃-Invariant solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation and associated quantum systems'. In: J. Math. Sci. 34.5 (1986), pp. 1948–1971. DOI: 10.1007/BF01095104.
- [88] P. P. Kulish, N. Yu. Reshetikhin and E. K. Sklyanin. 'Yang-Baxter Equation and Representation Theory: 1'. In: *Lett. Math. Phys.* 5 (1981), pp. 393–403. DOI: 10.1007/BF02285311.
- [89] P. P. Kulish and E. K. Sklyanin. 'Quantum spectral transform method recent developments'. In: *Integrable Quantum Field Theories*. Vol. 151. Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1982, pp. 61–119. DOI: 10.1007/3– 540-11190-5_8.
- P. P. Kulish and E. K. Sklyanin. 'Solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation'. In: Journal of Soviet Mathematics 19.5 (1980), pp. 1596–1620. ISSN: 1573-8795. DOI: 10.1007/BF01091463.

- [91] A Kuniba, Y Ohta and J Suzuki. 'Quantum Jacobi-Trudi and Giambelli formulae for U_q (B⁽¹⁾_r) from the analytic Bethe ansatz'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 28.21 (1995), pp. 6211–6226. DOI: 10.1088/0305– 4470/28/21/024. arXiv: hep-th/9506167.
- [92] Atsuo Kuniba and Tomoki Nakanishi. 'Spectra in Conformal Field Theories from the Rogers Dilogarithm'. In: *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 7.37 (1992), pp. 3487– 3494. DOI: 10.1142/S0217732392002895. arXiv: hep-th/9206034.
- [93] Atsuo Kuniba, Tomoki Nakanishi and Junji Suzuki. 'Funcitonal Relations in Solvable Lattice Models 1: Functional Felations and Representation Theory'. In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 9.30 (1994), pp. 5215–5266. DOI: 10.1142/ S0217751X94002119. arXiv: hep-th/9309137.
- [94] Atsuo Kuniba, Tomoki Nakanishi and Junji Suzuki. 'T-Systems and Y-systems in integrable systems'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Th. 44.10 (2011), p. 103001. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/44/10/103001. arXiv: 1010.1344v5.
- [95] Atsuo Kuniba, Kazumitsu Sakai and Junji Suzuki. 'Continued fraction TBA and functional relations in XXZ model at root of unity'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 525.3 (1998), pp. 597–626. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00300-9. arXiv: math/9803056v2.
- [96] Atsuo Kuniba and Junji Suzuki. 'Analytic Bethe Ansatz for Fundamental Representations and Yangians'. In: Commun. Math. Phys. 173 (1995), pp. 225–264.
 DOI: 10.1007/BF02101234. arXiv: hep-th/9406180.
- [97] T. Langen et al. 'Experimental observation of a generalized Gibbs ensemble'. In: Science 348.6231 (Apr. 2015), pp. 207–211. DOI: 10.1126/science. 1257026.
- [98] Peter D. Lax. 'Almost Periodic Solutions of the KdV Equation'. In: SIAM Review 18.3 (1976), pp. 351–375. ISSN: 00361445.
- [99] J. P. F. LeBlanc et al. 'Solutions of the Two-Dimensional Hubbard Model: Benchmarks and Results from a Wide Range of Numerical Algorithms'. In: *Phys. Rev. X* 5 (4 2015), p. 041041. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevX.5.041041.
- [100] Elliott H. Lieb and Werner Liniger. 'Exact Analysis of an Interacting Bose Gas. I. The General Solution and the Ground State'. In: *Phys. Rev.* 130 (4 1963), pp. 1605–1616. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.130.1605.
- [101] Elliott H. Lieb and F. Y. Wu. 'Absence of Mott Transition in an Exact Solution of the Short-Range, One-Band Model in One Dimension'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 20 (25 1968), pp. 1445–1448. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.20.1445.
- [102] O. Lipan, P. B. Wiegmann and A. Zabrodin. 'Fusion Rules for Quantum Transfer Matrices as a Dynamical System on Grassmann Manifolds'. In: *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 12.19 (1997), pp. 1369–1378. DOI: 10.1142/S0217732397001394. arXiv: solv-int/9704015v1.
- [103] 'Low-temperature thermodynamics of A(2(2) and su(3)-invariant integrable spin chains'. In: *Nuclear Physics B* 406.3 (1993), pp. 681–707. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(93)90006-B.

- [104] C Marboe and D Volin. 'Fast analytic solver of rational Bethe equations'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 50.20 (2017), p. 204002.
 DOI: 10.1088/1751-8121/aa6b88. arXiv: 1608.06504.
- [105] G. Mussardo. Statistical field theory: An introduction to exactly solved models in statistical physics. Oxford: Oxford University Press., 2010. ISBN: 9780199547586.
- Jacopo De Nardis, Denis Bernard and Benjamin Doyon. 'Diffusion in generalized hydrodynamics and quasiparticle scattering'. In: SciPost Phys. 6 (4 2019), p. 49. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.6.4.049. arXiv: 1812.00767.
- [107] Ido Niesen and Philippe Corboz. 'Ground-state study of the spin-1 bilinearbiquadratic Heisenberg model on the triangular lattice using tensor networks'. In: *Phys. Rev. B* 97 (24 2018), p. 245146. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.97.245146.
- [108] Kh S Nirov and A V Razumov. 'Quantum affine algebras and universal functional relations'. In: Journal of Physics: Conference Series 670 (2016), p. 012037. DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/670/1/012037. arXiv: 1512.04308.
- [109] Khazret S. Nirov and Alexander V. Razumov. 'Quantum affine algebras and universal functional relations'. In: *Journal of Physics: Converence Series* (2015). DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/670/1/012037.
- [110] S. Novikov et al. Theory of Solitons: The Inverse Scattering Method. Monographs in Contemporary Mathematics. Springer US, 1984. ISBN: 978-0-306-10377-5.
- [111] Lars Onsager. 'Crystal Statistics. I. A Two-Dimensional Model with an Order-Disorder Transition'. In: *Phys. Rev.* 65 (3-4 1944), pp. 117–149. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRev.65.117.
- [112] Ovidiu I. Pâţu and Andreas Klümper. 'Momentum reconstruction and contact of the one-dimensional Bose-Fermi mixture'. In: *Phys. Rev. A* 99 (1 2019), p. 013628. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.99.013628. arXiv: 1811.08692.
- [113] Ovidiu I. Pâţu and Andreas Klümper. 'Thermodynamics, contact, and density profiles of the repulsive Gaudin-Yang model'. In: *Phys. Rev. A* 93 (3 2016), p. 033616. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.93.033616. arXiv: 1512.07485.
- [114] Ovidiu I. Pâţu and Andreas Klümper. 'Thermodynamics, density profiles and correlation functions of the inhomogeneous one-dimensional spinor Bose gas'. In: *Phys. Rev. A.* 92.4 (2015), p. 043631. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.92.043631. arXiv: 1508.07758.
- [115] Ovidiu I. Pâţu, Andreas Klümper and Angela Foerster. 'Universality and Quantum Criticality of the One-Dimensional Spinor Bose Gas'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 120 (24 2018), p. 243402. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.243402. 1711.047903: arxiv.
- [116] Jaques H. H. Perk and Cherie L. Schultz. 'New families of commuting transfer matrices in q-state vertex models'. In: *Phys. Lett. A* 84.8 (1981), pp. 407–410. DOI: 10.1016/0375-9601(81)90994-4.

- [117] Lorenzo Piroli, Balázs Pozsgay and Eric Vernier. 'Non-analytic behavior of the Loschmidt echo in XXZ spin chains: exact results'. In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 933.454 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2018.06.015. arXiv: 1803.04380.
- [118] G. P. Pronko and Yu. G. Stroganov. 'Bethe Equations "on the Wrong Side of Equatior'. In: J.Phys.A 32.12 (1999), pp. 2333–2340. DOI: 10.1088/0305– 4470/32/12/007. arXiv: hep-th/9808153.
- [119] G. P. Pronko and Yu. G. Stroganov. 'The Complex of Solutions of the Nested Bethe Ansatz. The A₂ Spin Chain'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 33.46 (2000), pp. 8267–8274. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/33/46/309. arXiv: hep-th/9902085.
- [120] N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'Calculation of Bethe vectors Norms for models with Su(3)-symmetry'. In: J. Math. Sci. 46.1 (1989), pp. 1694–1706. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01099200.
- [121] N. Yu. Reshetikhin. 'Calculation of the norm of Bethe vectors in models with SU(3)-symmetry'. In: J. Math. Sci. 46.1 (1989), pp. 1694–1706. DOI: 10.1007/BF01099200.
- [122] Mikio Sato. 'Soliton equations as dynamical systems on infinite dimensional Grassmann manifolds'. In: *RIMS kokyuroku* 30.439 (1981), pp. 30–46. DOI: 2433/102800.
- [123] Cherie L. Schultz. 'Solvable q-state models in lattice statistics and quantum field theory'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 46.10 (1981), pp. 629–632. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.46.629.
- N. Shinazawa and S. Saito. 'A Symmetric Generalization of Linear Bäcklund Transformation associated with the Hirota Bilinear Difference Equation'. In: *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General* 31.19 (May 1998), p. 4533.
 DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/31/19/016. arXiv: solv-int/9801002.
- [125] Evgeny Konstantinovich Sklyanin. 'The method of the inverse scattering problem and the quantum nonlinear Schrodinger equation'. In: *Doklady Akademii Nauk.* Vol. 244. 6. Russian Academy of Sciences. 1979, pp. 1337–1341.
- [126] N. A. Slavnov. 'Introduction to the nested algebraic Bethe ansatz'. In: SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes (2020), p. 19. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhysLectNotes.19.
- [127] J. Suzuki. 'Spinons in Magnetic Chains of Arbitrary Spins at Finite Temperatures'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 32.12 (1999), pp. 2341–2359. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/32/12/008. arXiv: cond-mat/9807076.
- [128] Junji Suzuki. 'Fusion $U_q(G_2^{(1)})$ vertex models and analytic Bethe ansätze'. In: *Physics Letters A* 195.3 (1994), pp. 190–197. ISSN: 0375-9601. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(94)90151-1. arXiv: hep-th/9405201.
- [129] Junji Suzuki, Yasuhiro Akatsu and Miki Wadati. 'A New Approach to Quantum Spin Chains at Finite Temperature'. In: J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 59.8 (1990), pp. 2667–2680. DOI: 10.1143/JPSJ.59.2667.

- [130] Masuo Suzuki. 'Relationship between d-Dimensional Quantal Spin Systems and (d+1)-Dimensional Ising Systems: Equivalence, Critical Exponents and Systematic Approximants of the Partition Function and Spin Correlations'. In: Progress of Theoretical Physics 56.5 (Nov. 1976), pp. 1454–1469. ISSN: 0033-068X. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.56.1454.
- [131] Masuo Suzuki. 'Transfer-Matrix method and Monte Carlo simulation in quantum spin systems'. In: *Phys. Rev. B* 31.5 (1985), pp. 2957–2958. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.31.2957.
- [132] Masuo Suzuki and Makoto Inoue. 'The ST-Transformation Approach to Analytic Solutions of Quantum Systems. I: General Formulations and Basic Limit Theorems'. In: *Progress of Theoretical Physics* 78.4 (Oct. 1987), pp. 787–799. ISSN: 0033-068X. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.78.787.
- [133] Koma T. 'Thermal Bethe-Ansatz Method for the One-Dimensional Heisenberg Model'. In: Prog. Theor. Phys 78.6 (1987), pp. 1213–1218. DOI: 10.1143/PTP. 78.1213.
- [134] M. Takahashi. 'Correlation length and free energy of the S=1/2 XYZ chain'. In: *Phys. Rev. B* 43.7 (1991), p. 5788. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.43.5788.
- [135] M. Takahashi, Masahiro Shiroishi and Andreas Klümper. 'Equivalence of TBA and QTM'. In: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 34 (2001), pp. L184–L194. DOI: 10. 1088/0305-4470/34/13/105. arXiv: cond-mat/0102027.
- [136] Minoru Takahashi. 'Low-Temperature Specific-Heat of One-Dimensional Hubbard Model'. In: *Progress of Theoretical Physics* 52.1 (July 1974), pp. 103–114. ISSN: 0033-068X. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.52.103.
- [137] Minoru Takahashi. 'One-Dimensional Hubbard Model at Finite Temperature: in: *Progress of Theoretical Physics* 47.1 (Jan. 1972), pp. 69–82. ISSN: 0033-068X. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.47.69.
- [138] Minoru Takahashi. *Thermodynamics of One-Dimensional Solvable Models*. Cambridge University Press, 1999. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511524332.
- [139] Christian Trippe, Frank Göhman and Andreas Klümper. 'Short-distance thermal correlations in the massive XXZ chain'. In: *Eur. Phys. J. B* 73 (2010), pp. 253–264. DOI: 10.1140/epjb/e2009-00417-7. arXiv: 0908.2232.
- [140] S. Trotzky et al. 'Probing the relaxation towards equilibrium in an isolated strongly correlated one-dimensional Bose gas'. In: *Nature Physics* 8.4 (2012), pp. 325–330. DOI: 10.1038/nphys2232.
- [141] Zengo Tsuboi. 'Analytic Bethe ansatz and functional equations associated with any simple root systems of the Lie superalgebra sl(r + 1|s + 1)'. In: *Physica* A 252 (1998), pp. 265–585. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-4371(97)00625-0. arXiv: 0911.5387.
- [142] Zengo Tsuboi. 'From the quantum Jacobi-Trudi and Giambelliformula to a nonlinear integral equation forthermodynamics of the higher spin Heisenbergmodel'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 37.5 (Jan. 2004), p. 1747. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/37/5/019. arXiv: cond-mat/ 0308333.

- [143] Zengo Tsuboi. 'Nonlinear integral equations and high temperature expansion for the Uq(sl^(r+1-s+1)) Perk-Schultz model'. In: *Nuclear Physics B* 737.3 (13th Mar. 2006), pp. 261-290. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.12.017. arXiv: arXiv:cond-mat/0510458.
- [144] Zengo Tsuboi. 'Nonlinear integral equations for thermodynamics of the sl(r-1) Uimin Sutherland model'. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 36.5 (2003), pp. 1493–1507. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/36/5/321. arXiv: condmat/0212280.
- [145] Zengo Tsuboi. 'Solutions of the T-system and Baxter equations for supersymmetric spin chains'. In: Nucl. Phys. B 826.3 (2010), pp. 399-455. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2009.08.009. arXiv: 0906.2039.
- [146] Zengo Tsuboi. 'T-system and thermodynamic Bethe ansatz equations for solvable lattice models associated with superalgebras (BilinearMethod in the Study of Integrable Systems and Related Topics)'. In: Kyoto University Departmental Bulletin Paper (Aug. 2002).
- [147] Zengo Tsuboi, Anton Zabrodin and Andrei Zotov. 'Supersymmetric quantum spin chains and classical integrable systems'. In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2015.5 (2015), p. 86. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2015)086. arXiv: 1412.2586.
- [148] A. Urichuk et al. 'The spin Drude weight of the XXZ chain and generalized hydrodynamics'. In: *SciPost Phys.* 6.1 (2019), p. 5. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.
 6.1.005. arXiv: 1808.09033.
- [149] Ling Wang et al. 'Tensor-product state approach to spin-¹/₂ square J₁-J₂ anti-ferromagnetic Heisenberg model: Evidence for deconfined quantum criticality'. In: *Phys. Rev. B* 94 (7 2016), p. 075143. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.94.075143.
- C. N. Yang. 'Some Exact Results for the Many-Body Problem in one Dimension with Repulsive Delta-Function Interaction'. In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 19 (23 1967), pp. 1312–1315. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.19.1312.
- [151] C. N. Yang and C. P. Yang. 'Thermodynamics of a One Dimensional System of Bosons with Repulsive Delta Function Interaction'. In: J. Math. Phys. 10.7 (1969), p. 1115. DOI: 10.1063/1.1664947.
- [152] A. Zabrodin. 'Discrete Hirota's Equation in Quantum Integrable Models'. In: *International Journal of Modern Physics B* 11.26n27 (1997), pp. 3125–3158. DOI: 10.1142/S0217979297001520. arXiv: hep-th/9610039.
- [153] A. Zabrodin. Lectures on nonlinear integrable equations and their solutions. Lecture notes. 2018. arXiv: 1812.11830.
- [154] A. V. Zabrodin. 'Bäcklund transformations for the difference Hirota equation and the supersymmetric Bethe ansatz'. In: *Theor. Math. Phys* 155.1 (1996), pp. 567–584. DOI: 10.1007/s11232-008-0047-2. arXiv: 0705.4006.
- [155] A. V. Zabrodin. 'Hirota equation and Bethe ansatz'. In: Theoretical and Mathematical Physics 116.1 (28th Jan. 1998), pp. 782–819. DOI: 10.1007/ BF02557123.

- [156] A. V. Zabrodin. 'Hirota's Difference Equations'. In: *Theor. Math. Phys* 113.2 (1997), pp. 1347–1392. DOI: 10.1007/BF02634165. arXiv: solv-int/9704001.
- [157] Anton Zabrodin. 'The Master T-Operator for Inhomogeneous XXX Spin Chain and mKP Hierarchy'. In: SIGMA 10.006 (2014). DOI: 10.3842/SIGMA.2014. 006. arXiv: 1310.6988.
- [158] Alexander B Zamolodchikov and Alexey B Zamolodchikov. 'Factorized Smatrices in two dimensions as the exact solutions of certain relativistic quantum field theory models'. In: Annals of Physics 120.2 (1979), pp. 253-291. ISSN: 0003-4916. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(79)90391-9.

Acknowledgments

This work is dedicated to everyone that enabled me to write it and has encouraged me to finish it through the prolonged writing period. First and foremost, I want to thank my doctoral supervisor Prof. Dr. Andreas Klümper for his encouragement, inspiration for several avenues of investigation and sharing of his deep knowledge of the integral equation approach. Also I thank him for his patience and warm welcome at the Wuppertal faculty of physics and mathematics where he enabled me to dedicate three years to work full-time on this project under financial support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG). Thanks also all my other collaborators and colleagues who I have met at the Wuppertal faculty and during conferences. Especially Dr. Thiago Tavares, who generously shared his knowledge on the topic of NLIE when I just arrived in Germany and his dedication to the cause of expanding this method until this day. I thank Prof. Dr. Junji Suzuki, Prof. Dr. Frank Göhmann and Dr. Ovidiu Patu, for helpful discussions.

To my direct colleagues and friends working on their doctoral thesis right now or have long since finished, you have been an unmissable source of encouragement and inspiration during my doctoral studies and I would not have been able to do it without To Dr. Artur Hutsalyuk, Saskia Faulmann, Henrik Jirgens and Dr. Andrew vou. Urichuck thank you for sharing this journey with me and good luck on your future scientific endeavors. Especially to Andrew, thank you for proofreading manuscripts that turned into parts of this thesis and staying in touch to nurture our international friendship that we are still share together with Hailey and Charlotte. To my friends and collaborators back at the University of Amsterdam (UvA) Delta Institute of Physics, Dr. Vladimir Gritsev, Dr. Oleksandr Gamayun, Dr. Yuan Miao and Rebecca Koch. Thank you for being there for me in hard times when I returned to Amsterdam without a thesis, outlook to employment or a place to write when COVID broke out. Your good spirits, generosity and company has been vital to pull me through those trying moments and keep me on a clear and productive path towards the future. Especially, I am in debt to Dr. Vladimir Gritsev who generously welcomed me back by offering me a desk and helped me secure a DITP PhD visitors grant at the UvA during these times.

To my dear friends Geert, Danne, Yuri and Daan. I am happy we were able to share this academic journey together in different countries and on different topics so we were able to share our struggles and victories together. You have been and will always be an enormous inspiration and I am looking forward to share great moments and learn together with you for many years. Especially to Geert, I think fondly back to our days in an empty Science Park, the stimulating conversations we have together, your unique and analytic view on the world and our shared passion for music, thank you. Also to Danne, thank you for having me over in Lisbon where the last pages of this thesis were penned down and we shared my first time climbing outside. Without both of your support this work would never have finished, may we share many more adventures together in the future. Thank you to Tom, Milo, Heleen for being good friends and brightening up my days.

Most importantly, thank you to my wife Charlotte for being the most warm and loving person I know. Your endless encouragement and support touch me deeply. I am very grateful for your selfless dedication and sticking together on these international adventures, jij maakt mij compleet.

I acknowledge support of the DFG Research Unit FOR 2316 "Correlations in Integrable Quantum Many Body Systems".

Finally, my thoughts go out to the family of Dr. Khazret Nirov, who has passed away shortly after I left Wupperal. You will be missed.